
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING 

 

March 07, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 

 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order - 5:00 pm 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes- Consideration to approve the February 21, 2023 work session minutes and the 
February 21, 2023 regular meeting minutes  

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to 
speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate, the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda. 

1. [2023-099 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society 
for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – March 07, 2023 

2. [2023-100 Contract] 

Consideration to renew the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and 
Architectural Services for one (1) year 

3. [2023-101 Grant] 

Consideration to approve to accept a Grant award from and to Contract with GEMA State 
Homeland Security Program (SHSP) Grant 

4. [2023-102 Grant] 

Consideration to approve to submit a Grant Application to GEMA Local Emergency 
Management Performance Grants (EMPG) Program  

5. [2023-103 Purchase] 

Consideration to ratify and affirm approval of Estimate #R51M16GW for ETR, LLC to 
remount an ambulance box to a new chassis 

6. [2023-104 Agreement] 

Consideration to ratify and affirm approval of the Fiscal Agent Designation and 
Acceptance Agreement for Family Connection  

X. Unfinished Business - Contains items held from a previous agenda. 

1. [2023-018 Agreement]  

Consideration to approve a service agreement with Planters Communications to provide 
a Layer 2 fiber Network to the Clyo Fire Station and Community Center (this item was 
postponed 01/03/2023) 

XI. New Business 

1. [2023-105 Permit] Katie Dunnigan 

Consideration to approve an Assemblage Permit for the Effingham Branch NAACP to 
hold a Juneteenth Celebration Festival on June 17, 2023 from 11:00 am to 6:00 pm at 434 
Wallace Drive. Map# 366 Parcel# 50, in the Third District 

2. [2023-106 Permit] Katie Dunnigan 

Consideration to approve an Assemblage Permit for Arlene Baker to hold a “Bible 
Reading Marathon” from Friday, April 28, 2023 at 6:00PM to Thursday, May 4, 2023 at 
12:00PM (approximately). Located at 700 North Pine Street. Map# S101 Parcel# 21 in 
the Fourth District. 

3. [2023-107 Purchase] Clint Hodges 

Consideration to approve the Purchase of turnout gear for Fire/Rescue 

4. [2023-108 Payment] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve a pay increase for firefighters 

5. [2023-109 Job Description] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve and publish a new Job Description for Probate Court 

 

 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – March 07, 2023 

6. [2023-110 Proposal] Pamela Melser 

Consideration to approve an On-Call Services Task Proposal from Spatial Engineering to 
extract utility features from scanned as-built records  

7. [2023-111 Proposal] Pamela Melser 

Consideration to approve an On-Call Services Task Proposal from Spatial Engineering to 
Migrate Esri Enterprise from SQL 2008 to SQL 2016  

8. [2023-112 Plat/Deed/Agreement] Chelsie Fernald 

Consideration to approve a Final Plat, Warranty Deed, and Infrastructure Agreement 
submitted by Justin Palmer, of Coleman Company, Inc, for Lonadine (Webb Tract) 
Phase1 located on Hwy 119, consisting of 54 lots Map# 344 Parcel# 26A, in the Third 
District 

9. [2023-113 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #1 with E&D Contracting for Contract 22-25-
006 for Road Improvements Construction at Freedom Trail 

10. [2023-114 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-006 with Pond & Company 
for the Stormwater Master Plan 

11. [2023-115  Payment] Mark Barnes  

Consideration to allow the Office of the Public Defender for the Ogeechee Judicial Circuit 
to keep funding from Effingham County for Fiscal year 2021 and 2022 

12. [2023-116 Grant Award] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve to accept a Grant Award of the Judicial Council of Georgia 
AOC's Office to support the backlog of court cases 

13. [2023-117 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-003 to rescind previous "rainy day fund" 
resolutions and designate such funds via board approved financial policies 

14. [2023-118 Policy] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Addendum No.15 to the Effingham County Financial Policies 
regarding 'rainy day funds' 

15. [2023-119 Annexation] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve a Request for Annexation as submitted by the City of 
Springfield for a property located at 1297 GA Highway 119 North Map# 388 Parcel# 3 

16. [2023-120 Appointments] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve to appoint/reappoint members to the Industrial Development 
Authority (IDA) Board  

XII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIV. Executive Session Minutes - No executive session was held, no minutes to be approved. 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – March 07, 2023 

XV. Planning Board - 6:00 pm 

1. [2023-121 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jake Patrick to rezone 
7.2 acres located don Riverside Drive from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision 
Map# 254 Parcel# 6 in the Third District 

2. [2023-122 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Jake 
Patrick to rezone 7.2 acres located don Riverside Drive from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
a 3-lot subdivision Map# 254 Parcel# 6 in the Third District 

3. [2023-123 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Justyne Albright for a 
conditional use located at 353 Forest Haven Drive to allow for a GDOT approved 
borrow source or pit, zoned AR-1. Map# 452A Parcel# 56 in the First District 

4. [2023-124 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Justyne 
Albright for a conditional use located at 353 Forest Haven Drive to allow for a GDOT 
approved borrow source or pit, zoned AR-1. Map# 452A Parcel# 56 in the First 
District 

5. [2023-125 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by The Ratchford Firm as 
Agent for Stefanos Land Holding, LLC for a conditional use located on Old River 
Road to permit a Shipping Container Facility, zoned I-1. Map# 305 Parcels# 3,4,4A,4B 
Map# 305A Parcel# 46,47 in the First District. 

6. [2023-126 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by The Ratchford 
Firm as Agent for Stefanos Land Holding, LLC for a conditional use located on Old 
River Road to permit a Shipping Container Facility, zoned I-1. Map# 305 Parcels# 
3,4,4A,4B Map# 305A Parcel# 46,47 in the First District  

7. [2023-127 Sketch Plan] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by The Ratchford Firm as 
Agent for Stefanos Land Holding, LLC for a sketch plan for a Shipping Container 
Storage Facility on Old River Road, zoned I-1. Map# 305 Parcels# 3,4,4A,4B Map# 
305A Parcel# 46,47 in the First District 

8. [2023-128 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by Bryant Ligon, BRD Land 
and Investment, GP as Agent for T and T 9G, LLC to rezone 288.36 acres located on 
Midland Road from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5, to allow for a 549-unit single family and 
multi-family residential development  Map# 396 Parcels# 62, 62A in the Second 
District 

 

 

4



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – March 07, 2023 

9. [2023-129 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Bryant Ligon, BRD 
Land and Investment, GP as Agent for T and T 9G, LLC to rezone 288.36 acres 
located on Midland Road from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5, to allow for a 549-unit single 
family and multi-family residential development Map# 396 Parcels# 62, 62A in 
the Second District 

10. [2023-130 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by David D. Smith as Agent 
for Claude M. & Elizabeth E. Kicklighter request to rezone .343 acres located at Old 
Augusta Road and Moultrie Drive from R-3 to B-3 to allow for combination with an 
adjacent parcel Map#478 Parcel# 2C01 in the Fifth District 

11. [2023-131 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by David D. Smith as 
Agent for Claude M. & Elizabeth E. Kicklighter request to rezone .343 acres located at 
Old Augusta Road and Moultrie Drive from R-3 to B-3 to allow for combination with an 
adjacent parcel Map#478 Parcel# 2C01 in the Fifth District 

XVI. Adjournment 

5



Staff Report 

 

Subject: Consideration to allow the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society for the 

Prevention of Cruelty to Animals to continue. 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent, Lorna Shelton, Shelter Director 

Department: Purchasing and Animal Shelter 

Meeting Date: 03-7-2023 

Item Description: Mutual Aid Agreement Renewal with ASPCA 

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval to renew 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County has an agreement in place with the ASPCA to facilitate the identification and 
coordination of assistance and animal rescue efforts. The parties’ objective is to maximize 
the welfare of animals and their care-takers before, during, and after a major incident, and to 
minimize the loss of life and animal suffering that might occur following such an incident. 
The agreement runs from 4 April 2017 until 4 April 2022, after which there is an automatic 
renewal for a period of 5 years. 

 In the event of an emergency this agreement will allow the county to request assistance 
from the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (ASPCA). 

 The ASPCA will provide assistance with temporary animal sheltering if an evacuation of our 
facility becomes necessary. 

 Each party shall be responsible for all of its own costs associated with providing assistance 
unless previously agreed upon arrangements have been made. 

 ASPCA personnel and equipment will be, to the greatest extent possible, self-sufficient for 
operations in areas stricken by disasters or emergencies, including animal cruelty events. 

 Each party will be responsible for providing its own insurance coverage. 

 The agreement runs from 04-04-17 until 04-04-22, with an automatic renewal for a period of 
5 years unless terminated with 15 days written notice by either party at any time.  

 The agreement has previously been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval to allow the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society for the 
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals to continue. 

2. Cancel the Mutual Aid Agreement with the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to 
Animals by giving 15 days written notice. 

  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Animal Shelter 

Funding Source: As needed in emergency situations only 

Attachments: Mutual Aid Agreement. 

6

Item IX. 1.



7

Item IX. 1.



8

Item IX. 1.



9

Item IX. 1.



10

Item IX. 1.



11

Item IX. 1.



12

Item IX. 1.



13

Item IX. 1.



14

Item IX. 1.



15

Item IX. 1.



16

Item IX. 1.



17

Item IX. 1.



18

Item IX. 1.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
5 YEARS FROM EFFECTIVE DATE OF 04-04-17 - EXPIRES 04-04-2022.CAN RENEW 04-04-22 FOR 5 YEARS - EXPIRES 04-04-2027.



19

Item IX. 1.



20

Item IX. 1.



21

Item IX. 1.



22

Item IX. 1.



23

Item IX. 1.



24

Item IX. 1.



25

Item IX. 1.



26

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 

 

Subject: Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and Architectural 

Services for one (1) year 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: County Manager 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and 

Architectural Services for one (1) year with multiple firms 

 

Summary Recommendation:  

Throughout the year, the County will advertise and select professional design consultants to 

provide services to the County.  These services vary from roadway, water and sewer, building, 

and site design, transportation, utility, and road planning documents, small scale / short timeline 

repairs and renovations, etc.  The time need to properly prepare an Request for Qualification, 

advertise for responses, reviewing Statements of Qualifications, awarding contracts and 

negotiating fees can be extensive and has the potential to delay needed project several months.  

The IDC process is needed to pre-qualify teams and individual firms and establish negotiated 

rates under a master service agreement.  Once each firm is under contract, requesting a scope 

of service and man-hour estimate would take only a day or two instead of the traditional 90+ days.    

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The County prepared a RFQ for firms to submit qualifications and hourly fees for 12 

different service areas and received 20 submittals. A selection committee consisting of the 

Purchasing Agent, County Engineer, EOM Engineering Consultant, and the County 

Manager reviewed and ranked the teams and firms in each of the 12 service areas. See 

attached summary. 

 These contracts were approved by the Board of Commissioners in April of 2021, and staff 

is requesting renewal for another year.  

 While utilizing these agreements, staff has been able to expedite multiple projects with a 

shortened bidding process saving the county both time and money.  

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1 – Approve the Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and 

Architectural Services for one (1) year 

2 – Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: Alternative 1 

Other Alternatives: N/A 

Department Review: County Engineering; County Attorney 

Funding Source: N/A (Master Service Agreements have no funding.  Each Task Order 

authorized under the MSA will have dedicated funding associated with the project.) 

Attachments:  1. IDC Listing breakdown by category 

2. Amendments for: Alliance, Atlas, CHA Consulting, Cogdell 

Mendrala, Greenline, Hussey Gay Bell, Kimley Horn, Pittman Engineering, 

POND, Roberts Civil Engineering, Thomas & Hutton 

27

Item IX. 2.



Contact list for IDC Consultants

Civil/Site Design/Surveying Construction Management

Kimley Horn Kimley Horn

Atlas Atlas

Pittman Engineering CHA Consulting

POND POND

Coleman Company Hussey Gay Bell

Thomas & Hutton

Hussey Gay Bell Landscape Architecture

WK Dickson Kimley Horn

Roberts Civil Engineering Cogdell Mendrala

CHA Consulting

Utilities Infrastructure POND

Black & Veatch Thomas & Hutton

POND Hussey Gay Bell

Coleman Company WK Dickson

Thomas & Hutton

Alliance Facility Assessment & Space Allocation

Hussey Gay Bell Kimley Horn

WK Dickson Atlas

Cogdell Mendrala

Transportation CHA Consulting

Atlas POND

Pittman Engineering Greenline Architecture

POND Hussey Gay Bell

Thomas & Hutton

Alliance Building Systems Evaluation

Hussey Gay Bell Kimley Horn

Atlas

Structural Cogdell Medrala

Kimley Horn CHA Consultaing

Cogdell Mendrala POND

POND Greenline Architecture

Thomas & Hutton Hussey Gay Bell

Hussey Gay Bell

WK Dickson Interior & Exterior Renovations

Kimley Horn

Stormwater Design & Stormwater Management Atlas

Pittman Engineering Cogdell Mendrala

POND CHA Consulting

Thomas & Hutton POND

Alliance Greenline Architecture

Hussey Gay Bell Hussey Gay Bell

WK Dickson

Building and Park Design

Geotechnical & Enviornmental Services Kimley Horn

Kimley Horn Atlas

Cogdell Mendrala Cogdell Mendrala

CHA Consulting CHA Consulting

POND POND

Coleman Company Coleman Company

Hussey Gay Bell Greeline Architecture

WK Dickson Hussey Gay Bell

WK Dickson

28

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Alliance Consulting Engineers, Inc. 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Alliance Consulting Engineers, Inc. (“VENDOR”), mailing address at PO BOX 8147, Columbia, SC 29202. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Alliance Consulting Engineers, Inc. entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for 

Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as an attachment 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Alliance Consulting Engineers, Inc.                     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

29

Item IX. 2.



Attachment A to Amendment 1

30

Item IX. 2.



Attachment A to Amendment 1

31

Item IX. 2.



Amendment No. _1_to the 
Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 

Executed April 20, 2021 
between 

Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
and 

Atlas Technical Consultants, LLC 

THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and Atlas 

Technical Consultants, LLC(“VENDOR”), mailing address at 2450 Commerce Ave. Suite 100, Duluth, GA 30096..

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Atlas Technical Consultants, LLC entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for 

Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A
to this Amendment No. 1.

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 

      Atlas Technical Consultants, LLC     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

By: __________________________________ By: __________________________________ 

      Printed Name: _________________________       Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

Title: ________________________________ Title: Chairman_________________________ 

Dated: _______________________________ Dated:_______________________________ 

32

Item IX. 2.



2450 Commerce Avenue | Suite 100
Duluth, GA  30096-8910

770.263.5945 | F 770.263.0166
oneatlas.com

February 15, 2023

Ms. Alison Bruton
Purchasing Agent, Effingham County Purchasing Department
601 N. Laurel Street
Springfield, Georgia 31329

Subject: Renewal Request for 21-007 Indefinite Delivery Contract for Professional 
Engineering & Architectural Services for Effingham County, Georgia

Dear Ms. Bruton:

Atlas Technical Consultants LLC (Atlas) is interested in continuing our participation in the 
21-007 for Indefinite Delivery Contract (IDC) for Professional Engineering and Architectural 
Service to Effingham County. 

We respectfully request Effingham County to renew the existing agreement for another 
year.  Please see the unit price man-hour breakdown of fees included in this renewal letter 
for this upcoming year of our proposed personnel listed under this agreement.  We look 
forward to the opportunity for performing engineering and architectural work in Effingham 
County with this renewal of the existing agreement.

Sincerely,

Todd I. Long, PE, PTOE
Georgia Division Manager

Attachement A to Amendment 1

33

Item IX. 2.



UNIT PRICE MAN-HOUR FEES

* Mileage will be billed at $0.655/mile as that is the prevailing federal reimbursement rate. 
An additional 5% markup will be applied to management of tasks performed by 
subconsultants.

POSITION MAN-HOUR FEE
Principal-in-Charge $260.00

Project Manager $190.00

Lead Architect $150.00

Discipline Lead Engineer $160.00

Project Engineer $140.00

Chief Scheduler $105.00

Chief Estimator $105.00

Specifications Writer $95.00

Contract Administrator $95.00

Programming $95.00

Transportation Planners $105.00

Facility Planners $95.00

Quality Control Coordinator $160.00

CAD 1 $80.00

CAD 2 $85.00

Interior Designer $105.00

Appraiser $105.00

Registered Land Surveyor $150.00

2-Person Surveying Crew $125.00

LEED Specialist $105.00

Civil Engineer $130.00

Electrical Engineer $130.00

Mechanical Engineer $130.00

Structural Engineer $135.00

Environmental Engineer $130.00

Environmental Specialist $105.00

Jr. Landscape Arch $95.00

Sr. Landscape Architect $135.00

Construction Manager $105.00

Resident Engineer $115.00

Construction Inspector $85.00

Land Acquisition Manager $105.00

Graphic Designer $80.00

Office Manager $95.00

Attachement A to Amendment 1

34

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
CHA Consulting, Inc.  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and CHA 

Consulting, Inc.  (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 7 E Congress Street, Suite 306, Savannah, GA 31401. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and CHA Consulting, Inc. entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for Indefinite 

Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      CHA Consulting, Inc.                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

35

Item IX. 2.



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
February 8, 2023 
 
Alison M. Bruton, Purchasing Agent 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia  31329 
 
Subject: 21-007 IDC Renewal 2023-2024 
 
Dear Ms. Bruton: 
 
CHA Consulting, Inc. (CHA) appreciates the opportunity to renew our agreement with the Effingham County Board 
of Commissioners for Professional Engineering and Architectural Services for the upcoming year (2023-2024).  We 
intend to renew the agreement and respectfully request that our hourly rates in the agreement be updated to the 
attached rates. 
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at (912) 335-8366. 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
 
 
Patrick N. Graham, PE 
Senior Project Manager 
 
Enclosure (1) 
 
 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

36

Item IX. 2.



Vice President 310.00$                 

Principal Architect/Engineer 294.00$                 

Principal Sports Designer 294.00$                 

Principal Landscape Architect 231.00$                 

Project Manager 231.00$                 

Senior Architect 200.00$                 

Senior Engineer 195.00$                 

Senior Landscape Architect 195.00$                 

Project Engineer 137.00$                 

Architect 126.00$                 

Landscape Architect 116.00$                 

Principal Engineer Designer/CADD Operator 147.00$                 

Senior Engineer Designer / Tech/ CADD Operator 84.00$                   

Project Technician 79.00$                   

Technical Assistant 69.00$                   

CHA Consulting, Inc.

January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022

HOURLY CHARGE-OUT RATE SCHEDULE

Attachment A to Amendment 1

37

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Cogdell Mendrala Architects 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Cogdell Mendrala Architects (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 517 E Congress Street, Savannah, GA 31401. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Cogdell Mendrala Architects entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for Indefinite 

Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Cogdell Mendrala Architects                     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

38

Item IX. 2.



 
Y:\C-M PROJECTS\PROJECT_FILES\2114 Effingham IDC\Contract\2023 renewal\CMA Effingham IDC 2023.docx 

 

CogdellMendralaArchitects 
517 East Congress Street Savannah, Georgia 31401-2805 

P  912.234-6318 www.cogdellmendrala.com  

 
 
 
February 15, 2023 
 

Mrs. Alison M. Bruton 
Purchasing Agent 
804 S. Laurel St, 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
Re: 21-007 IDC 
 Professional Engineering & Architectural Services 
 East Georgia State College, Statesboro, Georgia 
 
Dear Mrs. Bruton: 
 
This correspondence is to request renewal of the IDC contract with Effingham, County Board of 
Commissioners. As requested, we have attached our current hourly rates to this correspondence for 
your file. Please let us know if any further action is required.  
 
Thank you for your consideration.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Casey B. Smith, AIA, NCARB, NFPA 
Principal & COO 
 
Attachments:  

1. Design Team 2023 Hourly Rates 
  

Copies: File  

Attachment A to Amendment 1

39

Item IX. 2.



CogdellMendralaArchitects 
A Woman Owned Small Business  
www.cogdellmendrala.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HOURLY RATES FOR ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
Classification                                                        Hourly Rate 
 
 
 
Principal Architect     $195.00 

Registered Interior Designer   $190.00 

Registered Architect     $160.00 

Roofing Consultant     $140.00 

Project Manager     $135.00 

Project Designer     $110.00 

Design Technician     $ 100.00 

Architectural Intern     $  95.00 

CADD Technician     $  85.00 

Clerical      $  70.00 

 
I. Consultant hourly rates can be provided by request.   
II. The hourly rates are current as of the date of this proposal but are typically adjusted each year.  For 

all hourly basis fee arrangements, invoices will be based on the prevailing rates at the time work is 
performed. 

III. A 5% markup will be included for expenses incurred for printing and shipping. 
IV. Mileage will be billed as incurred at State of Georgia Mileage Reimbursement Rate. 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

40

Item IX. 2.



SCHEDULE OF HOURLY RATES

Professional Civil Engineer 200.00

Civil Engineer 150.00

Civil Designer 125.00

Civil Technician 110.00

Registered Land Surveyor 150.00

2 Man Survey Crew 175.00

3 Man Survey Crew 200.00

Permitting Specialist 130.00

SCHEDULE OF REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES 

REPRODUCTION COSTS:

Plan Sheets $5.00 per sheet
Specifications $0.25 per sheet
Other Actual cost + 10%

OVERNIGHT PACKAGES: Cost + 10%

TRAVEL:

Auto Mileage $0.58 per mile

AIRFARE:

Actual Cost Economy Class – Domestic
Business Class – Foreign

REIMBURSIBLE EXPENSES Cost + 10%

ROOM AND BOARD: At Actual Cost

Effective Date: 8/23/2022

Attachment A to Amendment 1

41

Item IX. 2.



Attachment A to Amendment 1

42

Item IX. 2.



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

PALACIO COLLABORATIVE | 1    
 
 

Palacio Collaborative 
400 Galleria Pkwy SE, Suite 1500 Atlanta, GA 30339 

404.609.9006 • palaciocollaborative.com 

2023 HOURLY RATES 
 
 
 
Senior Cost Manager II - $175/Hour 
 

Senior Cost Manager I - $155/Hour 
 
Cost Manager - $135/Hour 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

43

Item IX. 2.



WHITAKER LABORATORY, INC. 
Schedule of Testing Fees and Services (as of 1/1/2023) 

 

Geotechnical Drilling and Environmental Testing / Inspections 

Page 1   

 

 

ENGINEERING SERVICES AND PROFESSIONAL STAFF   
(For services including field work, site visits, engineering analysis, project management, project meetings, 
engineering reports, consultation, travel, etc.) 

 

Project Engineer, P.E. (Joseph F. Whitaker, Jason Follo, Blake Jones) Per Hour $ 175.00 

Engineer in Training (EIT) (Roy Pierce) Per Hour $       125.00 

Environmental Professional (Donald Martin, Lisa Collins) Per Hour $       150.00 

Project Manager (Joseph M. Whitaker) Per Hour $       125.00 

Certified Environmental Technician (Ralph Perez) Per Hour $ 95.00 

Sr. Environmental Technician (Christian Lamont) Per Hour $       125.00 

Laboratory Manager (Louis Bragg)             Per Hour $       100.00 

Site Recon Specialist (Pre-Site Visit / Boring Layout) (John Martin)             Per Hour    $       100.00 

   

DRILLING SERVICES  (Josh Kicklighter, Bubba Mack, Ron Wilkerson)    
 

Drill Crew (2 Man) (Level D Drilling Only) 
 

Per Hour 

 

$ 300.00 

Rubber Tire Truck Rig Mobilization ($350.00 Minimum) Per Trip $       350.00 

Dozer or Test Pit Equipment Mobilization and On Site Per Hour $ 200.00 

Soft Track Vehicle Drill Rig Charge (Additional to Mobilization) Per Day $ 500.00 

Soft Track Vehicle Mobilization              Per Trip    $     2000.00 

Auger Borings (Sample off augers - No SPT) Per Foot $         14.00 

Soil Test Borings (SPT) Per Foot $ 15.00 

CPT Soundings (SCPTu) Per Foot $ 15.00 

Hand Auger Borings (5’ Max Depth) Per Foot $         15.00 

Hand Auger Borings with DCP testing at 1-foot increments Per Foot $ 20.00 

Undisturbed Sampling (12" long shelby tube) Each $       200.00 

Extra Split Spoon Samples Each $ 50.00 

Difficult Moving or Standby Time Per Hour $ 300.00 

Pushing Shelby Tubes (hourly to auger down using 4.25" I.D. Auger) Per Hour $ 300.00 

Clearing L: Light clearing performed by drill crew Per Hour $ 300.00 

Clearing H: Heavy clearing using dozer or other equipment Per Hour $ 200.00 

Test Pit Evaluation Per Hour $       200.00 

Geotechnical Evaluation Reporting (Minimum Fee) Min. Report $       650.00 

   

   

   

   

   

Attachment A to Amendment 1

44

Item IX. 2.



WHITAKER LABORATORY, INC. 
Schedule of Testing Fees and Services (as of 1/1/2023) 

 

Geotechnical Drilling and Environmental Testing / Inspections 

Page 2   

 

 

 
FIELD EQUIPMENT  

Load testing equipment (jack, ram, reference beam & changes) 
 

Per Day $ 650.00 

Pile Driving Analyzer (PDA) Per Day $ 650.00 

OVA   ($50.00 Per day Minimum) Per Day $         50.00 

Chop Saw Per Day $ 150.00 

Ground Water Pump Per Day $ 75.00 

Water Level Meter Per Day $ 75.00 

Bailers Each $ 25.00 

55 Gallon Drum Each $ 150.00 

MISCELLANEOUS   

Mileage (Drill Support Truck, Company Truck, Personal 

vehicle) Supplies 

Overtime Premium 

 
Per Mile 

Cost + 25% 

Hourly Rate X 1.5 

$ 1.00 

Overtime rates will apply for work on weekends, holidays, and work performed before 7:00 AM and/or after 
3:00 PM Monday-Friday 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES (Donald Martin, Lisa Collins)  

Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment       Per Event          $      1900.00 

Full TCLP Test 
 

Per Sample $ 995.00 

 

 

 

Lead Bulk Test (by weight-by volume) Per Sample $ 20.00 

Air-o-cell (Mold Sample) Per Sample $         60.00 

Swab (Mold Sample) Per Sample $         75.00 

Asbestos Bulk Test (TEM) Per Sample $       150.00 

Asbestos Bulk Test (PCM) 

Monitoring (Asbestos Air Monitoring) 
Per Sample $ 18.00 

PCM Cartridges (during abatement) Per Cartridge $ 50.00 

TEM Cartridges (for clearance) Per Cartridge $ 125.00 

Sample Preparation Per Event $         65.00 

Shipping Cost  Per Shipment $ Cost +15% 

  

Attachment A to Amendment 1

45

Item IX. 2.



SCHEDULE OF HOURLY RATES

Professional Civil Engineer 200.00

Civil Engineer 150.00

Civil Designer 125.00

Civil Technician 110.00

Registered Land Surveyor 150.00

2 Man Survey Crew 175.00

3 Man Survey Crew 200.00

Permitting Specialist 130.00

SCHEDULE OF REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES 

REPRODUCTION COSTS:

Plan Sheets $5.00 per sheet
Specifications $0.25 per sheet
Other Actual cost + 10%

OVERNIGHT PACKAGES: Cost + 10%

TRAVEL:

Auto Mileage $0.58 per mile

AIRFARE:

Actual Cost Economy Class – Domestic
Business Class – Foreign

REIMBURSIBLE EXPENSES Cost + 10%

ROOM AND BOARD: At Actual Cost

Effective Date: 8/23/2022

Attachment A to Amendment 1

46

Item IX. 2.



WHITAKER LABORATORY, INC. 
Schedule of Testing Fees and Services (as of 1/1/2023) 

 

Geotechnical Drilling and Environmental Testing / Inspections 

Page 1   

 

 

ENGINEERING SERVICES AND PROFESSIONAL STAFF   
(For services including field work, site visits, engineering analysis, project management, project meetings, 
engineering reports, consultation, travel, etc.) 

 

Project Engineer, P.E. (Joseph F. Whitaker, Jason Follo, Blake Jones) Per Hour $ 175.00 

Engineer in Training (EIT) (Roy Pierce) Per Hour $       125.00 

Environmental Professional (Donald Martin, Lisa Collins) Per Hour $       150.00 

Project Manager (Joseph M. Whitaker) Per Hour $       125.00 

Certified Environmental Technician (Ralph Perez) Per Hour $ 95.00 

Sr. Environmental Technician (Christian Lamont) Per Hour $       125.00 

Laboratory Manager (Louis Bragg)             Per Hour $       100.00 

Site Recon Specialist (Pre-Site Visit / Boring Layout) (John Martin)             Per Hour    $       100.00 

   

DRILLING SERVICES  (Josh Kicklighter, Bubba Mack, Ron Wilkerson)    
 

Drill Crew (2 Man) (Level D Drilling Only) 
 

Per Hour 

 

$ 300.00 

Rubber Tire Truck Rig Mobilization ($350.00 Minimum) Per Trip $       350.00 

Dozer or Test Pit Equipment Mobilization and On Site Per Hour $ 200.00 

Soft Track Vehicle Drill Rig Charge (Additional to Mobilization) Per Day $ 500.00 

Soft Track Vehicle Mobilization              Per Trip    $     2000.00 

Auger Borings (Sample off augers - No SPT) Per Foot $         14.00 

Soil Test Borings (SPT) Per Foot $ 15.00 

CPT Soundings (SCPTu) Per Foot $ 15.00 

Hand Auger Borings (5’ Max Depth) Per Foot $         15.00 

Hand Auger Borings with DCP testing at 1-foot increments Per Foot $ 20.00 

Undisturbed Sampling (12" long shelby tube) Each $       200.00 

Extra Split Spoon Samples Each $ 50.00 

Difficult Moving or Standby Time Per Hour $ 300.00 

Pushing Shelby Tubes (hourly to auger down using 4.25" I.D. Auger) Per Hour $ 300.00 

Clearing L: Light clearing performed by drill crew Per Hour $ 300.00 

Clearing H: Heavy clearing using dozer or other equipment Per Hour $ 200.00 

Test Pit Evaluation Per Hour $       200.00 

Geotechnical Evaluation Reporting (Minimum Fee) Min. Report $       650.00 

   

   

   

   

   

Attachment A to Amendment 1

47

Item IX. 2.



WHITAKER LABORATORY, INC. 
Schedule of Testing Fees and Services (as of 1/1/2023) 

 

Geotechnical Drilling and Environmental Testing / Inspections 

Page 2   

 

 

 
FIELD EQUIPMENT  

Load testing equipment (jack, ram, reference beam & changes) 
 

Per Day $ 650.00 

Pile Driving Analyzer (PDA) Per Day $ 650.00 

OVA   ($50.00 Per day Minimum) Per Day $         50.00 

Chop Saw Per Day $ 150.00 

Ground Water Pump Per Day $ 75.00 

Water Level Meter Per Day $ 75.00 

Bailers Each $ 25.00 

55 Gallon Drum Each $ 150.00 

MISCELLANEOUS   

Mileage (Drill Support Truck, Company Truck, Personal 

vehicle) Supplies 

Overtime Premium 

 
Per Mile 

Cost + 25% 

Hourly Rate X 1.5 

$ 1.00 

Overtime rates will apply for work on weekends, holidays, and work performed before 7:00 AM and/or after 
3:00 PM Monday-Friday 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES (Donald Martin, Lisa Collins)  

Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment       Per Event          $      1900.00 

Full TCLP Test 
 

Per Sample $ 995.00 

 

 

 

Lead Bulk Test (by weight-by volume) Per Sample $ 20.00 

Air-o-cell (Mold Sample) Per Sample $         60.00 

Swab (Mold Sample) Per Sample $         75.00 

Asbestos Bulk Test (TEM) Per Sample $       150.00 

Asbestos Bulk Test (PCM) 

Monitoring (Asbestos Air Monitoring) 
Per Sample $ 18.00 

PCM Cartridges (during abatement) Per Cartridge $ 50.00 

TEM Cartridges (for clearance) Per Cartridge $ 125.00 

Sample Preparation Per Event $         65.00 

Shipping Cost  Per Shipment $ Cost +15% 

  

Attachment A to Amendment 1

48

Item IX. 2.



 

 

 

 

HOURLY RATES FOR EXTRA SERVICES 

 

 

Principal - $150/hr 

Engineer - $120/hr 

Designer - $90/hr 

Admin - $65/hr 

 

Principal – $160/hr

Engineer – $130/hr

Designer – $100/hr

Admin – $65/hr

Attachment A to Amendment 1

49

Item IX. 2.



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

PALACIO COLLABORATIVE | 1    
 
 

Palacio Collaborative 
400 Galleria Pkwy SE, Suite 1500 Atlanta, GA 30339 

404.609.9006 • palaciocollaborative.com 

2023 HOURLY RATES 
 
 
 
Senior Cost Manager II - $175/Hour 
 

Senior Cost Manager I - $155/Hour 
 
Cost Manager - $135/Hour 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

50

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Greenline Architecture, Inc. 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Greenline Architecture, Inc. (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 28 East 35th Street, Savannah, GA 31401. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Greenline Architecture, Inc. entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for Indefinite 

Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Greenline Architecture, Inc.                     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

51

Item IX. 2.



February 2, 2023

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  
Ms. Alison M. Bruton, Purchasing Agent
804 South Laurel Street
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
 
RE: 21-007 IDC Renewal 2023-2024 - Greenline Architecture 
 
 
Dear Ms. Bruton,

This letter is in response to your email dated February 2, 2023 regarding the renewal of the agreement 21-007 
IDC for Professional Engineering and Architectural Services. As requested, this document serves as Greenline 
Architecture’s commitment to continue with the agreement as indicated for the 2023-2024 term.  
 
We have included a breakdown of fees as an attachment to this letter. Please note the fees remain the same as 
those submitted with our original proposal submission in March 2021, but are included here for your reference 
purposes. 
 
Please do not hesitate to let me know if you need any additional information. Greenline Architecture looks 
forward to the opportunity and continuing this partnership with Effingham County. 
 
 
Sincerely,

Robert J. Poticny, AIA
Vice President and Principal
Greenline Architecture, Inc. 

Attachmment A to Amendment 1

52

Item IX. 2.



UNIT PRICES FEE
INDEFINITE DELIVERY CONTRACT FOR PROFESSIONAL 
ENGINEERING AND ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES NO. 21-007

STANDARD HOURLY RATES FOR PROPOSED SERVICES:

Principal:       $200 per hour

Senior Project Manager:     $175 per hour

Project Manager:      $125 per hour

Intern Architect:      $60-110 per hour

Interior Designer:      $75-$175 per hour

Draftsman:       $78 per hour

Clerical:       $50 per hour

Depositions:       $250 per hour

Outside consultants retained and
invoiced through Greenline:     1.2 x cost

Robert J. Poticny, AIA, Vice President Date

March 15, 2021

Attachmment A to Amendment 1

53

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Hussey, Gay, Bell & Deyoung, Inc.  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Hussey, Gay, Bell & Deyoung, Inc.  (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 329 Commercial Drive, Suite 200, Savannah, 

GA 31406. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Hussey, Gay, Bell & Deyoung, Inc.  entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for 

Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Hussey, Gay, Bell & Deyoung, Inc.                      Effingham County Board of 
Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

54

Item IX. 2.



 

 

February 7, 2023 
 
Ms. Alison Bruton 
Purchasing Agent 
Effingham County Administrative Complex 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
RE:  RFQ No. 21-007, Request for Qualifications for Indefinite Delivery Contract for Professional 
Engineering and Architectural Services Renewal 
 
Dear Ms. Burton: 
 
Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung, Inc., Consulting Engineers (herein referred to as “Hussey Gay Bell”) is 
pleased to provide you with the requested documents related to 21-007 IDC. Per your request, please let 
this letter serve as confirmation of our interest in renewing our annual contract for services.  We have 
elected to retain the previous hourly rates as attached. 
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC., CONSULTING ENGINEERS 
 
 
 
 

 
CJ Chance, PE 
Principal 
 
 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

55

Item IX. 2.



 

PAGE 3 
Professional Engineering and Architectural Services 

Unit Price Man-Hour Fees G 

  

Attachment A to Amendment 1

56

Item IX. 2.



 

PAGE 4 
Professional Engineering and Architectural Services 

Unit Price Man-Hour Fees G 

  

Attachment A to Amendment 1

57

Item IX. 2.



 

PAGE 5 
Professional Engineering and Architectural Services 

Unit Price Man-Hour Fees G 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

58

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 100 Bull Street, Suite 200, Savannah, GA 31401. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for 

Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

59

Item IX. 2.



kimley-horn.com 554 East Gordon Street, Savannah, GA 31401 912 328 4414

February 9, 2023

Ms. Alison Bruton
Purchasing Agent
Effingham County, Georgia
804 South Laurel Street
Springfield, GA 31329

RE:   21-007 Indefinite Delivery Contract (IDC) for Professional Engineering and Architectural Services
  2023 Contract Renewal

Dear Ms. Bruton and Members of the Selection Committee:

The Kimley-Horn team is excited by the prospect of strengthening our relationship with Effingham County!
Kimley-Horn offers a broad range of experience with complex and challenging projects throughout the
Southeast—including our work with numerous municipalities and County agencies for on-call engineering
services. Our primary goal is to provide exceptional service with a focus on implementation combined
with project leadership and trusted local relationships, and we would like to renew our agreement for
the subject contract.

Whatever your needs, our depth of staff enable us to: 1) provide you with a single, expert connection for
quick-turnaround, niche projects, 2) serve as an extension of your staff for extended assignments to enhance
your resources, and 3) assemble a multi-discipline team when complex, schedule-intensive projects arise.
The Kimley-Horn team offers Effingham County local resources and regional experts who are readily available
to meet your needs. The team’s experience includes transportation civil engineering projects,
water/wastewater projects, port civil engineering projects, and general architectural and engineering (A&E)
projects. We are proven leaders in the region with established relationships with review agencies, local
contractors, utility owners, and other stakeholders.

Our Savannah staff—along with a team of five local subconsultants—includes professionals specializing in
civil, roadway, utilities, and traffic engineering, transportation planning, environmental, land planning, and
landscape architecture. Our team has extensive local knowledge and experience in overcoming challenges
and developing creative solutions to exceed your expectations. Kimley-Horn has provided A&E services
across the state of Georgia and the southeastern United States. Kimley-Horn’s nationally recognized,
multidisciplinary services are delivered to you by a 100% local team offering Effingham County the known
personal service and responsiveness of a local firm coupled with the manpower and technical resources of a
nationally ranked firm. Our team’s requested rate adjustments are included in Attachment A.

Understanding your key issues, making sure the appropriate staff is assigned to your projects, establishing
realistic schedules that meet your needs, being responsive—these are some of the qualities that make for an
exceptional consultant.

For any A&E project, Effingham County needs a team with whom you can work effectively, be assured your
ideas are fully considered, and trust to advance the design — balancing desires, needs, budget constraints,
and schedule demands. The Kimley-Horn team is the best choice to deliver you’re A&E projects. Please
consider the following benefits this team offers you:

A Trusted Partner. Our understanding of jurisdictional processes and preferences will allow us to
communicate and collaborate effectively, offering you the best “stretch” in establishing a vision while keeping
a viable and implementable plan. We understand the needs of the community, the complexities faced, and
the seamless balance a vision must create.

Attachment A to Amendment 1

60

Item IX. 2.



Page 2

kimley-horn.com 554 East Gordon Street, Savannah, GA 31401 912 328 4414

Track Record of Successful Projects. Our interdisciplinary team understands and can help establish a
balance between community facilities, open spaces, recreational areas, parking, transportation facilities, and
developments. A well-crafted, functional civil project combines these elements and balances ease of access
and mobility, while maintaining a high level of safety and security.

Connection to the Community. With an office in nearby Savannah, we understand the needs of a southeast
Georgia county. However, while planning and design efforts may often follow a similar process, we do not
believe in cookie-cutter approaches. Our work in communities like yours has proven to us that no two locations
are alike. We seek to understand what stakeholders value and desire for their future.

Experience with On-call Contracts. Our team understands the unique demands of on-call contracts. In
Georgia, we have delivered through similar contracts for Chatham, Cobb, DeKalb, and Gwinnett Counties as
well as the Cities of Sandy Springs and Johns Creek. Regionally, we are serving clients on over 100 on-call
contracts across the Southeast. Many of these are with repeat clients, and repeat business is a testament to
our skill and professionalism. We can ensure that each of your on-call projects will have seamless integration
of all disciplines and designs because of our well-established, consistent internal relationships and
communication practices.

Kimley-Horn’s focus has always been to function as an extension of our clients’ staff. We are excited about
this opportunity to continue our partnership with Effingham County.

Sincerely,

Darren J. Wilton, P.E.
Project Manager

Attachment A to Amendment 1

61

Item IX. 2.



Employee Classification Hourly Rate

Kimley-Horn

Analyst/Designer $140

Professional $210

Senior Professional I $265

Senior Professional II $310

Senior Technical Support $190

Technical Support $125

Support Staff $125

Subconsultants

Allen Engineering

Project Manager $140

Professional Engineer $120

Design Engineer $95

Administrative $60

Coleman Company

Consultant $225

Survey Manager $150

Survey Project Manager III $140

Survey Project Manager II $130

Survey Project Manager I $120

3 Man Survey Crew $185

2 Man Survey Crew $125

1 Man Survey Crew $110

Survey Technician IV $110

Survey Technician III $100

Survey Technician II $90

Survey Technician I $85

LS3P

Senior Officer/Principal $250

Officer Principal $225

Project Manager $190

Senior Architect/Senior Interior Designer $175

Architectural Staff III/Interior Design Staff III/Design Staff III $150

Architectural Staff II/Interior Design Staff II/Design Staff II $135

Architectural Staff I/Interior Design Staff I/Design Staff I $120

Designer $110

Senior Technician $135

Technician $110

Administrative $75

EMPLOYEE HOURLY RATES

Attachment A to Amendment 1

62

Item IX. 2.



R+L Consultants

Senior Principal $235

Principal $195

Project Manager $165

Project Biologist $115

Field Technician $85

Clerical $60

Wood 

Lead Geotechnical Engineer $175

CEI Lead Engineer $175

Geotechnical Engineer $90

CEI Senior Inspector $100

Primary Inspector $65

Primary Inspector $50

Attachment A to Amendment 1

63

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Pittman Engineering Co., LLC  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Pittman Engineering Co., LLC (“VENDOR”), mailing address at PO BOX 822, Richmond Hill, GA 31324. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Pittman Engineering Co., LLC entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for 

Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Pittman Engineering Co., LLC                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

64

Item IX. 2.



Pittman Engineering 
Post Office Box 822  

Richmond Hill, Georgia 31324 
912-445-0578 

February 15, 2023 
 
Effingham County Purchasing Department 

Alison Bruton, Purchasing Department  
601 N. Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 
 

RE:  Letter of Commitment 

21-007 IDC Renewal 2023-2024 
Engineering Services  
for Effingham County, Georgia 

 
Dear Alison: 

 

The Pittman Engineering team comments to renew our Engineering Services Agreement (21-007 IDC) to 
Effingham County for the years 2023-2024.  Our team commits that the previous Statement of 

Qualifications package remains the same.  The updated Fee Schedule is attached for the 2023-2024 
renewal.  
 

Thanks for the opportunity to extend the Engineering Services Agreement and we look forward to 
continuing the partnership.  
 

 
 

 
 

Sincerely, 

PITTIMAN ENGINEERING CO., LLC 

 

 

 

 

Jason Bryant, P.E. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IDC – PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING & ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES                                                     

FOR EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

No. 21-007 IDC 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

65

Item IX. 2.



Joe Marchese  

Marchese Construction-2831 West US Highway 80 Concept & Civil Engineering Services 

February 13, 2023 

Page 15 

 

 

___________ OWNER’S Initials 
  

               ENGINEER’S Initials 

 
 

 
  

2023 BILLING RATES 

Pittman Engineering Co., LLC 

(January 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023) 

 

 Rate/Hour 

Principal $175  

Senior Project Engineer $160  

Engineer $95  

Technician $90  

Illustrator $75 

Intern $65  

Construction Observer $85  

Administrative $60 

 

Sub-contractor / Sub-Consultant Cost + 15% 

Reimbursable Expenses Cost + 15% 

Mileage Federal Rate 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

66

Item IX. 2.

ray
Rectangle

ray
Rectangle



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Pond & Company  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and Pond 

& Company (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203, Savannah, GA 31405. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Pond & Company entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for Indefinite Delivery 

Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Pond & Company                        Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

67

Item IX. 2.



 

All Pond marketing materials are printed on papers containing post-consumer recycled fibers and are FSC Certified. 

 

 

February 14, 2023 

Mrs. Alison M. Bruton 
Purchasing Agent  
EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
RE: 21-007 IDC for Professional Engineering and Architectural Services 

2023 Renewal and Revised Fee Breakdown 
 
Dear Mrs. Bruton, 

Thank for the opportunity to renew our agreement for the 21-007 IDC Professional Engineering and Architectural Services 
contract.   Our revised fee breakdown is provided on the following page. 
 
We look forward to continuing our relationship with Effingham County.  Please let us know if you have any questions or 
need additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
POND & COMPANY 

 
James McNabb, SE, PE     Melissa Phillips 
Executive Vice President     Associate | Business Development Director  
 
 
  

Attachment A to Amendment 1

68

Item IX. 2.



 
 
 

Page 2 

 

 
 
 

Pond & Company (Prime Consultant)
Description Hourly Rate
Principal-in-Charge 250.00$        Terracon (Sub-Consultant)
Sr. Project Manager / Sr. Contract Administrator 230.00$        Description Hourly Rate
Project Manager / Contract Administrator 210.00$        Senior Principal 258.50$        
Architect 200.00$        Project Engineer 159.50$        
Architectural Intern 110.31$        Staff and Field Engineer 126.50$        
Sr. Interior Design 152.34$        CAD Operator 88.00$          
Jr. Interior Design 115.57$        
CAD/BIM Services 115.57$        
Sr. Structural Engineer 210.00$        T. R. Long Engineering (Sub-Consultant)
Jr. Structural Engineer 135.00$        Description Hourly Rate
Sr. Civil Engineer 200.00$        Senior Engineer 165.00$        
Jr. Civil Engineer 130.00$        Project Engineer 137.50$        
Sr. Mechanical Engineer 210.00$        Registered Land Surveyor 137.50$        
Jr. Mechanical Engineer 135.00$        Survey Crew 110.00$        
Sr. Plumbing Engineer 170.00$        CADD Draftsman/GIS Operator 93.50$          
Jr. Plumbing Engineer 130.00$        Project Inspector 104.50$        
Sr. Electrical Engineer 210.00$        Survey Clerical 55.00$          
Jr. Electrical Engineer 130.00$        
Landscape Architect 162.84$        
Cost Estimator 141.83$        
Surveying Services/Registered Surveyor 120.82$        
Surveying Services/2-Person Survey Team 131.33$        
Clerical/Administrative 95.00$          
Construction Administration 152.34$        
LEED Services 162.84$        
Commissioning Agent 152.34$        
Other - Audio-Visual Engineer 173.35$        
Other - Communication Systems 157.59$        
Other - Electronic Security 157.59$        
Other - Environmental Engineer 183.86$        
Other - Jr. Fire Protection Engineer 131.33$        
Other - Jr. Landscape Designer 131.33$        
Other - Senior Fire Protection Engineer 190.00$        
Other - Sr. Landscape Designer 190.00$        

21-007 IDC Professional Engineering and Architectural Services
2023 Hourly Rate Schedule

Attachment A to Amendment 1

69

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Roberts Civil Engineering  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Roberts Civil Engineering (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 301 Sea Island Road, Suite 10, St. Simons Island, GA 

31522. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Roberts Civil Engineering entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for Indefinite 

Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Roberts Civil Engineering                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

70

Item IX. 2.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Roberts Civil Engineering Municipal Team Proposals 

for 

Effingham County 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal 

 

February 16, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

71

Item IX. 2.



P a g e  | 2 

 

 

    Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal   

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Letter of Interest ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Hourly Billable Rate Proposal ........................................................................................................................ 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

72

Item IX. 2.



P a g e  | 3 

 

 

    Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal   

 

 

 

February 17, 2023 

 

 

 

Ms. Alison Bruton 

Effingham County  

804 South Laurel Street 

Springfield, Georgia 31329 

 

Re: Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal 

 

Dear Ms. Bruton,  

The Roberts Civil Engineering Municipal Team is pleased to submit this Proposal to Effingham County for 

the 2023 annual renewal of our existing Indefinite Delivery Contract (IDC). We sincerely appreciate this 

opportunity to extend and grow our service to Effingham County.  

Through our unique teaming relationships with respected area Design firms, we are able to craft individual 

Project Teams to meet the needs of your projects, large and small.  

Our Team and I look forward to meeting with you at your convenience to discuss how we can best serve 

Effingham County.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Johnathan Roberts, P.E. 

President 

 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

73

Item IX. 2.



P a g e  | 4 

 

 

    Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal   

RCE Team Hourly Billable Rates 

 

Roberts Civil Engineering Civil Engineering (Site Design, Road Design, Utility Infrastructure 
Design, Waste/ Storm Sewer Design, Construction 
Management, etc.) 

Principal Engineer   $ 195.00     

Senior Project Manager $ 190.00 

Project Manager $ 185.00  

Senior Project Engineer                 $ 185.00 

Senior Field Engineer                      $ 150.00 

Project Coordinator                         $ 130.00 

Field Engineer $ 130.00 

Draftsman $ 130.00 

Administrative Assistant  $   75.00 

 

LS3P Architecture (Facility Assessments, Space Planning, New 
Building Design, Renovation Design, Interior Design, etc.) 

Senior Officer/ Senior Principal $ 250.00 

Officer/ Principal $ 225.00 

Senior Project Manager $ 215.00 

Project Manager $ 190.00 

Senior Architect/ Interior Designer $ 175.00 

Design Staff III $ 150.00 

Design Staff II $ 135.00 

Design Staff I $ 120.00 

Designer $ 110.00 

 

Tharpe Engineering Structural Engineering (Facility Assessments, Building Systems 
Evaluation, Structural Design, etc.) 

Principal $ 225.00 

Associate Principal $ 185.00 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

74

Item IX. 2.



P a g e  | 5 

 

 

    Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal   

Senior Project Manager $ 185.00 

Project Manager $ 165.00 

Project Engineer $ 150.00 

Design Engineer III $ 135.00 

Design Engineer II $ 125.00 

Design Engineer I $ 115.00 

Structural Designer $ 100.00 

BIM Manager $ 100.00 

Administrative Assistant $   65.00 

 

Michael Baker International Transportation Engineering (Transportation Planning, Highway 
Design, Road Design, Bridge Design, Highway Lighting Design, 
Erosion/ Sedimentation/ Pollution Control, etc.)  

Senior Project Manager $ 275.61 

Project Manager $ 230.34 

Senior Roadway Engineer $ 301.82 

Roadway Engineer $ 230.34 

Senior Bridge Engineer $ 301.60 

Bridge Engineer $ 195.78 

Senior Environmental Engineer $ 187.65 

Environmental Engineer $ 159.67 

 

Atlas Surveying Land Surveying (Land Surveying, Utility Location, Site Layout/ 
Staking, Right of Way Acquisition Platting, etc.) 

President/ Principal $ 185.00 

Survey Manager $ 150.00 

Survey Crew (Chief/ Instrument Man) $ 150.00 

CAD Technician  $ 120.00 

 SUE Technician     $ 150.00 

 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

75

Item IX. 2.



P a g e  | 6 

 

 

    Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal   

Whitaker Lab and Engineering Geotechnical and Environmental Engineering (Soil Boring/ 
Analysis, Geotechnical Reporting/ Specification, Environmental 
Assessments, Soil/ Groundwater Testing, Contamination 
Delineation, etc.) 

Principal $ 175.00 

Engineer in Training $ 125.00 

Environmental Professional  $ 150.00 

Project Manager  $ 125.00 

Senior Environmental Technician $ 125.00 

Certified Environmental Technician  $   95.00 

Laboratory Manager $ 100.00 

Site Recon Specialist  $ 100.00 

 

Marquis Latimer + Halback  Landscape Architecture (Site Master Planning, Landscape/ 
Hardscape Design, etc.) 

Senior Principal $ 295.00 

Principal $ 220.00 

Project Manager $ 180.00 

Senior Associate $ 165.00 

Associate $ 135.00 

 

T. R. Long Engineering Civil Engineering and Land Surveying (Wastewater Treatment 
Design, Waste/ Storm Sewer Design, Land Surveying, Utility 
Location, Site Layout/ Staking, Right of Way Acquisition Platting, 
etc.)  

Principal  $ 200.00 

Senior Engineer $ 150.00 

Project Engineer $ 125.00 

Registered Land Surveyor  $ 125.00 

Survey Crew (Chief/ Instrument Man) $ 100.00 

CAD Technician  $   85.00 

 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

76

Item IX. 2.



P a g e  | 7 

 

 

    Proposal for 2023 Indefinite Delivery Contract Renewal   

Sligh Environmental Consultants Environmental Consulting (Wetlands Determinations, Wetlands 
Delineation/ Staking, Wetlands Mitigation, Threatened/ 
Endangered Species Assessments, Environmental Permitting, 
etc.)   

Senior Principal $ 250.00 

Principal $ 200.00 

Senior Project Manager $ 150.00 

Project Manager $ 140.00 

Project Biologist $ 115.00 

Field Biologist  $   90.00 

Administrative Assistant $   50.00 

   

Attachment A to Amendment 1

77

Item IX. 2.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Contract for Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services 
Executed April 20, 2021 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Thomas & Hutton Engineering Co.  

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Thomas & Hutton Engineering Co. (“VENDOR”), mailing address at 50 Park of Commerce Way, Savannah, GA 

31405. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Thomas & Hutton Engineering Co. entered into a Contract dated April 20, 2021 for 

Indefinite Delivery Professional A&E Services (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: The contract shall renew for a period of one (1) year, expiring April 20, 2024.  
 

2. Fee: The rates shall be amended as requested by the vendor. The amended rates are listed as Attachment A 
to this Amendment No. 1.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Contract shall remain unaffected by 
this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Thomas & Hutton Engineering Co.                    Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

78

Item IX. 2.



 

February 2, 2023 

 

 

Ms. Alison Bruton 

Purchasing Agent 

Effingham County Purchasing Department 

601 North Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

Re: Request for Qualifications No. 21-007 

       Annual Renewal – Request for Hourly  

Rate Increase 

 

 

Dear Ms. Bruton: 

  

Thank you for intending to renew our Effingham County Indefinite Delivery Contract for 

2023. Thomas & Hutton is pleased to inform you of our intent to renew our on-call contract with 

Effingham County. Pursuant to your request, please find hourly rate modifications attached for 

inclusion with the 2023 contract renewal. Hourly fee increases are required to balance increased 

inflation of more than 10-percent since execution of the original on-call contract in April 2021. The 

increased fees are required to maintain competitive labor compensation rates, affording the 

increased cost of goods to provide our services, and maintaining high quality business activities.  

 

We appreciate our relationship with Effingham County and look forward to working you in 

2023. Should there be any questions or need for discussion, please call us at (912) 721-4197. 

     

      Sincerely, 

 

      THOMAS & HUTTON  

 

 

 

Kevin Smith, P.E. 

 

KMS/kts 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

79

Item IX. 2.



____________ CLIENT´S INITIALS 

____________ CONSULTANT´S INITIALS 

 

 
 

 
2

0
2

3
 C

O
N

S
U

LT
IN

G
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S
 R

A
TE

 S
H

E
E
T 

  
W

W
W

.T
H

O
M

A
S

A
N

D
H

U
T
T
O

N
.C

O
M

 

 

R
e

v
is

e
d

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

1
, 
2

0
2

2
 

Th
o

m
a

s 
&

 H
u

tt
o

n
 p

ro
v

id
e

s 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

o
n

 a
 t

im
e

 a
n

d
 e

xp
e

n
se

 b
a

si
s 

a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

 

1
. 

Th
is

 b
a

si
s 

in
c

lu
d

e
s 

a
llo

w
a

n
c

e
 f

o
r 

d
ir
e

c
t 

sa
la

ry
 e

xp
e

n
se

s 
a

n
d

 f
o

r 
d

ir
e

c
t 

n
o

n
–
sa

la
ry

 e
xp

e
n

se
s.

  
It
 a

ls
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
s 

fo
r 

se
rv

ic
e

s 
w

e
 m

a
y
 s

u
b

c
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
to

 o
th

e
rs

. 

2
. 

D
ir
e

c
t 

sa
la

ry
 e

xp
e

n
se

s 
a

re
 g

e
n

e
ra

lly
 b

a
se

d
 u

p
o

n
 o

u
r 

p
a

y
ro

ll 
c

o
st

s.
  
Th

e
 p

a
y
ro

ll 
c

o
st

s 
in

c
lu

d
e

 t
h

e
 c

o
st

 o
f 

sa
la

ri
e

s 
a

n
d

 w
a

g
e

s 
(i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 s

ic
k
 le

a
v

e
, 

v
a

c
a

ti
o

n
, 
a

n
d

 h
o

lid
a

y
 p

a
y
) 

fo
r 

ti
m

e
 d

ir
e

c
tl
y
 c

h
a

rg
e

a
b

le
 t

o
 t

h
e

 p
ro

je
c

t;
 p

lu
s,

 u
n

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t,
 e

x
c

is
e

, 
p

a
y
ro

ll 
ta

xe
s,

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

so
c

ia
l 
se

c
u

ri
ty

, 
e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n

t 
c

o
m

p
e

n
sa

ti
o

n
 in

su
ra

n
c

e
, 

re
ti
re

m
e

n
t 

b
e

n
e

fi
ts

, 
a

n
d

 m
e

d
ic

a
l a

n
d

 in
su

ra
n

c
e

 b
e

n
e

fi
ts

. 

 
Th

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
h

o
u

rl
y
 r

a
te

 c
h

a
rg

e
s 

fo
r 

e
a

c
h

 s
k
ill

 p
o

si
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

2
0
2
3
 a

re
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:
 

 

H
o

u
rl

y 
R

at
e 

E
n

g
in

ee
r 

S
u

rv
ey

 
L

an
d

sc
ap

e 
G

IS
 

Q
u

al
it

y 
C

o
n

tr
o

l 
B

u
si

n
es

s/
 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

$ 
28

0.
00

 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 
 

$ 
25

5.
00

 
S

en
io

r 
M

an
ag

er
 

S
en

io
r 

M
an

ag
er

  
S

ur
ve

y 
P

ar
ty

 (
3–

M
en

) 
S

en
io

r 
M

an
ag

er
 

S
en

io
r 

M
an

ag
er

 
S

en
io

r 
M

an
ag

er
 

S
en

io
r 

M
an

ag
er

 

$ 
23

0.
00

 
P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 V

 
P

ro
je

ct
 E

ng
in

ee
r 

V
 

S
ur

ve
y 

M
an

ag
er

 V
 

P
ro

je
ct

 S
ur

ve
yo

r 
V

 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
 V

 
LA

 P
ro

je
ct

 M
an

ag
er

 V
 

G
IS

 M
an

ag
er

 V
 

 
 

$ 
21

0.
00

 
P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 IV

 
P

ro
je

ct
 E

ng
in

ee
r 

IV
 

S
ur

ve
y 

M
an

ag
er

 IV
 

P
ro

je
ct

 S
ur

ve
yo

r 
IV

 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
 IV

 
LA

 P
ro

je
ct

 M
an

ag
er

 IV
 

G
IS

 M
an

ag
er

 IV
 

 
S

en
io

r 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
D

ev
el

op
er

 IV
, 

S
of

tw
ar

e/
C

om
pu

te
r 

C
on

su
lta

nt
 IV

 

$ 
20

0.
00

 
P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 II

I 
P

ro
je

ct
 E

ng
in

ee
r 

III
 

S
ur

ve
y 

M
an

ag
er

 II
I 

P
ro

je
ct

 S
ur

ve
yo

r 
III

 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
 II

I 
LA

 P
ro

je
ct

 M
an

ag
er

 II
I 

G
IS

 M
an

ag
er

 II
I 

 
S

en
io

r 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
D

ev
el

op
er

 II
I, 

S
of

tw
ar

e/
C

om
pu

te
r 

C
on

su
lta

nt
 II

I 

$ 
18

5.
00

 
P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 II

 
P

ro
je

ct
 E

ng
in

ee
r 

II 

S
ur

ve
y 

M
an

ag
er

 II
 

P
ro

je
ct

 S
ur

ve
yo

r 
II 

S
ur

ve
y 

P
ar

ty
 (

2–
M

en
) 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

 II
 

LA
 P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 II

 
G

IS
 M

an
ag

er
 II

 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

or
 II

 
S

en
io

r 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
D

ev
el

op
er

 II
, 

S
of

tw
ar

e/
C

om
pu

te
r 

C
on

su
lta

nt
 II

 

$ 
17

0.
00

 
P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 I 

P
ro

je
ct

 E
ng

in
ee

r 
I 

S
ur

ve
y 

M
an

ag
er

 I 
P

ro
je

ct
 S

ur
ve

yo
r 

I 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
 I 

LA
 P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

er
 I 

G
IS

 M
an

ag
er

 I 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

or
 I 

G
ra

nt
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
or

, S
en

io
r 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
ev

el
op

er
 I,

 
S

of
tw

ar
e/

C
om

pu
te

r 
C

on
su

lta
nt

 I 

$ 
16

0.
00

 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

IV
 

E
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

IV
 

S
ta

ff 
S

ur
ve

yo
r 

V
 

S
ur

ve
y 

F
ie

ld
 S

up
er

vi
so

r 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

D
es

ig
ne

r 
IV

 
G

IS
 A

na
ly

st
 IV

 
F

ie
ld

 R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
e 

V
 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
ev

el
op

er
 IV

 

$ 
15

0.
00

 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

III
 

E
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

III
 

S
ta

ff 
S

ur
ve

yo
r 

IV
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

III
 

G
IS

 A
na

ly
st

 II
I 

F
ie

ld
 R

ep
re

se
nt

at
iv

e 
IV

 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
D

ev
el

op
er

 II
I 

$ 
13

5.
00

 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

II 
E

ng
in

ee
rin

g 
T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
II 

S
ta

ff 
S

ur
ve

yo
r 

III
 

S
ur

ve
y 

P
ar

ty
 (

1–
M

an
) 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

II 
G

IS
 A

na
ly

st
 II

 
 

P
er

m
it 

C
oo

rd
in

at
or

 II
I 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
ev

el
op

er
 II

 

$ 
12

5.
00

 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

I 
E

ng
in

ee
rin

g 
T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
I 

S
ta

ff 
S

ur
ve

yo
r 

II 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

D
es

ig
ne

r 
I 

G
IS

 A
na

ly
st

 I 
F

ie
ld

 R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
e 

III
 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
ev

el
op

er
 I,

 
P

er
m

it 
C

oo
rd

in
at

or
 II

, A
dm

in
 IV

 

$ 
11

0.
00

 
C

A
D

D
 T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
III

 
S

ta
ff 

S
ur

ve
yo

r 
I 

S
ur

ve
y 

T
e

ch
ni

ci
an

 II
I  

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
III

 
G

IS
 T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
III

 
F

ie
ld

 R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
e 

II 
P

er
m

it 
C

oo
rd

in
at

or
 I 

$ 
10

0.
00

 
C

A
D

D
 T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
II 

S
ur

ve
y 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

II 
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

II 
G

IS
 T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
II 

 
 

$ 
95

.0
0 

C
A

D
D

 T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I 
S

ur
ve

y 
T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n
 I 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
T

ec
hn

ic
ia

n 
I 

G
IS

 T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I 
F

ie
ld

 R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
e 

I 
A

dm
in

 II
I 

$ 
90

.0
0 

 
 

 
 

 
A

dm
in

 II
 

$ 
85

.0
0 

 
 

 
 

 
A

dm
in

 I 

$ 
42

5.
00

 
E

xp
er

t W
itn

es
s 

 
 

 
 

 

3
. 

W
h

e
n

 w
a

rr
a

n
te

d
, 

o
v

e
rt

im
e

 w
ill

 b
e

 c
h

a
rg

e
d

 f
o

r 
a

n
y
 n

o
n
–
sa

la
ry

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s.

  
O

v
e

rt
im

e
 h

o
u

rs
 w

ill
 b

e
 b

ill
e

d
 a

t 
1
.5

 t
im

e
s 

th
e

 in
d

iv
id

u
a

l’
s 

c
h

a
rg

e
 r

a
te

. 

4
. 

D
ir
e

c
t 

n
o

n
–
sa

la
ry

 (
re

im
b

u
rs

a
b

le
) 

e
x
p

e
n

se
s,

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 p

ri
n

ti
n

g
, 

re
p

ro
d

u
c

ti
o

n
, 

a
ir
 t

ra
v
e

l, 
lo

d
g

in
g

, 
a

n
d

 m
e

a
ls

 a
re

 b
ill

e
d

 a
t 

c
o

st
. 

 T
ra

v
e

l 
in

 c
o

m
p

a
n

y
 o

r 
p

ri
v

a
te

 v
e

h
ic

le
s 

w
ill

 b
e

 

b
ill

e
d

 a
t 

th
e

 I
R

S
 S

ta
n

d
a

rd
 M

ile
a

g
e

 R
a

te
 a

n
d

 m
a

y
 b

e
 r

e
v

is
e

d
 b

a
se

d
 o

n
 f

u
e

l p
ri
c

in
g

. 
 O

u
ts

id
e

 c
o

n
su

lt
a

n
t 

fe
e

s 
w

ill
 b

e
 b

ill
e

d
 a

t 
1
.1

5
 t

im
e

s 
th

e
 c

o
st

. 

5
. 

A
ll 

ra
te

s 
a

n
d

 c
h

a
rg

e
s 

a
re

 e
ff

e
c

ti
v
e

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 D
e

c
e

m
b

e
r 

3
1

st
, 
2

0
2

3
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 p

ri
n

ti
n

g
, 
re

p
ro

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s,

 m
a

te
ri
a

ls
, 
a

n
d

 t
ra

v
e

l 
a

n
d

 a
re

 s
u

b
je

c
t 

to
 c

h
a

n
g

e
 a

t 
th

a
t 

ti
m

e
. 
 N

e
w

 r
a

te
s 

a
n

d
 c

o
st

s 
w

ill
 b

e
c

o
m

e
 im

m
e

d
ia

te
ly

 e
ff

e
c

ti
v
e

 t
o

 c
o

n
tr

a
c

ts
 in

 e
ff

e
c

t 
a

t 
th

e
 t

im
e

 o
f 

ra
te

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s.
 

 

Attachment A to Amendment 1

80

Item IX. 2.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Award acceptance for GEMA State Homeland Security Program 

(SHSP) Grant 

Author:  Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 3/7/23  

Item Description: Consideration to accept a grant award from and to contract with 
GEMA State Homeland Security Program (SHSP) Grant. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is recommending approval to accept a grant award from and to contract with 

GEMA State Homeland Security Program (SHSP) Grant. 

 

Executive Summary: 

The Homeland Security Grant Program supports the core capabilities across the five 
mission areas of Prevention, Protection, Mitigation, Response, and Recovery based on 
allowable costs. The HSGP supports the Quadrennial Homeland Security Review 
Mission to Strengthen National Preparedness and Resilience. HSGP funds a range of 
activities, including planning, organization, equipment purchase, training, exercises, and 
management and administration across all core capabilities and mission areas. At least 
eighty percent (80%) of funds must be passed through to local or tribal units of 
government. At least twenty-five percent (25%) of the overall HSGP funds received by 
the state must be dedicated towards law enforcement terrorism prevention activities 
(LETPA). 

The Sheriff’s Office will utilize the funds for courthouse security to help build and 
enhance Effingham County’s ability to protect citizens. 

Background: 

1. The County applied for this grant back in April 2022. 
2. This is a reimbursement grant. 
3. The awarded funding amount is $27,552. 
4. There is no cost share requirement. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to accept a grant award from and to contract with GEMA SHSP.  
2. Do not approve to accept a grant award from and to contract with GEMA SHSP. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to accept a grant award from and to 

contract with GEMA SHSP. 

81

Item IX. 3.



 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

No cost share requirement 

 

Attachments: 

1. GEMA SHSP Award Letter 
2. GEMA SHSP Agreement 
3. GEMA SHSP Certification-Lobbying, Debarment, Drug-Free Workplace Form 
4. GEMA SHSP Assurances-Non-Construction Form 
5. GEMA SHSP Assurances-Construction Form  
6. GEMA SHSP NIMS Compliance Form 

 

 

 

 

82

Item IX. 3.



Certifications Regarding Lobbying; Debarment, Suspension And Other  
Responsibility Matters; And Drug-Free Workplace Requirements 

Applicants should refer to the regulations cited below to determine the certification to which they are required to attest.  Applicants 
should also review the instructions for certification included in the regulations before completing this form.  Signature of this form 
provides for compliance with certification requirements under 34 CFR Part 82, "New Restrictions on Lobbying," and 34 CFR Part 85, 
"Government-wide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement) and Government-wide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace 
(Grants)."  The certifications shall be treated as a material representation of fact upon which reliance will be placed when the 
Department of Education determines to award the covered transaction, grant, or cooperative agreement. 

1. LOBBYING

As required by Section 1352, Title 31 of the U.S. Code, and 
implemented at 34 CFR Part 82, for persons entering into a grant 
or cooperative agreement over $100,000, as defined at 34 CFR 
Part 82, Sections 82.105 and 82.110, the applicant certifies that: 

(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, 
by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing 
or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an 
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the making 
of any Federal grant, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, 
or modification of any Federal grant or cooperative agreement; 

(b) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been 
paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to 
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of 
a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal grant or 
cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and 
submit Standard Form - LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; 

(c) The undersigned shall require that the language of this 
certification be included in the award documents for all subawards 
at all tiers (including subgrants, contracts under grants and 
cooperative agreements, and subcontracts) and that all 
subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

________________________________________________

2. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER
RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

As required by Executive Order 12549, Debarment and 
Suspension, and implemented at 34 CFR Part 85, for prospective 
participants in primary covered transactions, as defined at 34 CFR 
Part 85, Sections 85.105 and 85.110-- 

A.  The applicant certifies that it and its principals:

(a) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;  

(b) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application 
been convicted of or had a civil judgement rendered against them 
for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with 
obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, 
State, or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; 
violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of 
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

(c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly 
charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State, or local) with 
commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (2)(b) 
of this certification; and  

(d) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application 
had one or more public transaction (Federal, State, or local) 
terminated for cause or default; and  

B.  Where the applicant is unable to certify to any of the 
statements in this certification, he or she shall attach an  
explanation to this application. 

_____________________________________________ 

3. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
(GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, and 
implemented at 34 CFR Part 85, Subpart F, for grantees, as 
defined at 34 CFR Part 85, Sections 85.605 and 85.610 -  

A.  The applicant certifies that it will or will continue to provide a
drug-free workplace by:

(a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful 
manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a 
controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's workplace and 
specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for 
violation of such prohibition;  

(b) Establishing an on-going drug-free awareness program to
inform employees about:

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;

(2) The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee 
assistance programs; and 

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug
abuse violations occurring in the workplace;

(c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in 
the performance of the grant be given a copy of the statement 
required by paragraph (a); 

(d) Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph 
(a) that, as a condition of employment under the grant, the 
employee will: 

(1) Abide by the terms of the statement; and

(2) Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a 
violation of a criminal drug statute occurring in the workplace no 
later than five calendar days after such conviction; 

Certifications Regarding Lobbying; Debarment, Suspension And Other
Responsibility Matters; And Drug-Free Workplace Requirements

Applicants should refer to the regulations cited below to determine the certification to which they are required to attest. Applicants
should also review the instructions for certification included in the regulations before completing this form. Signature of this form
provides for compliance with certification requirements under 34 CFR Part 82, New Restrictions on Lobbying, and 34 CFR Part 85,
“Government-wide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement) and Government-wide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace
(Grants). The certifications shall be treated as a material representation of fact upon which reliance will be placed when the
Department of Education determines to award the covered transaction, grant, or cooperative agreement.

1. LOBBYING

As required by Section 1352, Title 31 of the U.S. Code, and
implemented at 34 CFR Part 82, for persons entering into a grant
or cooperative agreement over $1 00,000, as defined at 34 CFR
Part 82, Sections 82.105 and 82.110, the applicant certifies that:

(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid,
by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing
or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the making
of any Federal grant, the entering into of any cooperative
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment,
or modification of any Federal grant or cooperative agreement;

(b) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been
paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of
a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal grant or
cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and
submit Standard Form - LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report
Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions;

(c) The undersigned shall require that the language of this
certification be included in the award documents for all subawards
at all tiers (including subgrants, contracts under grants and
cooperative agreements, and subcontracts) and that all
subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

2. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER
RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

As required by Executive Order 12549, Debarment and
Suspension, and implemented at 34 CFR Part 85, for prospective
participants in primary covered transactions, as defined at 34 CFR
Part 85, Sections 85.105 and 85.110--

A. The applicant certifies that it and its principals:

(a) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from
covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;

(b) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application
been convicted of or had a civil judgement rendered against them
for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with
obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal,
State, or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction;
violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

(c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly
charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State, or local) with
commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (2)(b)
of this certification; and

(d) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application
had one or more public transaction (Federal, State, or local)
terminated for cause or default; and

B. Where the applicant is unable to certify to any of the
statements in this certification, he or she shall attach an
explanation to this application.

3. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
(GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, and
implemented at 34 CFR Part 85, Subpart F, for grantees, as
defined at 34 CFR Part 85, Sections 85.605 and 85.610 -

A. The applicant certifies that it will or will continue to provide a
drug-free workplace by:

(a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful
manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a
controlled substance is prohibited in the grantees workplace and
specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for
violation of such prohibition;

(b) Establishing an on-going drug-free awareness program to
inform employees about:

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;

(2) The grantees policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee
assistance programs; and

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug
abuse violations occurring in the workplace;

(c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in
the performance of the grant be given a copy of the statement
required by paragraph (a);

(d) Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph
(a) that, as a condition of employment under the grant, the
employee will:

(1) Abide by the terms of the statement; and

(2) Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a
violation of a criminal drug statute occurring in the workplace no
later than five calendar days after such conviction;

83

Item IX. 3.



(e) Notifying the agency, in writing, within 10 calendar days after 
receiving notice under subparagraph (d)(2) from an employee or 
otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.  Employers of 
convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, 
to: Director, Grants Policy and Oversight Staff, U.S. Department of 
Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, S.W. (Room 3652, GSA 
Regional Office Building No. 3), Washington, DC 20202-4248.  
Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected 
grant; 

(f) Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of 
receiving notice under subparagraph (d)(2), with respect to any 
employee who is so convicted: 

(1) Taking appropriate personnel action against such an 
employee, up to and including termination, consistent with the 
requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or 

(2) Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug 
abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such 
purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, law enforcement, or 
other appropriate agency; 

(g) Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a  
drug-free workplace through implementation of paragraphs 
 (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f). 

B. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) 
for the performance of work done in connection with the specific 
grant: 

Place of Performance (Street address. city, county, state, zip 
code) 

DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
(GRANTEES WHO ARE INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, and 
implemented at 34 CFR Part 85, Subpart F, for grantees, as  
defined at 34 CFR Part 85, Sections 85.605 and 85.610- 

A.  As a condition of the grant, I certify that I will not engage in the 
unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use 
of a controlled substance in conducting any activity with the grant; 
and  

B.  If convicted of a criminal drug offense resulting from a violation 
occurring during the conduct of any grant activity, I will report the 
conviction, in writing, within 10 calendar days of the conviction, to: 
Director, Grants Policy and Oversight Staff, Department of 
Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, S.W. (Room 3652, GSA 
Regional Office Building No. 3), Washington, DC 20202-4248.  
Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected 
grant.  

Check  [  ]  if there are workplaces on file that are not identified  here.

As the duly authorized representative of the applicant, I hereby certify that the applicant will comply with the above certifications.

NAME OF APPLICANT PR/AWARD NUMBER AND / OR PROJECT NAME

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

SIGNATURE DATE

ED 80-0013 12/98 

(e) Notifying the agency, in writing, within 10 calendar days after
receiving notice under subparagraph (d)(2) from an employee or
otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction. Employers of
convicted employees must provide notice, including position title,
to: Director, Grants Policy and Oversight Staff, U.S. Department of
Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW. (Room 3652, GSA
Regional Office Building No. 3), Washington, DC 20202-4248.
Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected
grant;

(f) Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of
receiving notice under subparagraph (d)(2), with respect to any
employee who is so convicted:

(1) Taking appropriate personnel action against such an
employee, up to and including termination, consistent with the
requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or

(2) Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug
abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such
purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, law enforcement, or
other appropriate agency;

(g) Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a
drug-free workplace through implementation of paragraphs
(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f).

B. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s)
for the performance of work done in connection with the specific
grant:

Place of Performance (Street address. city, county, state, zip
code)

DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
(GRANTEES WHO ARE INDIVIDUALS)

As required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, and
implemented at 34 CFR Part 85, Subpart F, for grantees, as
defined at 34 CFR Part 85, Sections 85.605 and 85.610-

A. As a condition of the grant, I certify that I will not engage in the
unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use
of a controlled substance in conducting any activity with the grant;
and

B. If convicted of a criminal drug offense resulting from a violation
occurring during the conduct of any grant activity, I will report the
conviction, in writing, within 10 calendar days of the conviction, to:
Director, Grants Policy and Oversight Staff, Department of
Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW. (Room 3652, GSA
Regional Office Building No. 3), Washington, DC 20202-4248.
Notice shall include the identification number(s) of each affected
grant.

Check [1 if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

As the duly authorized representative of the applicant, I hereby certify that the applicant will comply with the above certifications.

NAME OF APPLICANT PR/AWARD NUMBER AND / OR PROJECT NAME

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

SIGNATURE DATE

ED 80-0013 12/98

Effingham County Board of Commissioners    EMW-2022-SS-00048

700 N. Pine St.

Springfield, GA 31329

84

Item IX. 3.



EXHIBIT B NIMS Compliance Form

RECOMMENDED: RECOMMENDED continued:

RECOMMENDED:
Community Adoption: Adopt NIMS at the community level 
for all government departments and/or agencies; as well as 
promote and encourage NIMS adoption by associations, 
utilities, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), and 
private sector incident management and response 
organizations.

Implementation plans exists at agency level that 
identifies the appropriate personnel to complete 
the below listed NIMS training requirements.

Revise and update plans and SOPs to incorporate NIMS 
components, principles and policies, to include planning, 
training, response, exercises, equipment, evaluation, and 
corrective actions.

Incident Command System (ICS): Manage all emergency 
incidents and preplanned (recurring/special) events in 
accordance with ICS organizational structures, doctrine, 
and procedures, as defined in NIMS. ICS implementation 
must include the consistent application of Incident Action 
Planning and Common Communications Plans.
Public Information System: Implement processes, 
procedures, and/or plans to communicate timely, accurate 
information to the public during an incident through a Joint 
Information System and Joint Information Center.
Preparedness/Planning: Establish the community’s NIMS 
baseline against the FY2008 and FY2009 implementation 
requirements. 
Develop and implement a system to coordinate all federal 
preparedness funding to implement the NIMS across the 
community.

This NIMS Compliance Form is OPTIONAL for Non-Governmental Agencies
Non-Governmental Subrecipients are not required to meet National Incident Management System (NIMS) compliance 
requirements.  For additional guidance on NIMS training, please refer to http://www.training.fema.gov/nims.  All emergency 
preparedness, response, and/or security personnel in the state agencies, tribes, and local governments participating in the 
development, implementation, and/or operation of resources and/or activities awarded through this grant are compelled to 
complete training programs consistent with the NIMS National Standard Curriculum Development Guide.  Minimum training 
includes ICS-100 and IS-700. The Subrecipient agrees to comply with the NIMS compliance requirements and to evidence 
compliance by completing and returning to the Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency this NIMS 
Compliance Form, Exhibit “B” to this agreement. 
Please check the box next to each action that the Subgrantee has completed.   
Additional NIMS guidance can be found at http://www.fema.gov/national-incident-management-system. 

IS-700 (NIMS) An Introduction 

ICS-100: Introduction to the Incident Command System

Agency

Authorized Signature Date

Incorporate NIMS/ICS into all tribal, local, and 
regional training and exercises.

Participate in an all-hazard exercise program 
based on NIMS that involves responders from 

Incorporate corrective actions into preparedness 

Inventory community response assets to conform 

To the extent permissible by law, ensure that 
relevant national standards and guidance to 
achieve equipment, communication, and data 
interoperability are incorporated into tribal and 

Apply standardized and consistent 
terminology, including the establishment of 
plain English communications standards 

IS-800 National Response Framework,
An Introduction

ICS-200 ICS for Single Resources and 
Intial Action Incidents

ICS-300 Intermediate ICS for 
Expanding Incidents

ICS-400 Advanced ICS for Command 
and General Staff

IS-701 NIMS Mutliagency Coordination 
Systems (MACS) 

IS-702 NIMS Public Information Systems 

IS-703 NIMS Resource Management

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

85

Item IX. 3.



1

Mark Barnes

From: Clint Hodges
Sent: Wednesday, January 11, 2023 3:31 PM
To: Mark Barnes
Subject: FW: EXTERNAL:SHSP Award Notification

Mark, 
 
I received this message this morning. 
 
Clint 
 

From: ga.emgrants.com [mailto:no‐reply@emgrants.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, January 11, 2023 11:41 AM 
To: Matt Gill <MGill@EffinghamCounty.org> 
Cc: Clint Hodges <chodges@EffinghamCounty.org> 
Subject: EXTERNAL:SHSP Award Notification 

 

Dear Matthew Gill,  

On behalf of Governor Brian P. Kemp, it is my pleasure to inform you that the State of Georgia has awarded the 
Effingham (county) a sub grant funded from the federal FY2022 State Homeland Security Program. The 
amount of the grant is $27,552.00 to build and enhance your community's capabilities in Homeland Security.  

The grant funding can be used only for the purposes specified and authorized by a Recipient-Subrecipient 
Agreement, so no action can be undertaken until the agreement has been finalized. Please review, complete and 
return the grant agreement you have received from the Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland 
Security Agency (GEMA/HS) containing specific information regarding your grant, by following these steps:  

 Login to ga.emgrants.com and navigate to the award by clicking on this link: 
https://ga.emgrants.com/app/#182315.  

 Scroll down to the bottom of the screen to where Document Templates are located. Click on each of the 
listed document templates to download them.  

 Review and sign the State/Local Agreement.  
 Upload a signed copy of the agreement at: https://ga.emgrants.com/app/#182315.  
 Click on the Advance button to submit the signed agreement to the State for review.  

Thank you for your commitment to protect Georgia's citizens and assets. I appreciate your efforts to ensure 
Georgia remains a safe place for us to live and raise our families. By working together, we can continue to be 
prepared for the challenges that may face us.  

Sincerely,  

James C. Stallings 
Director 
Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency  

86

Item IX. 3.



2

This is an automated email generated by ga.emgrants.com, please do not reply.  

 
 
**** This is an EXTERNAL email. Please do not click on a link or open ANY attachments unless you are confident it is from a 
trusted source and you are expecting this email. *****  

87

Item IX. 3.



ASSURANCES - CONSTRUCTION PROGRAMS OMB Number: 4040-0009 
Expiration Date: 02/28/202  

NOTE: Certain of these assurances may not be applicable to your project or program. If you have questions, please contact the
Awarding Agency. Further, certain Federal assistance awarding agencies may require applicants to certify to additional 
assurances. If such is the case, you will be notified. 

As the duly authorized representative of the applicant:, I certify that the applicant: 

1. Has the legal authority to apply for Federal assistance,
and the institutional, managerial and financial capability
(including funds sufficient to pay the non-Federal share
of project costs) to ensure proper planning,
management and completion of project described in
this application.

2. Will give the awarding agency, the Comptroller General
of the United States and, if appropriate, the State,
the right to examine all records, books, papers, or
documents related to the assistance; and will establish
a proper accounting system in accordance with
generally accepted accounting standards or agency
directives.

3. Will not dispose of, modify the use of, or change the
terms of the real property title or other interest in the
site and facilities without permission and instructions
from the awarding agency. Will record the Federal
awarding agency directives and will include a covenant
in the title of real property acquired in whole or in part
with Federal assistance funds to assure non- 
discrimination during the useful life of the project.

4. Will comply with the requirements of the assistance
awarding agency with regard to the drafting, review and
approval of construction plans and specifications.

5. Will provide and maintain competent and adequate
engineering supervision at the construction site to
ensure that the complete work conforms with the
approved plans and specifications and will furnish
progressive reports and such other information as may be
required by the assistance awarding agency or State.

6. Will initiate and complete the work within the applicable
time frame after receipt of approval of the awarding agency.

7. Will establish safeguards to prohibit employees from
using their positions for a purpose that constitutes or
presents the appearance of personal or organizational
conflict of interest, or personal gain.

8. Will comply with the Intergovernmental Personnel Act
of 1970 (42 U.S.C. §§4728-4763) relating to prescribed
standards of merit systems for programs funded
under one of the 19 statutes or regulations specified in 
Appendix A of OPM's Standards for a Merit System of
Personnel Administration (5 C.F.R. 900, Subpart F).

9. Will comply with the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning
Prevention Act (42 U.S.C. §§4801 et seq.) which
prohibits the use of lead-based paint in construction or
rehabilitation of residence structures.

10. Will comply with all Federal statutes relating to non- 
discrimination. These include but are not limited to: (a)
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352)
which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race,
color or national origin; (b) Title IX of the Education
Amendments of 1972, as amended (20 U.S.C. §§1681
1683, and 1685-1686), which prohibits discrimination
on the basis of sex; (c) Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29) U.S.C.
§794), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of
handicaps; (d) the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as
amended (42 U.S.C. §§6101-6107), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of age; (e) the Drug Abuse
Office and Treatment Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-255), as
amended relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of
drug abuse; (f) the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and
Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment and Rehabilitation
Act of 1970 (P.L. 91-616), as amended, relating to
nondiscrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse or
alcoholism; (g) §§523 and 527 of the Public Health
Service Act of 1912 (42 U.S.C. §§290 dd-3 and 290 ee
3), as amended, relating to confidentiality of alcohol
and drug abuse patient records; (h) Title VIII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §§3601 et seq.), as
amended, relating to nondiscrimination in the sale,
rental or financing of housing; (i) any other
nondiscrimination provisions in the specific statue(s)
under which application for Federal assistance is being
made; and (j) the requirements of any other
nondiscrimination statue(s) which may apply to the
application.

Previous Edition Usable Authorized for Local Reproduction Standard Form 424D (Rev. 7-97) 
Prescribed by OMB Circular A-102 

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes per response, including time for reviewing 
instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of 
information. Send comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for 
reducing this burden, to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0348-0042), Washington, DC 20503. 

PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT 
AND BUDGET. SEND IT TO THE ADDRESS PROVIDED BY THE SPONSORING AGENCY. 

88

Item IX. 3.



11. Will comply, or has already complied, with the 
requirements of Titles II and III of the Uniform Relocation 
Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 
1970 (P.L. 91-646) which provide for fair and equitable 
treatment of persons displaced or whose property is 
acquired as a result of Federal and federally-assisted 
programs. These requirements apply to all interests in real 
property acquired for project purposes regardless of 
Federal participation in purchases. 

12. Will comply with the provisions of the Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. 
§§1501-1508 and 7324-7328) which limit the political 
activities of employees whose principal employment 
activities are funded in whole or in part with Federal funds.

13. Will comply, as applicable, with the provisions of the Davis- 
Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§276a to 276a-7), the Copeland Act 
(40 U.S.C. §276c and 18 U.S.C. §874), and the Contract 
Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §§327- 
333) regarding labor standards for federally-assisted 
construction subagreements. 

14. Will comply with flood insurance purchase requirements of 
Section 102(a) of the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 
(P.L. 93-234) which requires recipients in a special flood 
hazard area to participate in the program and to purchase 
flood insurance if the total cost of insurable construction 
and acquisition is $10,000 or more. 

15. Will comply with environmental standards which may be 
prescribed pursuant to the following: (a) institution of 
environmental quality control measures under the National 
Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (P.L. 91- 
190) and Executive Order (EO) 11514; (b) notification 
of violating facilities pursuant to EO 11738; (c) 
protection of wetlands pursuant to EO 11990; (d) 
evaluation of flood hazards in floodplains in accordance 
with EO 11988; (e) assurance of project consistency 
with the approved State management program 
developed under the Coastal Zone Management Act of 
1972 (16 U.S.C. §§1451 et seq.); (f) conformity of 

Federal actions to State (Clean Air) implementation 
Plans under Section 176(c) of the Clean Air Act of 
1955, as amended (42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.); (g) 
protection of underground sources of drinking water 
under the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as 
amended (P.L. 93-523); and, (h) protection of 
endangered species under the Endangered Species 
Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-205). 

16. Will comply with the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 
1968 (16 U.S.C. §§1271 et seq.) related to protecting 
components or potential components of the national 
wild and scenic rivers system. 

17. Will assist the awarding agency in assuring compliance 
with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation 
Act of 1966, as amended (16 U.S.C. §470), EO 11593 
(identification and protection of historic properties), and 
the Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act of 
1974 (16 U.S.C. §§469a-1 et seq). 

18. Will cause to be performed the required financial and 
compliance audits in accordance with the Single Audit 
Act Amendments of 1996 and OMB Circular No. A-133, 
"Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations." 

19. Will comply with all applicable requirements of all other 
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies 
governing this program. 

20. Will comply with the requirements of Section 106(g) of 
the Trafficking Victims Protection Act (TVPA) of 2000, as 
amended (22 U.S.C. 7104) which prohibits grant award 
recipients or a sub-recipient from (1) Engaging in severe 
forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time 
that the award is in effect (2) Procuring a commercial 
sex act during the period of time that the award is in 
effect or (3) Using forced labor in the performance of the 
award or subawards under the award. 

 
 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED CERTIFYING OFFICIAL TITLE 

APPLICANT ORGANIZATION DATE SUBMITTED

SF-424D (Rev. 7-97) Back 

89

Item IX. 3.



-

OMB Approval No. 0348-0040 

ASSURANCES - NON-CONSTRUCTION PROGRAMS 

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes per response, including time for reviewing 
instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of 
information. Send comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for 
reducing this burden, to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0348-0040), Washington, DC 20503. 

PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET. 
SEND IT TO THE ADDRESS PROVIDED BY THE SPONSORING AGENCY. 

NOTE:	 Certain of these assurances may not be applicable to your project or program. If you have questions, please contact the 
awarding agency. Further, certain Federal awarding agencies may require applicants to certify to additional assurances. If such 
is the case, you will be notified. 

As the duly authorized representative of the applicant, I certify that the applicant: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

Has the legal authority to apply for Federal assistance 
and the institutional, managerial and financial capability 
(including funds sufficient to pay the non-Federal share 
of project cost) to ensure proper planning, management 
and completion of the project described in this 
application. 

Will give the awarding agency, the Comptroller General 
of the United States and, if appropriate, the State, 
through any authorized representative, access to and 
the right to examine all records, books, papers, or 
documents related to the award; and will establish a 
proper accounting system in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting standards or agency directives. 

Will establish safeguards to prohibit employees from 
using their positions for a purpose that constitutes or 
presents the appearance of personal or organizational 
conflict of interest, or personal gain. 

Will initiate and complete the work within the applicable 
time frame after receipt of approval of the awarding 
agency. 

Will comply with the Intergovernmental Personnel Act of 
1970 (42 U.S.C. §§4728-4763) relating to prescribed 
standards for merit systems for programs funded under 
one of the 19 statutes or regulations specified in 
Appendix A of OPM's Standards for a Merit System of 
Personnel Administration (5 C.F.R. 900, Subpart F). 

Will comply with all Federal statutes relating to 
nondiscrimination. These include but are not limited to: 
(a) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352) 
which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color 
or national origin; (b) Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972, as amended (20 U.S.C. §§1681-
1683, and 1685-1686), which prohibits discrimination on 
the basis of sex; (c) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation 

Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. §794), which 
prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicaps; (d) 
the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 
U.S.C. §§6101-6107), which prohibits discrimination 
on the basis of age; (e) the Drug Abuse Office and 
Treatment Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-255), as amended, 
relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of drug 
abuse; (f) the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and 
Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment and Rehabilitation 
Act of 1970 (P.L. 91-616), as amended, relating to 
nondiscrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse or 
alcoholism; (g) §§523 and 527 of the Public Health 
Service Act of 1912 (42 U.S.C. §§290 dd-3 and 290 ee 
3), as amended, relating to confidentiality of alcohol 
and drug abuse patient records; (h) Title VIII of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §§3601 et seq.), as 
amended, relating to nondiscrimination in the sale, 
rental or financing of housing; (i) any other 
nondiscrimination provisions in the specific statute(s) 
under which application for Federal assistance is being 
made; and, (j) the requirements of any other 
nondiscrimination statute(s) which may apply to the 
application. 

7.	 Will comply, or has already complied, with the 
requirements of Titles II and III of the Uniform 
Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition 
Policies Act of 1970 (P.L. 91-646) which provide for 
fair and equitable treatment of persons displaced or 
whose property is acquired as a result of Federal or 
federally-assisted programs. These requirements apply 
to all interests in real property acquired for project 
purposes regardless of Federal participation in 
purchases. 

8.	 Will comply, as applicable, with provisions of the 
Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. §§1501-1508 and 7324-7328) 
which limit the political activities of employees whose 
principal employment activities are funded in whole or 
in part with Federal funds. 

Previous Edition Usable Standard Form 424B (Rev. 7-97) 

Authorized for Local Reproduction Prescribed by OMB Circular A-102 
90

Item IX. 3.



9. 

10. 

11. 

Will comply, as applicable, with the provisions of the Davis-
Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§276a to 276a-7), the Copeland Act 
(40 U.S.C. §276c and 18 U.S.C. §874), and the Contract 
Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §§327-
333), regarding labor standards for federally-assisted 
construction subagreements. 

Will comply, if applicable, with flood insurance purchase 
requirements of Section 102(a) of the Flood Disaster 
Protection Act of 1973 (P.L. 93-234) which requires 
recipients in a special flood hazard area to participate in the 
program and to purchase flood insurance if the total cost of 
insurable construction and acquisition is $10,000 or more. 

Will comply with environmental standards which may be 
prescribed pursuant to the following: (a) institution of 
environmental quality control measures under the National 
Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (P.L. 91-190) and 
Executive Order (EO) 11514; (b) notification of violating 
facilities pursuant to EO 11738; (c) protection of wetlands 
pursuant to EO 11990; (d) evaluation of flood hazards in 
floodplains in accordance with EO 11988; (e) assurance of 
project consistency with the approved State management 
program developed under the Coastal Zone Management 
Act of 1972 (16 U.S.C. §§1451 et seq.); (f) conformity of 
Federal actions to State (Clean Air) Implementation Plans 
under Section 176(c) of the Clean Air Act of 1955, as 
amended (42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.); (g) protection of 
underground sources of drinking water under the Safe 
Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended (P.L. 93-523); 
and, (h) protection of endangered species under the 
Endangered Species Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-
205). 

12. 

13. 

14. 

15. 

16. 

17. 

18. 

Will comply with the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 
1968 (16 U.S.C. §§1271 et seq.) related to protecting 
components or potential components of the national 
wild and scenic rivers system. 

Will assist the awarding agency in assuring compliance 
with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation 
Act of 1966, as amended (16 U.S.C. §470), EO 11593 
(identification and protection of historic properties), and 
the Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act of 
1974 (16 U.S.C. §§469a-1 et seq.). 

Will comply with P.L. 93-348 regarding the protection of 
human subjects involved in research, development, and 
related activities supported by this award of assistance. 

Will comply with the Laboratory Animal Welfare Act of 
1966 (P.L. 89-544, as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§2131 et 
seq.) pertaining to the care, handling, and treatment of 
warm blooded animals held for research, teaching, or 
other activities supported by this award of assistance. 

Will comply with the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning 
Prevention Act (42 U.S.C. §§4801 et seq.) which 
prohibits the use of lead-based paint in construction or 
rehabilitation of residence structures. 

Will cause to be performed the required financial and 
compliance audits in accordance with the Single Audit 
Act Amendments of 1996 and OMB Circular No. A-133, 
"Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations." 

Will comply with all applicable requirements of all other 
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies 
governing this program. 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED CERTIFYING OFFICIAL TITLE 

APPLICANT ORGANIZATION DATE SUBMITTED 

Standard Form 424B (Rev. 7-97) Back 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Chairman-at-Large

03/07/2023

91

Item IX. 3.



FISCAL YEAR 2022 
HOMELAND SECURITY GRANT PROGRAM 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE STATE OF 

GEORGIA 
GEORGIA EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND 

HOMELAND SECURITY AGENCY 

AND 

GRANT NO: 

The United States Department of Homeland Security (DHS), Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA), approved the application and awarded grant funding from the Fiscal Year (FY) 2022 Homeland 
Security Grant Program to the Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency (GEMA/ 
HS) on behalf of the State of Georgia, in accordance with The Homeland Security Act of 2002 (Public Law 
107-296), as amended by section 101 of the Implementing Recommendations of the 9/11 Commission Act of
2007 (Public Law 110-53). The Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number for this grant is
97.067.

GEMA/HS will maintain overall responsibility and accountability to the federal government for the 
duration of the program. GEMA/HS, as Recipient, has awarded the amount of  to 

, as Subrecipient, in accordance with the 
Fiscal Year 2022 Homeland Security Grant Program (HSGP), State Homeland Security Program (SHSP), 
and/or Urban Area Security Initiative (UASI). 

Under this Agreement, GEMA/HS will execute the interests and responsibilities of the Recipient. The 
individual designated to represent the State is James C. Stallings, Authorized Recipient Official. The 
State has designated Harlan Proveaux as the Program Manager of this program. The Subrecipient's 
Authorized Official has the authority to legally bind the Subrecipient and will execute the interests and 
responsibilities of the Subrecipient. The Subrecipient's Authorized Official is the person whose name and 
signature appear on page twelve (12) of this agreement. 

PURPOSE: The Subrecipient agrees to use allocated funds only as approved; to comply with the terms, 
conditions, and guidelines, as stated within this agreement; and to request reimbursement only for 
expenditures made in accordance with the Approved Budget Cost Lines. Any modification to the Budget 
must be requested in writing by the Subrecipient and must be approved by the Program Manager or other 
authorized representative prior to the execution of that modification. 

$27,552.00

Effingham (county)

Effingham (county)

23

92

Item IX. 3.



- 2 -

After all approved items on the approved Budget have been reimbursed to the Subrecipient, this 
Subrecipient Agreement shall be terminated. Any remaining funds shall be forfeited by the Subrecipient 
and deobligated and reallocated by GEMA/HS. 

PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE: This Agreement shall become effective on , or on the 
date when the Agreement has been signed by all parties and returned to GEMA/HS, whichever is later and 
shall continue through . No modifications to the Budget can be made after the 
termination date, or when all funds have been used. 

Spending of grant funds, may not commence until this Agreement is effective. The Subrecipient agrees that 
all purchases and expenditures authorized under this program must be completed by the effective end date. 
Extensions are at the discretion of GEMA/HS and will only be granted for cause when requested in EM 
Grants Manager before the end date of this Agreement. Extensions should be requested 30 days before the 
end of this agreement, but no longer than 30 days after the end date. 

Caveat: DHS/FEMA has reserved the right to change the FY22 HSGP grant; including shortening the 
performance period and/or grant end date. Any change in the grant and/or performance period of the FY22 
HSGP award will be passed through to the Subrecipient by GEMA/HS. 

EXHIBITS: Exhibits are attached or attainable via the internet and made a part of this agreement by 
reference: 

Exhibit A 

Exhibit B 

Exhibit C 

Exhibit E 

Standard Assurances - Standard Form 424B (Non-Construction) or Standard Form 
424D (Construction), as applicable 
(COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN With AGREEMENT) 

National Incident Management System (NIMS) Compliance Form 
(COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN With AGREEMENT) 

Certifications Regarding Lobbying; Debarment, Suspension And Other 
Responsibility Matters; And Drug-Free Workplace Requirements 
(COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN With AGREEMENT) 

Tangible Property Report 
(KEEP FOR REFERENCE) 

Exhibit F 

Exhibit G 

Exhibit H 

Department of Homeland Security, HSGP, Grant Agreement Number 
, Agreement Articles (KEEP FOR REFERENCE) 

Approved Budget Cost Line(s) (LOCATED IN EM GRANTS MANAGER) 

DHS/FEMA Fiscal Year 2022 HSGP Notice of Funding Opportunity Announcement 
(DHS/FEMA NOFO), located at: 

https://www.fema.gov/grants/preparedness/homeland-security/fy-22-nofo 

October 1, 2022

September 30, 2024
September 30, 2024

.EMW-2022-SS-00048

93

Item IX. 3.



- 3 -

PURCHASES, REIMBURSEMENT, AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS: 

A. Purchasing: Subrecipient must follow federal, state, and local procurement guidance and
regulations as standards for purchasing or acquiring equipment and services. All spending or
purchases must be made in accordance with the agreed spending plan as outlined on the Budget
Cost Lines and all equipment purchases must be in accordance with the Department of Homeland
Security Authorized Equipment List (DHS/AEL) located on the internet at:
https://www.fema.gov/grants/guidance-tools/authorized-equipment-list

B. Payment Requests: Payments to the Subrecipients will be made only upon presentation of the
approved Payment Request. Reimbursements from invoices and applicable proof of payment (or
other justifying documentation) will only be made for eligible equipment, materials, expenses, and
costs upon approval of the Program Manager. Omission of pertinent documentation will constitute
justification for non-payment of any amounts submitted on the Payment Request.

C. State Purchases on behalf of Subrecipient: GEMA/HS may, with the written consent of the
Subrecipient, retain and expend grant funding on behalf of the Subrecipient. Before the State will
make purchases on behalf of local jurisdictions, the Subrecipient must provide justification, receive
approval from GEMA/HS and provide GEMA/HS with a Memorandum of Understanding
authorizing GEMA/HS to expend these funds. If GEMA/HS does agree to retain and expend grant
funding on behalf of the Subrecipient, the Subrecipient is required to submit documentation to verify
receipt and acceptance of the goods or services on the Acknowledgment Form and provide any other
documentation or information requested by GEMA/HS. If the Acknowledgement Form is not
returned to GEMA/HS in a timely manner, the Subrecipient will be held accountable for payment to
the vendor. The Subrecipient is still accountable for submitting the Quarterly Progress Reports in
the EM Grants Manager System in a timely manner according to the guidelines in the section below.

D. Quarterly Progress Report (PROGRESS REPORT): The disposition of grant funds, including
all obligations and expenditures, must be reported to GEMA/HS on a quarterly basis through the
Progress Report module in the EM Grants Manager System, which is due within 30 days of the end
of each calendar quarter.

E. The following reporting periods and due dates apply:

• First Quarter October 1 - December 31 Due January 31 
• Second Quarter January 1- March 31 Due April 30 
• Third Quarter April 1 - June 30 Due July 31 
• Fourth Quarter July 1 - September 30 Due October 31 

FAILURE TO HAVE A CURRENT PROGRESS REPORT ON FILE AT GEMA/HS 
WILL RESULT IN WITHHOLDING OF REIMBURSEMENT UNTIL THE 
PROGRESS REPORT IS RECEIVED. 

F. Biannual Strategy Implementation Reports (BSIR): The Subrecipient shall complete and submit
any other reports as requested by GEMA/HS and cooperate and assist GEMA/HS in complying
with the DHS tracking and reporting requirements. Specifically, without limitation, Subrecipient
shall submit information at the request of GEMA/HS to assist in the submission of the BSIR, and
any other reports, as required.

94

Item IX. 3.



- 4 -

MONITORING AND AUDITS: The Subrecipient shall permit persons duly authorized by GEMA/HS 
access to inspect and copy all records, books papers, documents, facilities, goods, and services related to 
this Agreement, and to interview clients, employees, and subcontractors of the Subrecipient concerning the 
performance of this Agreement. If the Subrecipient fails to provide access to such materials, GEMA/HS 
may terminate this Agreement. 

LAWS, REGULATIONS, FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS, AND 
PROGRAM GUIDANCE: The Subrecipient shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws, 
regulations, and financial and administrative requirements. A non-exclusive list of regulations is listed 
below. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) sections may be accessed online at http://www.ecfr.gov/. 

A. Administrative Requirements

2 CFR Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to
State and Local Governments

2 CFR Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements with
Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations

B. Cost Principles

2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E, Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal Governments

2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E, Cost Principles for Education Institutions

2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E, Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations

48 CFR 31.2, Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) Contracts with Commercial Organizations

C. Organizational Audit Requirements: The Subrecipient agrees to comply with the organizational
audit requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-
Profit Organizations.

Subrecipients that expend $750,000.00 or more of federal funds during their fiscal year are required
to submit an organization-wide financial and compliance audit report. The audit must be performed
in accordance with the Government Accountability Office's (GAO's) Government Auditing
Standards, which may be accessed online at  https://www.gao.gov/, and in accordance with 2 CFR
§200.514 Scope of Audit. Audit reports are currently due to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse no
later than nine months after the end of the recipient's fiscal year.

In addition, Subrecipients must submit the audit report to the State of Georgia, by sending a copy 
to the Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts, Nonprofit and Local Governments Audits, 270 
Washington Street, SW, Room I-156, Atlanta, Georgia 30334-8400. 

If required to submit an audit report under the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, the 
Subrecipient shall provide GEMA/HS with written documentation showing that it has complied 
with the single audit requirements. Such documentation shall be returned to GEMA/HS with this 
signed Agreement. The Subrecipient shall immediately notify GEMA/HS in writing at any time 
that it is required to conduct a single audit and provide documentation within a reasonable time 
period showing compliance with the single audit requirement. 

95

Item IX. 3.



- 5 -

D. Selected Items of Cost: The Subrecipient agrees to comply with the requirements of OMB 2 CFR
Part 225, Selected Items of Cost. Physical inventories must be taken at least once every two years
to ensure that assets received through this Agreement exist and are in use. Governmental units will
manage and maintain equipment in accordance with State laws and procedures.

E. The Build America, Buy America Act (BABAA): Subrecipient agrees to only use iron, steel,
manufactured products, and construction materials produced in the United States for all
infrastructure projects. The Act requires the following “Buy America” preference:

1. All iron and steel used in the project are produced in the United States. This means all
manufacturing processes, from the initial melting stage through the application of
coatings, occurred in the United States.

2. All manufactured products used in the project are produced in the United States. This
means the manufactured product was manufactured in the United States, and the cost of
the components of the manufactured product that are mined, produced, or manufactured
in the United States is greater than 55 percent of the total cost of all components of the
manufactured product, unless another standard for determining the minimum amount of
domestic content of the manufactured product has been established under applicable law
or regulation.

Additional information regarding the BABAA requirements can be found at
https://www.fema.gov/grants/policy-guidance/buy-america#interpretation

F. Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) Number Requirement: No entity may receive a subgrant under
this award unless GEMA/HS has received the UEI number for the prospective Subrecipient.

G. Accounting System: The Subrecipient agrees to maintain an accounting system integrated with
adequate internal fiscal and management controls to capture and report grant data with accuracy,
providing full accountability for revenues, expenditures, assets, and liabilities. This system shall
provide reasonable assurance that the Subrecipient is managing federal and state financial
assistance programs in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

H. Retention and Maintenance of Records: The Subrecipient shall maintain books, records, and
documents (including electronic storage media) in accordance with generally accepted accounting
procedures and practices that sufficiently and properly reflect all revenues and expenditures of grant
funds. All such records must be retained by the Subrecipient for a minimum of three years from the
date that the DHS closes the State of Georgia's 2022 HSGP grant. GEMA/HS will notify the
Subrecipient in writing when the retention period begins.

I. Withholding and Repayment of Funds: In addition to any other remedies provided by law or the
terms of this Agreement, if the Subrecipient fails to comply with any of the terms or conditions of
this Agreement, including all exhibits hereto, or with any applicable federal or state law or
regulation, GEMA/HS may withhold or require repayment of grant funds in connection with which
the violation occurred. In addition, GEMA/HS may withhold or require repayment of all or any
portion of the financial award which has been or is to be made available to the Subrecipient.
Specifically, without limitation, GEMA/HS will be entitled to payment from the Subrecipient for
any funds paid by the State or that the State is responsible to pay on behalf of the Subrecipient for
which GEMA/HS is unable to receive payment or required to repay due to the Subrecipient' s failure
to cooperate in providing the required documentation showing receipt of the goods or services,
purchasing of equipment in the time required, submitting a request for reimbursement with complete
supporting documents, or any other activity that GEMA/HS deems a failure by the Subrecipient
under this Agreement.

96

Item IX. 3.



- 6 -

J. National Initiatives:
1. The Subrecipient agrees to comply with all applicable terms and conditions of the FY 2022

Homeland Security Grant Program (HSGP) Notice of Funding Opportunity Announcement
(NOFO) (Exhibit H), including without limitation, adoption, and implementation of
theNational Incident Management System (NIMS). Refer to NOFO, page 5, "NIMS
Implementation section." Other NIMS resources are at the followinglocations:

https://www.fema.gov/resource-management-mutual-aid  

http://www.fema.gov/nims-doctrine-supporting-guides-tools 

2. In order to assure compliance with NIMS requirements, all terms, and conditions of this
agreement are predicated and conditional upon the Subrecipient's assurance by completing and
signing the NIMS Compliance Form (Exhibit B) and returning the completed and signed
form to GEMA/HS with the original signed Agreement.

3. The Subrecipient agrees to institutionalize the use of the Incident Command System (ICS) as
required by Georgia law and the NIMS minimum compliance requirements.

4. The Subrecipient agrees that any exercises conducted with grant funds will be managed and
executed in compliance with the Homeland Security Exercise and Evaluation Program
(HSEEP). All exercises are to be planned, conducted, and evaluated with the implementation
of improvement in accordance with the guidance from the HSEEP, available at
http://www.fema.gov/national-exercise-program.

a. Any exercises implemented with grant funds must be threat and performance-based
and should evaluate the performance of critical tasks required to respond to the
exercise scenario.

b. All funded exercises are encouraged to be posted in the Multiyear Exercise Plan
calendar, added to the National Exercise Schedule, located at
https://www.fema.gov/emergency-managers/national-preparedness/exercises/about, and
must be preapproved by the GEMA/HS Exercise Program Manager. 

c. The Subrecipient must report to the GEMA/HS Exercise Program Director prior to
conducting scheduled exercises and provide the Program Director with an After
Action Report (AAR) and Improvement Plan for each exercise conducted within 90
days following completion of the exercise in accordance with the FY22 HSGP
DHS/FEMA NOFO (Exhibit H).

d. Exercises conducted using HSGP funding must be NIMS compliant, as defined by
the current NIMS compliance matrices. Further information is available on the NIMS
Integration Center Web site at https://www.fema.gov/emergency-managers/nims.

5. The Subrecipient agrees to coordinate with GEMA/HS to maintain and update the Threat and
Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (THIRA) and agrees to provide GEMA/HS any
information and access to records upon request.

97

Item IX. 3.



- 7 -

FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT (FFATA): All new 
subawards under this grant of $25,000 or more are subject to FFATA reporting requirements. The 
Subrecipient is responsible for providing any information requested by GEMA/HS to complete the required 
report. 

A. Unless exempt, the Subrecipient shall report the names and total compensation of its five most
highly compensated executives for its preceding completed fiscal year. This report is only required
if:

1. In the Subrecipient's preceding fiscal year, the Subrecipient received 80 percent or more of its
annual gross revenues from federal procurement contracts and subcontracts and federal
financial assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and
subawards); and

2. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the executives
through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 61104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

1. Additional information regarding the FFATA requirements can be found at
http://www.fema.gov/pdf/government/grant/bulletins/info350.pdf  and www.fsrs.gov.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS: 

A. The Subrecipient agrees to use all grant funding awarded from the Fiscal Year 2022 Homeland
Security Grant Program (HSGP) for costs related to preparedness activities associated with
implementing the findings of the State Preparedness Report, including goals and objectives, and
any Urban Areas Security Initiative strategies.

B. The Subrecipient agrees that all allocations and use of funds under this grant will be in accordance
with the FY 2022 HSGP DHS/FEMA NOFO (Exhibit H), and to comply with all DHS/FEMA
requirements and cooperate with GEMA/HS to comply with federal and state requirements related
to the grant funding.

C. The Subrecipient understands and agrees that any allocations and use of grant funding must support
and may only be used to fund the investments identified in the Fiscal Year 2022 HSGP grant
application submitted by GEMA/HS to DHS/FEMA and to use grant funding only for projects pre- 
approved by GEMA/HS.

D. The Subrecipient agrees to comply with the FY 2022 Homeland Security Grant Program Agreement
Articles, included with this agreement as Exhibit F. References in the exhibit to "recipient" apply
to the Subrecipient's requirements as subrecipient. The Subrecipient agrees to sign and comply with
the terms and conditions of GEMA/HS's Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement and to
render mutual aid for a suspected or real attack or in the case of weapons of mass destruction or
other event, as determined by GEMA/HS. The Subrecipient shall sign any other Mutual Aid
Agreements GEMA/HS or DHS/FEMA shall deem necessary in order to assure the Subrecipient
will fulfill its obligations to render mutual aid.

E. Any Subrecipient receiving funding for purposes of explosive ordnance disposal (EOD) agrees to
utilize the Georgia Bureau of Investigations and GEMA/HS paging system whenever
responding outside of its jurisdiction.

98

Item IX. 3.



- 8 -

F. The Subrecipient will maintain an inventory of all grant-funded equipment and provide a copy to
GEMA/HS at the end of the grant performance period. The Subrecipient will submit an updated
inventory every year thereafter or as the equipment is disposed of. Equipment must be used for the
intended purpose for the life of the equipment. GEMA/HS must be given a written disposition plan
for any equipment that has a value of $5,000 or more at least 30 days prior to disposal or at the end
of its useful life, whichever date is sooner. Also, the GEMA/HS Program Manager will review the
disposition plan within 30 days of receipt and provide approval or other instructions for disposal to
the Subrecipient.

G. Non-Supplanting Requirement: The Subrecipient agrees that federal grant funds received under this award
will not replace (supplant) funds that have been budgeted for the same purpose through non- federal
sources. Applicants or Recipients may be required to demonstrate if a reduction in non- federal
resources occurred for reasons other than the receipt or expected receipt of federal funds. The
Subrecipient will be expected to demonstrate how these funds will be used to supplement, but not
supplant, state or local funds for the same purposes.

H. The Subrecipient agrees to cooperate with any assessments, national evaluation efforts, requests
for information or data collection, including, but not limited to, the provision of any information
regarding any activities within this agreement that may be required for the assessment or evaluation.

I. Federal funds under this grant program are provided through reimbursement of all eligible
expenditures. The Subrecipient shall follow procurement standards as stated in federal and state
laws and regulations.

J. Sole Source Procurement: The Subrecipient's procurement procedures and regulations must
conform to federal procurement laws and standards. All procurement transactions without regard
to dollar value, whether negotiated or through a competitive bid process shall be conducted in such
a manner as to provide maximum open and free competition.

K. Should the Subrecipient elect to award a non-competitive proposal, justification must be provided
and include a description of the program and why it is necessary to enter into a non-competitive
agreement. All sole-source procurements as defined in 2 CFR§200.320(f) must receive prior
written approval from GEMA/HS.

L. The Subrecipient understands and agrees that compensation for individual consultant services is to
be reasonable and consistent and should represent fair market value for services. Time and effort
reports for consultant services are required, and competitive bidding is encouraged, as explained in
2 CFR §200.317-326.

M. The Subrecipient understands and agrees that it cannot use any federal funds, either directly or
indirectly, in support of the enactment, repeal, modification, or adoption of any law, regulation, or
policy, at any level of government, without the express prior written approval of GEMA/HS and
DHS.

N. No elected or appointed official or employee of the Subrecipient shall be admitted to any share or
part of any benefit, directly or indirectly, from this agreement or grant award. This provision shall
not be construed to extend to any contract made with a corporation for its general benefit.

O. If the Subrecipient is found to be in violation of any of the conditions of this agreement, including
any exhibits hereto, or of applicable federal and state laws or regulations, in addition to any other
recourse available, GEMA/HS shall notify the Subrecipient that additional funds in connection with
which the violation occurred will be withheld until such violation has been corrected to the
satisfaction of GEMA/HS. In addition, GEMA/HS may withhold or require repayment of any

99

Item IX. 3.



- 9 - 

portion of the financial award which has been or is to be made available to the Subrecipient or 
retained and obligated or expended on behalf of the Subrecipient, for other projects under this 
program until adequate corrective action is taken. 

P. The Subrecipient understands and agrees that for any copyrightable work based on or containing
data first produced under this Agreement, the Subrecipient shall grant the government a royalty- 
free, nonexclusive and irrevocable license to reproduce, display, distribute, perform, disseminate,
or prepare derivative works, and to authorize others to do so, for government purposes on all such
copyrighted works. The Subrecipient shall affix the applicable copyright notices of 17 U.S.C. §401
or 402 and an acknowledgment of government sponsorship, including the grant award number, to
any work first produced under this grant award.

Q. Environmental Historical Preservation (EHP)

1. The Subrecipient shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local environmental and
historic preservation (EHP) requirements and shall provide any information requested by FEMA
or GEMA/HS to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including: Federal
EHP regulations, laws, and Executive Orders; National Environmental Policy Act; National
Historic Preservation Act; Endangered Species Act; and Executive Orders on Floodplains
(11988), Wetlands (11990), and Environmental Justice (12898). Failure of the Subrecipient to
meet federal, state, and local EHP requirements and obtain applicable permits may jeopardize
federal funding. The Subrecipient shall not undertake any project having the potential to impact
EHP resources without prior approval from FEMA, through GEMA/HS, including but not
limited to communications towers, physical security enhancements, new construction,
modifications to buildings, and replacement of facilities. The Subrecipient shall coordinate with
GEMA/HS regarding any activities using grant funding that requires
specific documentation of compliance with federal laws and/or regulations.

2. The Subrecipient shall provide any information requested by GEMA/HS or FEMA to ensure
compliance with applicable federal EHP requirements. Any change to the approved project or
scope of work will require re-evaluation for EHP compliance. If ground-disturbing activities
may occur during project implementation, the Subrecipient must ensure monitoring of ground
disturbance, and, if any potential archeological resources are discovered, the recipient will
immediately cease construction in that area and notify GEMA/HS, and the Georgia Department
of Natural Resources, Georgia State Historic Preservation Division.

3. The Subrecipient shall not undertake any project using HSGP funding to which the National
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) requirements are applicable without first obtaining written
approval from FEMA, through GEMA/HS. The Subrecipient shall coordinate with GEMA/HS
regarding any activities using grant funding that requires specific documentation of NEPA
compliance. Any construction activities initiated prior to the full environmental and historic
preservation review and evaluation will result in a non-compliance finding and will not be
eligible for HSGP funding.

For more information regarding FEMA's EHP requirements, the Subrecipient should refer to 
the DHS/FEMA FY22 NOFO (Exhibit H) and FEMA's Information Bulletins 329, 345, 356, 
371, and 404 available at https://www.fema.gov/grants/preparedness/about/informational- 

100

Item IX. 3.



- 10 - 

bulletins. 

R. The Subrecipient agrees to cooperate with GEMA/HS in assuring that any training using HSGP
funds is reported through the Training Information Reporting System ("Web-Forms") located at
https://www.firstrespondertraining.gov/frts/

S. The Subrecipient agrees that funds from the FY 2022 HSGP utilized to establish or enhance state
and local fusion centers will be used in compliance with the requirements and restrictions in the
DHS/FEMA NOFO (Exhibit H) and with FEMA's Information Bulletins 281 and 288.Specifically,
without limitation, the Subrecipient receiving funding to be used for costs related to a fusion center
agree to comply with the following:

1. To use such funds to support the development of a statewide fusion process that corresponds
with the Global Justice/Homeland Security Advisory Council (HSAC) Fusion Center
Guidelines and the National Strategy for Information Sharing, and achievement of a baseline
level of capability as defined by Global's Baseline Capabilities for State and Major Urban Area
Fusion Centers, a supplement to the Fusion Center Guidelines, located at
http://www.it.ojp.gov/documents/baselinecapabilitiesa.pdf.

2. To use such funds to support the achievement of baseline levels of capability as defined in the
fusion capability planning tool.

3. The Subrecipient shall provide GEMA/HS with a certification stating that the Subrecipient
will assume responsibility for supporting the costs of any hired analysts following the three- 
year federal funding period or the termination of the Subrecipient Agreement, whichever
occurs first.

4. The Subrecipient shall provide GEMA/HS with certificates of completion of training for each
intelligence analyst hired with grant funding to enable information/intelligence sharing
capabilities in accordance with Global's Minimum Criminal Intelligence Training Standards
for Law Enforcement and Other Criminal Justice Agencies in the United States, as required
under the DHS/FEMA FY22 NOFO (Exhibit H) and Information Bulletin 288.

5. All Subrecipients leveraging FY 2022 HSGP funds in support of information sharing and
intelligence fusion and analysis centers must leverage available federal information-sharing
systems, including Law Enforcement Online (LEO) and the Homeland Security Information
Network (HSIN), and comply with 28 CFR 23.

T. Any Subrecipient receiving HSGP grant funding for purchasing or upgrading a mobile
communication vehicle (MCV), equipment for an MCV, or other MCV related costs, agrees to
comply with the following requirements:

1. Each agency receiving an MCV funded with HSGP funding will be required to participate with
the MCV in at least one regional GEMA/HS sponsored MCV exercise annually and at least one
GEMA/HS sponsored statewide MCV exercise biennially. Any agency that cannot meet this
compliance requirement due to an unforeseen event in any year must request approval from
GEMA/HS, providing a reasonable justification for failing to remain in compliance.

2. Each agency receiving an HSGP funded MCV will provide GEMA/HS with updated vehicle
equipment capability and inventory data as requested.

U. In the event that the Subrecipient uses subcontractors or contractors, the Subrecipient shall use

101

Item IX. 3.



- 11 - 

small, minority, women-owned or disadvantaged business concerns and contractors or 
subcontractors to the extent practicable as prescribed by applicable Federal and State laws. 

V. The Subrecipient understands that any public contracts and subcontracts funded by the HSGP must
comply with the requirements of O.C.G.A. §13-10-90, et seq., and Georgia Department of Labor
Rules 300-10-1, et seq., to verify the contractor's or subcontractor's new employees' work eligibility
through a federal work authorization program. The Subrecipient shall utilize the U.S.
DHS E-Verify System to verify the employment eligibility of all persons hired during the
Agreement term.

CHANGES TO AGREEMENT: The Subrecipient understands and agrees that, in addition to the 
provisions in the "Termination" section below, GEMA/HS shall have the right to make unilateral changes, 
cancel, or terminate this agreement in the event that FEMA and/or DHS makes changes to the FY22 HSGP 
grant awarded to GEMA/HS. With the exception of termination or changes included in this agreement, 
there shall be no other changes to this Agreement unless mutually agreed upon by all parties to the 
Agreement. 

EMPLOYMENT: The employment of unauthorized aliens by the Subrecipient Agency is considered a 
violation of Section 274A(e) of the Immigration and Nationality Act. If the Subrecipient Agency knowingly 
employs unauthorized aliens, such violation shall cause the unilateral cancellation of the Agreement. Any 
services performed by any such unauthorized aliens shall not be paid. 

The Subrecipient Agency shall utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security's E-Verify System to 
verify the employment eligibility of all persons hired during the Agreement term. 

TERMINATION: This agreement may be terminated for any or all of the following reasons: 

A. Cause/Default: This agreement may be terminated for cause, in whole or in part, at any time by the
State of Georgia for the failure of the Subrecipient to perform any of the provisions or to comply
with any of the terms and conditions herein. If the State exercises its right to terminate this
agreement under the provisions of this paragraph, the termination shall be accomplished in writing
and specify the reason and termination date. The Subrecipient will be required to submit the final
invoice no later than 30 days after the effective date of written notice of termination. Upon
termination of this agreement, the State shall not incur any new obligations after the effective date
of the termination and shall cancel outstanding obligations, as possible. The above remedies are in
addition to any other remedies provided by law or the terms of this agreement.

B. Notwithstanding and without waiving any other remedies available for the Subrecipient's failure to
comply with the terms and conditions of this agreement, if the Subrecipient fails to meet its
obligations, voluntarily or otherwise, as part of a GEMA/HS program, GEMA/HS will have the
right, privilege, and option to immediately terminate this Agreement. Failure to exercise the right
of termination for previous occurrences or omissions will not act as a waiver for future
noncompliance by the Subrecipient. Should GEMA/HS exercise the right, privilege, and option to
terminate this Agreement, the Subrecipient shall immediately transfer ownership of any HSGP
grant-funded vehicle(s) and related equipment purchased under this agreement to GEMA/HS or to
whomever GEMA/HS shall designate, including the transfer of title, tag, and related documents,
and shall deliver and turn over possession and title of said vehicle(s) and related equipment, without
cost, as directed by GEMA/HS.

C. Convenience: This agreement may be canceled or terminated by either of the parties without cause;
however, the party seeking to terminate or cancel this agreement must give written notice of its
intention to do so to all other parties at least 30 days prior to the effective date of cancellation or
termination.

102

Item IX. 3.



- 12 - 

D. Non-Availability of Funding: Notwithstanding any other provision of this agreement, in the
event that either of the sources of funding for reimbursement under this agreement (appropriations
from the General Assembly of the State of Georgia or the Congress of the United States of America)
no longer exist, in the event, the sum of all obligations of GEMA/HS incurred under this and all
otheragreements entered into for this program exceeds the balance of such funding, then this
agreement shall immediately terminate without further obligation of GEMA/HS. The certification
by the Director of GEMA/HS of the occurrence of either of the events stated above shall be
conclusive.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the GEORGIA EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND HOMELAND 
SECURITY AGENCY and have executed this Agreement: 

GEORGIA EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND 
HOMELAND SECURITY AGENCY 

SUBRECIPIENT 

Signature Signature, Authorizing or Highest Official 

Harlan Proveaux, Deputy Director of Homeland Security 

Printed Name and Title of Signatory Printed Name and Title of Signatory 

 / /  / / 
Date of Signature Date of Signature 

Agency FEID (XX-XXXXXXX) 

Agency UEI Number (XXXXXXXXX) 

Effingham (county)

2023

11-1111111

1101

103

Item IX. 3.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   GEMA Local Emergency Management Performance Grants 

Program (EMPG) 

Author:  Jody Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes 

Department:  Finance Department, Effingham EMA 

Meeting Date: 3/7/23  

Item Description: Consideration to submit a grant application to GEMA Local 
Emergency Management Performance Grants (EMPG) Program. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval to submit a grant application to Georgia Local Emergency 

Management Performance Grants (EMPG) Program. 

 

Executive Summary: 

GEMA/HS EMPG provides local qualified EMAs with funding opportunities to 

enhance the local emergency management (EM) program by providing funds 

for administration, preparedness activities and exercise and training. An all-

hazards approach in the development of a comprehensive program of 

planning, training, and exercises provides for an effective and consistent 

response and recovery to disasters or emergencies, regardless of the cause. 

Effingham County receives this grant each year to help offset salary cost for 

the EMA Director. In addition to the salary supplement in this grant round, the 

new application will include equipment purchases for the Effingham County 

Emergency Management Agency (EMA) as per the following: 

 

Item GEMA EC Match Total 

Personnel - EMA Director $7,275.00  $7,275.00  $14,550.00  

Equip- Autel Robotics EVO II Thermal 
Drone Bundle *Vendor may change* $4,350.00  $4,350.00  $8,700.00  

Equip/Supplies- Plum Case Portable 
Broadband Kit *Vendor may change* $4,050.00  $4,050.00  $8,100.00  

Grand Total $15,675.00  $15,675.00  $31,350.00  

 

 

 Background: 
1. EMA receives the same amount each year, $15,675.00. 
2. There is a 50% cost share requirement.  

 

 

 

104

Item IX. 4.



Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the submittal of a grant application to GEMA EMPG Program.  
2. Do not approve the submittal of a grant application to GEMA EMPG Program. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the submittal of a grant application 

to GEMA EMPG Program. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, Effingham EMA 

 

Funding Source: 

Cost share requirement of $15,675.00  

 

Attachments: 

Effingham EMA Quotes 
 

 

 

 

105

Item IX. 4.



106

Item IX. 4.



107

Item IX. 4.



Introduction to 
Plum Laboratories

ANYWHERE CONNECTIVITY YOU CAN DEPEND ON

Jon Eggena
Business Development
Healthcare 
Office Phone: 615-478-2374
E-mail: jeggena@plumcases.com

108

Item IX. 4.



ABOUT PLUM 
LABORATORIES

We are dedicated to the development and production 
of world-class, portable, high speed, connectivity 
devices.

• Plum Laboratories began in 2016.  
• Living in a rural county in Tennessee, 

co-founder Lee Williams worked to 
create a portable communication 
solution for his home county.

• The solution was developed to ensure 
communication anywhere in a form 
that could be shared by everyone, for 
any use.

• After 41 prototypes and exhaustive 
testing, the Plum Case® was born.

Today, Plum Laboratories has 
more than 10 patents and is 

the GOLD standard for 
portable wireless 
communications.

2
109

Item IX. 4.



Trusted 
By

110

Item IX. 4.



Your Mobile Network on the Go™

• Compact in size which allows it to be used in almost any 
location

• Utilizes highly-sensitive antennas to deliver high 
connectivity with significantly increased data speeds 
to any Wi-Fi enabled device

• Aggregates multiple cellular frequencies for the 
same carrier for improved throughout and 
reliability

• Protects sensitive datausing AES256-bit Encryption 
and FIPS 140-2 compliant cases are available where 
required. 

• Provides high-speed internet, and data and voice 
communication with a simple flip of a switch and no 
assembly needed

Portable.
Reliable.
Secure.
Easy to Use.

4

WHY 
PLUM?

111

Item IX. 4.



5

Cases sent to healthcare facilities, 
national guard locations, and more 
during COID-19 pandemic

USE 
CASES

When Communication is Mission Critical, 
Connectivity Matters.

BUSINESS 
CONTINUITY
Protect revenue streams, boost 
customer satisfaction, and maintain 
productivity.
• Weeks Marine
• Exxon
• Southern Cal Edison

DISASTER 
PREPAREDNESS
A critical lifeline in emergencies, share 
information quickly and securely.
• FEMA
• Veterans Administration
• U.S. Coast Guard
• State EMAs

NETWORK CAPACITY
A dedicated, reliable, secure, and easy to 
use portable network.
• Amazon Productions
• TMZ Grammy Broadcast
• Super Bowl
• White House Communications Agency

DAY ONE 
CONNECTIVITY
A high-speed network to connect 
people, teams, and communities on 
day one.
• First American Mortgage
• Medical University of South Carolina
• Union Pacific

Plum Laboratories – www.plumcases.com 112

Item IX. 4.

http://www.plumcases.com/


 Vaccine Distribution

 Pop-Up Medical Clinics

Mobile Medical Clinic Vans

 Off-site charity events

 Home Health/Rural Health

 EHR & VOIP back-up

 Drone support
6

PLUM in
HEALTH 
CARE

113

Item IX. 4.

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
Anywhere where there are issues with getting Internet connectivity, the Plum Case is the perfect solution.



7

Cases sent to healthcare facilities, 
national guard locations, and more 
during COID-19 pandemic

CASE
STUDY

Western Kentucky Tornadoes

Plum Laboratories – www.plumcases.com

Plum Portable Broadband Kits 
Enabled: 

• Emergency managers to reach cell 
towers outside of the disaster zone, 
which enabled them to provide 
communication within the disaster 
zone 
• Immediate deployment of Plum 
Cases to establish connectivity to 
Emergency Operation Centers 
(EOCs) 
• Caldwell County 911/ambulatory 
service 
• More than 1800 families to get 
online to request support within 
the first few days of the event 
• Redundancy for Baptist Health 
Medical Group mobile clinic 
• Pharmacies in Dawson Springs, 
Nortonville, and Mayfield to 
continue distributing medication 
for three weeks until service was 
restored 

114

Item IX. 4.

http://www.plumcases.com/


8

TRUSTED 
BY

115

Item IX. 4.



9

TRUSTED 
BY

Kentucky

Tennessee

Georgia

Texas

Pennsylvania

Healthcare Coalitions using the Plum Case

Wyoming

South Carolina

North Carolina

Florida

116

Item IX. 4.



Healthcare Coalitions using the Plum Case in

10

TRUSTED 
BY

117

Item IX. 4.



Testimonial from Eastern Kentucky Preparedness Coalition 
* In February of 2021, Eastern Kentucky as ROCKED by a massive ice/snow storm.
*  Radiologist was scheduled to be on a shift in the ED & ICU as well as being on-call at 
a level 2 trauma center.
*  Due to the storm, he was completely out of power/internet and unable to leave his 
residence.
*  The HCC was able to deliver him a Plum Case to his residence via “a short hike thru 
the hills” and also brought him a stand-by generator.
* Once he set up the case, logged on, he was able to access images virtually and give 
the appropriate report for the care of patients in the ED and ICU allowing the hospital 
to continue vital services.
* Thankfully, Dr. Wells was able to utilize the case for a week while snowed and iced 
in at his home...” – Gina Porter, Healthcare Preparedness Coordinator for Eastern 
Kentucky Preparedness Coalition, State of Kentucky

PLUM in
HEALTH CARE

11
118

Item IX. 4.



THE PLUM CASE®
1. Patented and proprietary.
2. A Mobile Network on the Go™: provides portable, high speed

internet and communication anywhere for up to 248 devices.
3. Leverages both cellular and satellite networks.
4. Easy to use, reliable, secure, and portable.
5. For mission critical communication: disaster preparedness, 

business continuity, day one connectivity, and network capacity
6. It’s all about the antenna array!

CONCLUSION

12

The Gold Standard: When communication is mission 
critical, connectivity matters. Use a Plum Case®

119

Item IX. 4.



Staff Report 
Subject: Ratification of Approval of Estimate #R51M16GW for ETR, LLC to remount an 

ambulance box to a new chassis 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EMS 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Estimate #R51M16GW for ETR, LLC to remount an ambulance box 

to a new chassis 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends ratification of approval for the 

remounting of an ambulance box to a new chassis, total cost $142,980.00. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In October of 2022, an ambulance was involved in a collision which ultimately 

lead to ACCG totaling the chassis. The box is able to be remounted.  

 Given the current unknowns in regards to the new ambulances we have on 

order, staff felt it was imperative to get this ambulance back up and running as 

soon as possible. ETR, LLC is able to remount the box on a new chassis and 

provided a quote of $142,980.00. We have received approximately $44,000 from 

ACCG for the totaled chassis, and the last two new ambulances we ordered cost 

$215,000.00.  

 In an effort to expedite the process and not lose the chassis, the County 

Manager has approved the estimate and is requesting ratification.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Ratification of Approval of Estimate #R51M16GW for ETR, LLC to remount an 

ambulance box to a new chassis in the amount of $142,980.00 

2. Take no action.  

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EMS, Finance, Purchasing, County Manager 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments: Specs and SOW from Vendor 

 

 

 

 

120

Item IX. 5.



121

Item IX. 5.



122

Item IX. 5.



Scope of Work
Date

2/16/2023

Estimate #

R51M16GW

Customer Name / Address

ETR

ETR LLC

Item Description

CUSTOMER NAME: EFFINGHAM COUNTY
UNIT OR ID # 51-M16
Current Chassis: 2019 FORD F450 4X2 169WB DIESEL 1FDUF4GTXKDA22666
New Chassis: 2023 FORD F450 4X2 169WB GAS
Ambulance Module OEM: CUSTOM WORKS 148 X 96 X 73
Sales Manager: DANNY GASS
****************************************************

Q 100 PRE-INSPECTION
Q100-1 ETR will test the mechanical, electrical and O2 systems. The customer will be notified of

findings.
************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
----------<< LIGHTING >>------------
************************************

E 101 REMOVE LIGHTING
       >   REMOVE EXTERIOR LIGHTING

E101-5 Chassis - Remove (2) Grill and (2) Intersection Lights. Lights to be reinstalled on new
chassis

E101-SPEC Remove Scene light from front grille guard. (Tag for re-install)
************* END OF SECTION **************

E 122 INSTALL LIGHTING
> CHASSIS LIGHTING

E122-22 GRILL LIGHTS - Reinstall (2) Lights on Grille Guard
E122-23F INTERSECTION LIGHTS - Reinstall (2) Lights.

> INTERIOR LIGHTING
E122-26 DOME LIGHTS - No change.
E122-27 FLUORESCENT LIGHTS - No change.
E122-28 ACTION AREA LIGHT - No change.
E122-29 ENTRYWAY LIGHT - No change
E122-30 COMPARTMENT LIGHTS - No change.

************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
---------<< ELECTRICAL >>----------
************************************

E 104 DISCONNECT WIRING
E104-1 Pull back wires from under hood and label. Includes cables.
E104-2 Remove radios, switch panel, console components, cab components.

Page 1 123

Item IX. 5.



Scope of Work
Date

2/16/2023

Estimate #

R51M16GW

Customer Name / Address

ETR

ETR LLC

Item Description

E104-3 Pull all wires from console to module and label.
E104-4 Disconnect all chassis grounds.
E104-8 Remove cab mounted radio antennas.
E104-9 Inspect all removed electrical circuits, fuses, and components for damage. Inspect cab

switch console for operation and for any damage. Notify sales of any issues.
************* END OF SECTION **************

E 124 ELECTRICAL
> CAB/HOOD/CHASSIS ELECTRICAL

E124-1 New Cab - Remove seats, trim, headliner.
E124-2 Route wiring harness for exterior scene light and lightbar.
E124-3 Drill hole for new conduit into cab.
E124-4 Catalog and separate wires. Separate, Route, and extend wiring to under hood locations and

cab locations.
E124-5 Route and hook up main battery power supply cables as required.
E124-6 Modify and Reinstall console from old cab.
E124-7 Transfer reinstall and wire siren controller.
E124-8 Transfer reinstall and wire switch panel.
E124-9 Transfer, reinstall, and wire in, console and cab components.
E124-10 Transfer, reinstall, and wire in, radios.
E124-12 Transfer, reinstall, and wire in, monitor for camera system.
E124-13 Install Anti-theft security module. (Per CAAS requirements).
E124-14 Install chassis interface modules.
E124-15A Install and hook up new battery switch.
E124-16 Wire all chassis tie in circuits - Ignition, Clutch, Neutral Safety, Park brake, etc.
E124-37 Reinstall seats, seatbelts, trim, and headliner. (Torque bolts to spec, apply torque seal, and

sign off in critical process book per QVM requirements)
> MODULE INTERIOR ELECTRICAL

E124-17 Install and wire in condenser fan relay.
E124-19 Test front and rear switch/control panel functions. Notify sales of any issues.
E124-20 Test inverter functions. Notify sales of any issues.

> MODULE EXTERIOR ELECTRICAL
E124-27 Tie-in tail light harness to OEM harness. Includes brake, turn, tail, and reverse lights.
E124-28 Install new backup alarm.
E124-33A Install and wire new ES100 bumper speakers for siren. Include S/S ETR grills.
E124-35 Install chassis and battery grounds.
E124-99 Power up module and function test.

************* END OF SECTION **************

Page 2 124

Item IX. 5.



Scope of Work
Date

2/16/2023

Estimate #

R51M16GW

Customer Name / Address

ETR

ETR LLC

Item Description

************************************
------------<< HVAC >>-------------
************************************

A 106 DISCONNECT AND REMOVE HVAC SYSTEMS
A106-1 Evacuate A/C system.
A106-2 Disconnect and pull back all A/C and heater hoses. Cap off hoses to prevent contamination.

(They will be reconnected to new chassis)
A106-3 Disconnect and remove the module A/C evaporator. Cap off to prevent contamination. (It

will be reinstalled)
A106-4B Disconnect and remove condenser - Roof of module mount. Cap off to prevent

contamination. (It will be reinstalled)
A106-7 Return Chassis system to original OEM build.
A106-8 Charge Old Chassis AC.

************* END OF SECTION **************

A 125 HVAC SYSTEMS
A125-1 Route and reconnect AC and Heater hoses to new chassis. If hose splice is required, ensure

splices are in serviceable location.
A125-2 Reconnect and reinstall module evaporator.
A125-3 Connect and reinstall condenser - Under module mount.
A125-4 Install new heat shield.
A125-6 Charge A/C system and check pressures to OEM specifications.

************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
---<< HARDWARE >>----
************************************

C 102 REMOVE HARDWARE
C102-5 Remove Fuel Fill
C102-8 Remove rear bumper.

************* END OF SECTION **************

C 121 INSTALL HARDWARE
C121-2 Reinstall rear bumper and flip up step.
C121-8 Reinstall fuel fill housing.
C121-8-1A Install new DEF fill housing.
C121-10A Install new diamond plate running boards and bracing.
C121-12 Install new Phoenix wheel covers. (Make sure lugnuts are torqued to spec and signed off in

critical process book before installing wheel covers per QVM requirements)
C121-13 Install new braided stainless steel valve extension to rear wheels.

Page 3 125

Item IX. 5.



Scope of Work
Date

2/16/2023

Estimate #

R51M16GW

Customer Name / Address

ETR

ETR LLC

Item Description

C121-15 Install reflective DOT stickers. Red at rear (4) and amber at front (4)
C121-18 Install new mudflaps.

************* END OF SECTION **************

I 131 PASS-THRU, BELLOWS
I131-1 Install new accordion bellows for pass through. Seal with black silicone.

************* END OF SECTION **************

I 132 CAB INTERIOR PANELS
I132-1A Fabricate and install new interior cab close out panels - Type I cab

************* END OF SECTION **************

I 154 O2 SYSTEM / MED AIR SYSTEM / HELIOX SYSTEM
I154-1 Pressure test oxygen system. Notify Sales of any issues.
I154-2 Check function of wall outlets for flow.

************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
----<< FABRICATION AND BODY MODS >>----
************************************

F 142 STREET SIDE MODULE MODIFICATIONS
F142-SPEC Cut out hole for DEF fill, Streetside

************* END OF SECTION **************

F 147 FABRICATE DIAMOND PLATE
F147-7 Fabricate new diamond plate running boards and bracing.

************* END OF SECTION **************

F 149 FABRICATE NON-DIAMOND PLATE
F149-6 Fabricate new cab window blank - Type I

************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
----<< PAINT & GRAPHICS >>----
************************************
> PAINT MISC ITEMS

P113-12 Prep and paint rear window blank.
************* END OF SECTION **************

G 203 GRAPHICS AND LETTERING

Page 4 126

Item IX. 5.



Scope of Work
Date

2/16/2023

Estimate #

R51M16GW

Customer Name / Address

ETR

ETR LLC

Item Description

G203-1 Produce and install graphics on cab only per customer approved layout.
************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
----<< BODY MOUNT & CHASSIS PREP >>----
************************************

F 105 REMOVE MODULE
F105-1 Unbolt and remove module and secure on a cart.
F105-2 Inspect mounting sill and notify sales of any issues.
F105-3 Old Chassis - Inflate tires.
F105-4 Old Chassis - Install temporary tail lights.
F105-5 Old Chassis - Vacuum out cab.
F105-6 Old Chassis - Close off all electrical penetrations in cab. Close out the pass thru to the cab

to prevent damage from the environment. Close out all holes in cab and cap fuel fill.
************* END OF SECTION **************

F 130 CHASSIS PREP & MODIFICATIONS
F130-1 Weigh new chassis (4-point) and record in critical process book. (Per QVM requirements)
F130-2 Verify old chassis length and outrigger locations - Layout new chassis for body mount.
F130-4 Install new isolators to outriggers with new Grade #8 fasteners - Type I (Torque bolts to

spec, apply torque seal, and sign off in critical process book per QVM requirements)
F130-5 Prepare the back of the cab - Type I
F130-6 Prep for fuel fill.
F130-7 Prep for DEF fill.
F130-8 Fab and weld on frame extensions to rear.

> EXHAUST
F130-18 Terminate exhaust at outer edge of body

************* END OF SECTION **************

F 138 SUSPENSION MODIFICATIONS
F138-1 Install Liquid Spring suspension system (Torque bolts to spec, apply torque seal, and sign

off in critical process book per QVM requirements)
F138-2 Install Liquid Spring electrical harnesses and components.

************* END OF SECTION **************

F 120 MOUNT MODULE
F120-1 Type I - Set mod on chassis and bolt in place using new mounting fasteners (grade #8

fasteners) (Torque bolts to spec, apply torque seal, and sign off in critical process book per
QVM requirements)

Page 5 127

Item IX. 5.



Scope of Work
Date

2/16/2023

Estimate #

R51M16GW

Customer Name / Address

ETR

ETR LLC

Item Description

************* END OF SECTION **************

************************************
----<< QUALITY CONTROL AND FINAL PREP >>-----
************************************

Q 190 ROAD TEST/WEIGHT
Q190-1 Road test vehicle both interstate and city roads with a technician in the rear testing

functions.
Q190-2 Apply fuel to vehicle to ensure proper filling without hesitation of spillage.
Q190-3 Vehicle will be weighed for tag and registration.
Q190-4 Perform 4-point weight of completed unit for weight analysis and payload. (Per QVM and

CAAS requirements)
************* END OF SECTION **************

Q 191 QUALITY CONTROL
Q191-1 The vehicle will be inspected and any workmanship issues found will be corrected.

************* END OF SECTION **************

D 192 DETAIL AND FINAL PREP
D192-1 The vehicle will get front end alignment.
D192-2 The complete vehicle will be detailed prior to customer inspection.
D192-3 Install all final labels "No Smoking" "Fasten Seat Belts" "ETR Final Vehicle Plate"

"FMVSS Label" "CAAS Certification Label"
D192-4 All owners and equipment manuals are to be put in the cab of vehicle.
D192-5 All take-off parts including battery and cot hardware shall be returned to customer.

************* END OF SECTION **************

Q 193 CUSTOMER INSPECTION
Q193-1 The vehicle will be inspected with customer and any workmanship issues or discrepancies

found will be corrected.
************* END OF SECTION **************

S 194 PICKUP / DELIVERY OF UNITS
S194-1 Customer will be responsible for all transport of unit - Including old chassis.

************* END OF SECTION **************

Page 6 128

Item IX. 5.



129

Item IX. 5.



Staff Report 
Subject: Fiscal Agent Designation and Acceptance Agreement for Family 

Connection 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk  

Department:  Administration  

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve the Fiscal Agent Designation and 

Acceptance Agreement for Family Connection 

 

Summary Recommendation: 

Each year in the past, the County has been requested to act as the fiscal agent for Family 

Connections.  We act as fiscal agent and contract with the state for the grant which funds 

Family Connections. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

1. This agreement covers the period of 7/1/2023 – 6/30/2024 

2. The county will continue to serve as Fiscal Agent for Family Connections 

into FY24. 

3. The State will provide a new contract for FY24 when available for 

consideration of approval by the Board of Commissioners 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Fiscal Agent Designation and Acceptance Agreement 

2. Do not approve the Fiscal Agent Designation and Acceptance Agreement 

3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative #1  

 

Other Alternatives: N/A 

 

Department Review: Administration 

 

Funding Source: Funding is based on the amount of the State Grant.  No match is 

required. 

 

Attachments: 

1. Fiscal Agent Designation and Acceptance Agreement 

130

Item IX. 6.



EXAMPLE ONLY—DO NOT SIGN 
 

FISCAL AGENT DESIGNATION AND ACCEPTANCE AGREEMENT FY 2024 
 

Annex A Part 5 

EXAMPLE ONLY—DO NOT SIGN 
 

Fiscal Agent Designation and Acceptance Agreement  COUNTY:__________________ 

 
The ________________________________________________________________agrees to serve 

legal name of agency or board 

 
as the Fiscal Agent for the_________________________________________________________ 

name of Georgia Family Connection Collaborative 

 
for the period of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024. 

The Fiscal Agent certifies they 1) understand this is a 12 month commitment,  2) understand expenses 
are reimbursable on a quarterly basis, 3) agree to receive all financial correspondence and payments 
relating to the funds, and make all records available for any required financial audit, 4) have appropriate 
accounting and financial systems to document costs incurred and claims made and 5) agree the local 
Family Connection Collaborative governing body is the body responsible for all decisions associated with 
budgeting of these funds, but will ensure such decisions shall be in compliance with the Fiscal Agent’s 
own policies and procedures. 
 

EXAMPLE ONLY DO NOT SIGN 

 
Family Connection Collaborative Chairperson: 
 
______________________________________ 

(Signature in ink) 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 

(Print Name in Block Letters) 
 
 
 
 
Date:__________________________________ 
 
 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Family Connection Coordinator: 
 
______________________________________ 

(Signature in ink) 
 
______________________________________ 

(Print Name in Block Letters) 
 
Date:__________________________________ 
 

 
Fiscal Agent: 
 
 
Fiscal Agent’s fiscal year end date 
(month and day): ______________________ 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 

(Signature of agency representative legally 
responsible to enter into contract. 

Signature in ink) 
 
______________________________________ 

(Print Name in Block Letters) 
 
Title:__________________________________ 

(Print Title in Block Letters) 
 
Date:__________________________________ 

 131

Item IX. 6.



Staff Report 
 

Subject:    Network Connectivity to Clyo Fire Station and Community Center 

Author:  Chris Reed, I.T. Director 

Department:  Information Technology 

Meeting Date: 03-07-2023  

Item Description: Consideration to approve a service agreement with Planters 
Communications to provide a Layer 2 fiber Network to the Clyo Fire Station and Community 
Center. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Taking direction from the 16 May 2022 Board of Commissioners discussion on the lack of 
broadband internet access in the Clyo and other areas of the county, we asked Planters to 
provide us with a quote for a 1 Gig Layer 2 fiber Network to the Clyo Fire station which is 
currently connected by DSL from Windstream. During the January 3rd Board meeting we were 
asked to look into options to reduce the cost for this solution and to bring it back to the Board. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

With the latest direction from the Board and needs of the county we met with Planters to work 
on cost analysis of this project and also added the Clyo Community Center to the project. By 
changing the route to get to Clyo, Planters will have the ability to serve 308 houses that are 
currently underserved. Between the route change and additional opportunities for other 
customers Planters new cost to the county would be $350,000 for the mainline buildout. There 
will also be a service credit on the 2 sites for 7 years saving the county $50,400 in monthly 
reoccurring cost. If the county chooses not to take the service credit the upfront buildout cost 
can be reduced to $299,600. The total savings from the original proposal is $105,400. 
 
Planters also provided us with options for additional fiber routes to support more underserved 
residents in the Clyo area. Currently the county does not have network needs in these areas 
but the map and cost data is included for your consideration. 
 
 Fiber construction cost has risen dramatically over the last year and is expected to continue 
rising over the next few years. If the board chooses to approve this service agreement and 
pay for construction cost into Clyo then Planters will be able to offer services to residents in 
the area and along the route taken to get to Clyo. This will greatly benefit the residents of the 
county by offering options and creating competition in a monopolized market region. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Board approval of the Services Agreement with Planters with upfront cost of $299,600 with 
monthly reoccurring cost of $300 per site. 

2. Board approval of the Services Agreement with Planters with upfront cost of $350,000 with 
no monthly reoccurring cost per site for 7 years. 

3. Do not approve the Services Agreement with Planters. 
 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  

Other Alternatives:  

1. Board consideration and direction for additional fiber routes in the Clyo area. 

2. Postpone and budget project for next budget year. 
132

Item X. 1.



 

Department Review: Information Technology / County Manager / Fire Chief 
 

Funding Source: 

Total: Funding for this was not planned for and budgeted in this year’s budget and would 
require a budget amendment. 
 

Attachments: 

1. Effingham Fiber Route to Clyo (Totals).pdf 

2. Effingham Fiber Route to Clyo (Map).pdf 

3. Additional Effingham Fiber Routes (Totals).pdf 

4. Additional Effingham Fiber Routes (Map).pdf  

5. Planters Contract (SITE 28).pdf (original contract from Jan 2023) 

133

Item X. 1.



Planters Communications, LLC 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 

 

Page 1 of 6 

1. Provision of Services.  Subject to all terms and conditions of this Agreement: a. 
Planters Communications, LLC (“PCOM”) shall provide to the Customer those 
Services specified in the Service Order incorporated herein (“Services”), 
commencing upon the date PCOM notifies Customer that the Services are available 
for Customer’s use (“Customer Acceptance Date”) and continuing throughout the 
Term of this Agreement. b. Customer shall pay for Services as provided in the Service 
Order upon invoice from PCOM.  PCOM may, at its election, provide any additional 
services required for installation or use of Services, and Customer agrees to pay all 
rates and charges for such additional services upon invoice from PCOM. 
 
2. Term.  The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence as of the date 
PCOM accepts Customer’s offer to purchase Service(s) as specified in Section 3 
below (the “Effective Date”), and shall continue for the duration of time set forth in 
the Service Order (the "Initial Term"), subject to renewal as set forth herein. Upon 
the expiration of the Initial Term or any renewal term, this Agreement shall 
automatically revert to a Month-to-month basis, unless a party has delivered to the 
other party written notice to the contrary at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of 
the term. If no term is specified on the Service Order, the Initial Term of this 
Agreement shall be deemed to be thirty (30) days. 
 
3. Service Ordering. Customer shall offer to purchase Service(s) by executing 
completed Service Order(s). PCOM shall be deemed to have accepted such offer 
upon PCOM's execution thereof.  
 
4. Upgrades to Service Orders. a. From time to time during the Term, Customer may 
elect to purchase additional quantities of, or functionally enhanced versions of, Services 
(“Upgrades”).  In such event, at Customer's election, and subject to PCOM's approval and 
acceptance thereof, Customer may upgrade the Service Order through execution of an 
"Upgrade Service Order" which sets forth, in addition to any other information required 
to be set forth in a Service Order, the functionally enhanced versions of Services to be 
provided thereunder (or where Customer seeks additional quantities of existing Services, 
the total amount of such Services to be provided to Customer). b. Upon PCOM's 
execution of an Upgrade Service Order, such Upgrade Service Order shall be deemed to 
terminate the prior Service Order without liability to Customer for any early 
termination charges. Customer acknowledge  that Customer shall remain liable for 
all charges associated with Services actually provided during the term of such 
terminated Service Order (including any charges for additional services required for 
installation or use of such Services). 
 
5. Credit Approval and Deposits. Customer will provide PCOM with credit 
information regarding Customer as requested, and delivery of Services is expressly 
made subject to credit approval. PCOM may require Customer to make a deposit 
(which will not exceed Customer's estimated charges for all Services for two months) 
as a condition to PCOM's acceptance of the Service Order, or as a condition to 
PCOM's continuation of Services.  The deposit will be held by PCOM as security for 
payment of Customer's charges, and, in PCOM's sole discretion, may be applied 
against any past-due charge (and Customer may be required to replenish such 
deposit). Upon termination of the Agreement, the amount of the deposit then 
remaining will be credited to Customer's account and any remaining credit balance 
(if any) will be refunded to Customer.  Customer shall not receive the benefit of any 
interest earned on said deposit. 
  
6. Rates and Charges.  Rates and charges for Service(s) shall be set forth in the 
Service Order. Charges for additional services required for installation or use of such 
Service(s) shall be at PCOM's then-current charges for same.  Billing to Customer for 
recurring charges with respect to a given Service(s) will commence on the Customer 
Acceptance Date for such Service(s). All other charges for Services or additional 
Services may be billed at the times designated by PCOM. 
                                                                                        
7. Payment.  PCOM shall invoice Customer on a monthly basis; provided, however, 
that PCOM may invoice Customer for nonrecurring charges for the Services, or for 
additional services, at any time. Billings for partial months are prorated based on a 
calendar month. Customer shall pay all amounts set forth on an invoice no later than 
the due date set forth thereon or, if no due date is set forth thereon, within thirty 
(30) days after the date of invoice. Past due amounts bear interest at a rate of 1.5% 
per month (or the highest rate allowed by law, whichever is less) beginning from the 
date first due until paid in full. Customer agrees to pay PCOM its reasonable expenses, 
including attorney and collection agency fees, incurred in enforcing PCOM's rights 
under the Agreement.   

 

8. Disputed Invoices.  In the event Customer disputes any portion of a PCOM invoice, 
Customer shall pay the undisputed portion of the invoice by the date the same is 
due, and shall submit to PCOM a written claim for the disputed amount, which sets 
forth with specificity Customer's grounds for such dispute. All claims must be 
submitted to PCOM within sixty (60) days of receipt of the invoice for those Services.  
Customer waives the right to dispute any charges not disputed within such sixty (60) 
day period.  In the event that the dispute is resolved against Customer, Customer 
shall pay such amounts plus interest at the rate referenced in, and calculated in 
accordance with, Section 7 above. 

 
9. Taxes.  Customer will be responsible for all applicable taxes, fees, duties, charges, 
or regulatory surcharges that arise in any jurisdiction on the provision, sale or use of 
the Service(s) and required by applicable law to be passed through to Customer, 
including, value added, consumption, sales, use, gross receipts, excise, access, 
bypass, franchise or other taxes or federal or state universal services charges 
(collectively, “Applicable Taxes”).  If a Party is entitled to an exemption from any 
Applicable Taxes, such Party shall be responsible for presenting the other Party with 
a valid exemption certificate.  Both Parties will give effect to any such valid 
exemption certificate to the extent it applies to any Service(s) billed by a Party to the 
other Party. 
 
10. Customer's Use of Service. Customer shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless 
PCOM from and against any and all costs, losses, harm or damages (including without 
limitation reasonable attorney's fees) arising out of or relating to Customer's use of 
the Services, including claims resulting from use of the Services by Customer's end 
users and/or the content of any communications transmitted via the Service(s).  
Customer shall not cause or permit Customer or Customer's end users to use the 
Services: (i) to violate, or in connection with any act or omission which violates, any 
law, rule, regulation or policy of any government authority; (ii) for any unlawful, 
immoral, invasive, infringing, harassing, defamatory, fraudulent, or obscene 
purpose; or (iii) in a manner that violates PCOM's then-current publicly available 
policies regarding acceptable use of Service(s). Customer shall pay all charges arising 
from all use of the Services by Customer’s end users, without regard to whether such 
use was authorized by Customer. 
 
11. Force Majeure. If either Party shall be prevented from performing any portion 
of the Agreement (except obligations for the payment of money) by causes beyond 
its control, including without limitation labor disputes, civil commotion, war, 
governmental regulations or controls, inability to obtain materials or service(s), 
casualty to or failure of equipment, software or communications services, or acts of 
God, such party shall be excused from the performance for the period of the delay 
and the time of such party’s performance shall be extended for a period of time 
equal to the duration of the conditions causing such delay.  
 
12. Suspension of Service(s). a. PCOM may suspend Service(s) without liability if 
Customer fails to pay a past due balance for charges (other than amounts disputed 
in accordance with Section 8 above) within seven (7) business days after Customer's 
receipt of written notice from PCOM of planned suspension of Services, and may 
continue such suspension until all amounts due are paid in full and Customer has 
satisfied any applicable credit or deposit requirements of PCOM, or PCOM 
terminates the applicable Service(s) or the Agreement pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. b. PCOM may immediately suspend Service(s) without liability if 
Customer violates its obligations under Section 10 above or under the Nondisclosure 
provisions of this Agreement, and may continue such suspension until any such 
violation has been cured to the reasonable satisfaction of PCOM, or until PCOM 
terminates the applicable Service(s), the Service Order or the Agreement pursuant 
to the terms of this Agreement. 
 
13.  LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. a. Any other provision of the Agreement to the 
contrary notwithstanding, the aggregate liability of PCOM to Customer for any losses 
or damage, whether direct or indirect, arising out of or in connection with the 
Agreement or the use of any Services or Facilities by Customer or any Customer end 
user, including without limitation any cause of action sounding in contract, tort or 
strict liability, shall be limited to actual, direct damages incurred but in no event shall 
exceed an amount equal to the proportionate fixed monthly charge paid to PCOM 
by Customer for the Service(s) which gave rise to the liability during the period of 
time in which the act or omission giving rise to such liability occurred. b. Except for 
Customer's indemnification obligations under the Agreement, neither party shall be 
liable to the other party for lost profits or other consequential damages, special 
damages, general damages, incidental damages, indirect damages, or exemplary or 

134

Item X. 1.



Planters Communications, LLC 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 

 

Page 2 of 6 

punitive damages, cover damages, or for any claims against such other party by any 
third party, even if such party was advised of the possibility of same.  
 
14. DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES. PCOM MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR 
WARRANTIES TO CUSTOMER CONCERNING ANY SERVICES OR FACILITIES, AND PCOM 
HEREBY EXCLUDES AND DISCLAIMS, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY AND ALL 
WARRANTIES NOT EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER EXPRESS 
OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED 
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND 
ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARISING FROM COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, 
COURSE OF DEALING, OR FROM USAGE OF THE TRADE. CUSTOMER ACKNOWLEGES 
PCOM HAS NOT REPRESENTED OR WARRANTED THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE 
UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR-FREE. 
 
15. Assignment. Customer shall not assign, transfer, or dispose of this Agreement or 
any of its rights or obligations hereunder without prior written consent of PCOM, 
which shall not be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that Customer may 
assign or transfer this Agreement in the event of reorganization, including a merger 
or sale of substantially all of its assets, without the consent of PCOM.  

 
16. Notice.  Any notice required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be (a) in 
writing, (b) effective upon receipt, and (c) delivered by one of the following means: 
(i) by personal delivery; (ii) by prepaid, overnight package delivery or courier service; 
or (iii) by the United States Postal Service, first class, certified mail, return receipt 
requested, postage prepaid.  All notices given under the Agreement shall be 
addressed to the individuals identified on the Service Order (at the address 
designated thereon) or to such other addresses of which the parties have been 
advised in writing by any of the above-described means.  
 
17. Governing Law.  This Agreement and the legal relations between the Parties shall 
be governed by the State of Georgia, without regard to Georgia’s conflict of law 
principles, and the parties agree that any appropriate state or district court located 
in Fulton County, Georgia, shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any case or 
controversy arising hereunder, and Customer hereby consents to the personal 
jurisdiction of all such courts over Customer. 
 
18. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including without limitation the Service 
Order, Supplement(s), and these General Terms and Conditions, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes all prior understandings and agreements, and, except as provided 
herein, may not be amended, modified or altered except by a written instrument 
duly executed by the parties.  
 
19. Severability. Any provision of the Agreement held or determined by a court (or 
other legal authority) of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable 
in any jurisdiction shall be deemed separate, distinct and independent, and shall be 
ineffective only to the extent of such holding or determination without (i) 
invalidating the remaining provisions of the Agreement in that jurisdiction or (ii) 
affecting the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
20. Relationship of Parties.  Nothing in the Agreement shall be construed as creating 
a joint venture or partnership between the Parties.  Neither Party has or shall have 
any authority to bind, assume any obligation for or incur any debt on behalf of the 
other party in any respect whatsoever. 
 
This Network Access Supplement (“Supplement”) is hereby made a part of the 
Agreement between Planters Communications, LLC (“PCOM”) and Customer dated 
 
 ____________________________________, which shall govern the provision of 
the Services specified in the Service Order to be provided to Customer by PCOM. 
 

NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 
 
1. Customer Premises, PCOM Facilities.  a. Customer shall allow PCOM access to the 
location(s) occupied by Customer, or Customer’s end users, to which Services are 
delivered (“Customer Premises”) to the extent reasonably determined by PCOM for 
the installation, inspection and scheduled or emergency maintenance of Services or 
Facilities relating to the Services. (“Facilities” are the real or personal property 
owned or leased by PCOM and used to deliver Services, including, without limitation, 
terminal and other equipment, wires, lines, ports, routers, switches, channel service 
units, data service units, cabinets, racks, and private rooms.) PCOM shall notify 

Customer two (2) business days in advance of any regularly scheduled maintenance 
that will require access to the Customer Premises. Customer will be responsible for 
providing and maintaining, at its own expense, the level of power, heating and air 
conditioning necessary to maintain the proper environment for the Facilities on the 
Customer Premises, and shall ensure that Customer Premises are secure and safe 
from hazards to the Facilities or to PCOM's employees, agents and contractors. b. 
Title to all Facilities shall remain with PCOM. PCOM will provide and maintain the 
Facilities in good working order. Customer shall not, and shall not permit others to, 
without the prior written consent of PCOM (i) rearrange, disconnect, remove, 
attempt to repair, or otherwise tamper with any Facilities, (ii) use any Facilities for 
any purpose other than that for which PCOM provides them, or (iii) take any action 
that causes the imposition of any lien or encumbrance on the Facilities. Anything in 
the Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event will PCOM be liable to 
Customer, or any other person, for interruption of Services or for any other loss, cost 
or damage caused or related to improper use or maintenance of the Facilities by 
Customer or third parties provided access to the Facilities by Customer in violation 
of this Section. Customer agrees (which agreement shall survive the expiration, 
termination or cancellation of the Service Order) to allow PCOM to remove the 
Facilities from the Customer Premises (1) after termination, expiration or 
cancellation of the Services in connection with which the Facilities were used, and 
(2) for maintenance, repair, replacement or otherwise as PCOM may determine is 
necessary or desirable from time to time. c. Customer shall defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless PCOM, and its successors and assigns, against any and all claims, 
liability, loss, damage, or harm (including without limitation reasonable legal fees) 
suffered by PCOM to the extent that the same arise from Customer's negligence, 
willful misconduct or failure to perform its obligations under this Section, including 
without limitation any damage to, or loss of, the Facilities resulting therefrom. 
 
2. Customer-Provided Equipment. PCOM may install certain Customer-provided 
communications equipment at the request of Customer, but PCOM shall not be 
responsible for the operation or maintenance of any such equipment. PCOM shall 
have no liability whatsoever with respect to the configuration, management, 
performance or any other issue relating to such equipment. 
 
3. Use of PCOM Marks.  Customer shall not use any trademarks, service marks, logos 
or trade names of PCOM (the "PCOM Marks") in any manner whatsoever without 
PCOM's express advance written consent.  Customer shall not issue any press 
release, announcement or public statement with respect to the Agreement or PCOM 
without PCOM's express advance written consent. Customer agrees that it shall only 
use PCOM Marks in strict compliance with PCOM's instructions. Customer shall 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless PCOM from and against any and all costs, 
losses, harm or damages (including without limitation reasonable attorney's fees) 
arising from or in connection with Customer's breach of this Section. PCOM may 
revoke any consent granted to Customer to use PCOM Marks, or any other approval 
granted under this Section at any time and for any reason. Customer's breach of this 
Section shall be a material breach of the Agreement constituting cause for 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
4. Nondisclosure.  a. The parties agree that during the Term of this Agreement as 
defined in the General Terms and Conditions, a party may receive (the "Receiving 
Party") Proprietary Information (as hereinafter defined) of the other party (the 
"Disclosing Party"), and that the Receiving Party shall maintain such information in 
confidence and not disclose Proprietary Information to any third party or use for 
any purpose whatsoever, except to the extent required for such party's 
performance under the Agreement. b. The parties acknowledge that PCOM is 
subject to legal requirements of disclosure pursuant to Georgia law, including 
without limitation those legal requirements set forth at Chapter 18 of Title 50 of 
the Official Code of Georgia Annotated.  If a Receiving Party is requested (including 
without limitation by virtue of a request for information under the Georgia Open 
Records Act) or required or becomes legally compelled (by deposition, 
interrogatories, subpoena, civil investigative demand, or similar process) to disclose 
any Proprietary Information of the other party, such Receiving Party shall provide 
the Disclosing Party with prompt notice of such request(s), requirements or 
compulsions so that such Disclosing Party may seek an appropriate protective 
order or other appropriate limitation on such disclosure from an appropriate court 
or regulatory authority of competent jurisdiction. The parties further agree that, 
anything in the Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, such Receiving Party's 
compliance with such request, requirement or compulsion shall not be deemed a 
breach of the Agreement. c. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Proprietary 
Information" shall mean all technical, economic, business, engineering or other 
confidential information (including Trade Secrets as defined by the Georgia 
Uniform Trade Secrets act, as amended). Proprietary Information shall not include 135

Item X. 1.



Planters Communications, LLC 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 

 

Page 3 of 6 

any information for which the Receiving Party can prove:  (i) is, or becomes, public 
through no act or failure to act of the Receiving Party;  (ii) is publicly disclosed by 
the proprietor thereof;  (iii) is lawfully obtained without obligations of 
confidentiality by the Receiving Party from a third party after reasonable inquiry 
regarding the authority of such third party to possess and divulge the same;  (iv) is 
independently developed by the Receiving Party from sources, or through persons, 
that the Receiving Party can demonstrate had no access to Confidential 
Information of the Disclosing Party; or  (v) is lawfully known by the Receiving Party 
at the time of disclosure other than by reason of discussions with or disclosures by 
the Disclosing Party. d. The Receiving Party acknowledge that, upon the breach or 
threatened breach by the Receiving Party of any provision contained in this 
Section, the Disclosing Party will be without an adequate remedy at law, and would 
suffer or be threatened with irreparable injury, and that the Receiving Party shall 
have the right to obtain immediate injunctive relief against the Receiving Party, in 
addition to all other remedies hereunder, in equity and at law. This Section shall 
survive expiration or termination of the Agreement for any reason whatsoever, and 
the Receiving Party's obligations under this Section shall continue (i) with respect 
to Proprietary information of the Disclosing Party which also constitutes "trade 
secrets", as that term is defined by applicable law, until such time as such 
information no longer constitutes a trade secret due to no fault of the Receiving 
Party, and (ii) with respect to all other Proprietary Information, for a period of 
eighteen (18) months after the expiration or termination of the Agreement. 
 
5. Termination by PCOM.  PCOM may, by sending written notice of termination to 
Customer with termination effective as of the date such notice is given, terminate 
the Agreement, all without liability, in the event that: a. any amounts due and 
owing by Customer (other than amounts disputed in accordance with Section 8 of 
the General Terms and Conditions) remain unpaid sixty (60) days after the date 
such amounts were first due; b. Customer (i) suspends its business operations; (ii) 
becomes insolvent, (iii) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or 
(iv) files (or has filed against it) a petition in bankruptcy; c. Customer's use of 
Services materially exceeds Customer's credit limit and/or then-current deposit 
balance, unless (i) within five (5) business days' written notice thereof by PCOM, 
Customer provides adequate security for payment for Services, or (ii) prior to 
materially exceeding such credit limit, Customer has provided to PCOM adequate 
security for payment for Services; d. anything in this Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, Customer breaches Section 10 of the General Terms and 
Conditions, or Customer's end users use Service(s) in a manner described at 
subsection (i), (ii), or (iii) of Section 10 of the General Terms and Conditions, more 
than three (3) times in any one hundred eighty (180) day period during the term 
applicable to such Services; e. PCOM is ordered, by a federal, state or local 
governmental entity, regulatory body or court of competent jurisdiction, to cease 
providing Service(s); or f. changes in applicable law, regulation, decision, rule or 
order materially increase the costs to PCOM of, or materially affects other terms of 
PCOM's delivery of Service(s), and PCOM and Customer are unable to reach 
agreement respecting new rates, terms and/ or conditions regarding such 
Service(s) within thirty (30) days after PCOM's delivery of written notice requesting 
renegotiation thereof. 
 
6. Termination by Either Party. In addition to any other right of a party to 
terminate the Agreement, a party may, by sending written notice of termination to 
the breaching party with termination effective as of the date such notice is given, 
terminate the Agreement in the event such party believes the other party has 
committed a material breach of any obligation undertaken in the Agreement, 
provided that such non-breaching party has first delivered written notice of such 
breach to the other party, and (i) if the breach arises other than under Sections 1, 7 
or 10 of the General Terms and Conditions or Section 4 of this Supplement , thirty 
(30) calendar days have passed since receipt of said notice and the breaching party 
has not cured such breach, (ii) if the breach arises under Sections 1, 7 or 10 of the 
General Terms and Conditions or Section 4 of this Supplement, five (5) calendar 

days have passed since receipt of said notice and the breaching party has not cured 
such breach.  
 
7. Termination by Customer.  a. Customer may terminate the Agreement prior to 
the end of the Term therefor without payment of any applicable termination 
charge if: (i) any Service is Unavailable (as defined below) on two or more separate 
occasions of more than three (3) hours each in any thirty (30) day period, or (ii) 
such Service is Unavailable for more than twelve (12) hours (measured in the 
aggregate) at any time within any one hundred and twenty (120) day period. For 
purposes of the foregoing, "Unavailable" shall mean a total interruption in any 
Service specified in the Service Order, except for any interruption, which is an 
Excused Outage.  The duration of any interruption will commence when PCOM first 
detects or is made aware of such interruption of a Service and will end when the 
Service first ceases to be fully interrupted.  Customer must exercise its right to 
terminate the Agreement under this Section, in writing, within thirty (30) days after 
the occurrence, which gave rise to a right of termination hereunder. "Excused 
Outage" means an interruption, outage, unavailability, delay in provision of, or 
other degradation of, Service caused by (a) scheduled maintenance events of which 
Customer receives prior notice, (b) actions or inactions of Customer or Customer's 
end users, or failure of Customer-provided power or equipment, or (c) an event of 
force majeure as defined in Section 11 of the General Terms and Conditions.  b. In 
addition to any other right of Customer to terminate the Agreement hereunder, 
Customer may terminate the Agreement prior to the end of the Term thereof upon 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to PCOM, subject to payment to PCOM, in 
addition to any other charges incurred by such Customer in connection with such 
Service Order, of the Termination Charge set forth in Section 9 below. 
 
8. Effect of Termination. Upon termination or expiration of the Agreement for any 
cause whatsoever: (a) all obligations of PCOM under the Agreement shall 
immediately terminate; provided, however that each party's respective obligations 
under Sections 4 hereof and Customer's defense and indemnification obligations 
shall survive the termination or expiration of the Agreement; and (b) all payment 
obligations of Customer under the Agreement with respect to such terminated 
Service(s) (including any obligations to pay a Termination Charge in connection 
therewith), shall accrue through the date of such termination and shall become 
immediately due and payable. 
 
9. Termination Charge.  Upon termination of the Agreement by PCOM pursuant to 
Sections 5(a), 5(b), 5(c), 5(d) or 6 hereof, or by Customer for any reason other than 
pursuant to Sections 6 or 7(a) hereof, PCOM may, in addition to all other remedies 
that may be available to PCOM at law or in equity, assess and collect from 
Customer, and Customer shall pay, a Termination Charge equal to the sum of (i) all 
credits or waivers of charges applied to Customer's account from the Effective Date 
to the date of termination; and (ii) an amount equal to one-hundred percent  
(100%) of the contracted rate stipulated on the Service Order for month’s 1-12 of 
the then-current Term, plus an amount equal to seventy five percent  (75%) of the 
contracted rate stipulated on the Service Order for month’s 13-24 of the then-
current Term, plus an amount equal to fifty percent  (50%) of the contracted rate 
stipulated on the Service Order for month’s 25-48 of the then-current Term, plus 
an amount equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the contracted rate stipulated on 
the Service Order for each month remaining in the then-current Term, as liquidated 
damages and not as a penalty. 
 
10. Effect of Tariffs.  With respect to those Service(s) offered under PCOM’s 
Tariff(s), the Agreement is subject to and controlled by the provisions of the Tariff, 
and any changes to said Tariff that may be made from time to time.  Such Tariff 
provisions and changes shall control over any conflicting provisions of this 
Agreement. “Tariff(s)” means the tariff or tariffs covering some or all of the 
Service(s) filed by PCOM with the Georgia Public Service Commission or other 
similar regulatory bodies from time to time and in effect during the Term of this 
Agreement.

 
  

136

Item X. 1.



Planters Communications, LLC 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 

 

Page 4 of 6 

SERVICE ORDER 12152022B 

TO THE 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT  

Between  

PLANTERS COMMUNICTIONS, LLC (“PROVIDER”) 

And 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  (“CUSTOMER”)  

 
This Service Order is executed on ____________________ (“Service Order Effective Date”) and incorporates the General 
Terms And Conditions w/Network Access Supplement (“Agreement”) dated _________________________ by and between 
Provider and Customer.  Except as specifically modified herein, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 

CUSTOMER INFORMATION: 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Order Type: New 

Term:  75 Months 

Prepared for: Chris Reed 

Invoicing Address: ______________________________________________________________________________  

Invoicing Special Instructions:  Attn:  ________________________________________________________________  

Customer Federal Tax ID#:  _______________________________________________________________________  

1. SITE-SPECIFIC INFORMATION 

Service Location 1 (Address):   ____ _ 5624 Ga Hwy 119 Clyo Ga _______ 

Service Location Latitude/Longitude or Service Location Name (for purposes of identification):                      

Service Location 2 (Address):   _______ ___________________________ 

Service Location Latitude/Longitude or Service Location Name (for purposes of identification):                      

Service Location Special Instructions:  

Contact Information.  To facilitate communication the following information is provided as a convenience and may be 
updated at any time without affecting the enforceability of the terms and conditions herein: 

Contact Information 

Customer Information Provider Information 

Customer Name: Effingham Co. Board of Comm Provider Name: Planters Communications, LLC 

Street Address: 601 North Laurel Street Street Address: 100 Ogeechee Street 

Contact: Chris Reed Contact: Loren Barnhart 

City/State/Zip: Springfield GA 31329 City/State/Zip: Newington, Georgia 30446 

Business Phone Number: 912-754-8100 Business Phone Number: (912) 857-2070 

Business Fax Number:912-754-8404 Business Fax Number: (912) 857-3704 

Email Address: creed@effignhamcounty.org Email Address: loren.barnhart@planters.net 

2. SERVICES.    Provider shall provide the following Services and equipment and Customer agrees to pay the fees and 
charges set forth below: 

Prepared By: 

Loren Barnhart 

912-329-2447 

Loren.barnhart@planters.net 
137

Item X. 1.

mailto:loren.barnhart@planters.net


Planters Communications, LLC 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 

 

Page 5 of 6 

3. RATE SCHEDULE.    The basis of the fees and charges associated with the services set forth below are presented as a 
bundled service: 

 Contract Term:  7yr 

 One-Time setup Charge:  (NRC) Quantity Price 
 Construction Fee:   1 $405,000 

 Bandwidth Services Quantity Unit Price Price 

 Location  28  (1GIG/1GIG) Local Network   

(LAN-Layer 2) UNMETERED    

     

28 ECFR Station 5624 Ga Hwy 119 Clyo Ga 1 $300 $300 

     

     

 Total Monthly Recurring Services Charges*     $300 

4. SERVICE PERIOD.  The initial Service Period of this Service Order shall begin on the Customer Acceptance Date and shall 
continue for a period of 75 months (“Initial Term”).  Upon expiration of the Initial Term, this Service Order shall automatically 
renew on a month-to-month basis until either Party terminates this Agreement by giving thirty (30) days prior written notice 
to the other Party.  

5.   CONFIDENTIALITY.  Each party hereby agrees to keep confidential and not to disclose directly or indirectly to any third 
party, the terms of this Service Order or any other related Service Orders, except as may be required by law.  If any 
unauthorized disclosure is made by a Party to the Agreement and/or its agent or representative, the non-disclosing party 
shall be entitled to, among other damages arising from such unauthorized disclosure, injunctive relief, and the non-disclosing 
party shall have the option of terminating this Service Order, other related Service Orders and/or the Agreement. 

6. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  The terms and conditions of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect, except as modified 
by this Service Order.  Except for the terms governing indemnification and limitation of liability, in the event of any conflict 
between the provisions of this Service Order and the provisions of the Agreement, the provisions of this Service Order shall 
prevail.  All terms not otherwise defined herein will have the same meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement.  If this is 
marked as a “Change” order in Section 1 above, then this Service Order supersedes and replaces any and all other Service 
Orders, either oral or written, regarding the specific Service Locations.  This Service Order may not be amended except by 
a written agreement signed by both Parties.  The persons signing on behalf of their respective Party below represent that 
he/she has full authority to bind their respective Party to the terms and conditions of this Service Order.  This Service Order 
will not be binding upon either Party until signed by an authorized representative of each respective Party. 

  

138

Item X. 1.



Planters Communications, LLC 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS w/NETWORK ACCESS SUPPLEMENT 

 

Page 6 of 6 

NOW THEREFORE, the Parties agree to the terms and conditions included within this Service Order and hereby execute this 
Service Order by their duly authorized representatives, as of the Service Order Effective Date. 
 

PLANTERS COMMUNICATIONS, LLC: Business 
Name: 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Signature:  Signature:  

Name: Stephen Milner Name:  

Title: CEO Title:  

Date:  Date:  
 

139

Item X. 1.



HWY 119 N

ST
ILL

WE
LL

-C
LY

O 
RD

SISTE
RS FE

RRY RD

STILLWELL RD

INDIGO RD

MO
CK

 R
D

OL
D 

DI
XI

E H
W

Y

CLYO-SHAWNEE RD

CUBA
 RD

UNION SPRINGS RD

GA HWY 21

GA HWY 21N

LA
UR

EL
 TR

EE
 R

D

BETHANY RD

BERRYVILLE RD

EARLY ST

LONG BRIDGE RD

FA
IR

 ST

BENJAMIN-GNANN RD

KEIFFER RD

FRIENDSHIP RD

WYLLY
 RD

ARNSDORFF LP

GA HWY 119

HADDEN LAKE RD

EXLEY SPUR

TEAL DR

LOWER FERRY RD
WHITAKER RD

CLETUS GNANN RD

S ASH ST

REISER RD

N LAUREL ST

DIXIE DR

S LAUREL ST

LAUREL HILL RD

PRIESTER RD

N ASH ST

WALLACE DR

MARION AVE

GA HWY 21S

N OAK ST
N MAPLE STSTANDARD LN

MORGAN CIR

W THIRD ST

SISTERS FE
RRY RD E

LOG LANDING RD

JOSIAH MORGAN RD

KIEFFER HILL RD

WYLES RD

HALF MOON RD

ANGUS EXLEY RD

LEHIGH CIR

WILSON RD

SPRINGFIELD-EGYPT RD

E FIRST ST

RE
ED

SV
ILL

E R
D

HIGHBLUFF RD

ASH ST EXT

OLD GA HWY 21

McCALL RD

LURA RD

CHURCH RD

E SECOND ST

BARK DR

S CEDAR ST

INDIGO SPUR

GORDON AVE

E THIRD ST

SPRING HILL RD

LAKE DR

DOVE LN

GARDEN LN

BURKE DR

HARVEST D
R

LOG LANDING DR

WOOD DUCK WAY

JOHNSON RD

FAY STMARY ST

GA HWY 21

Effingham Fiber Route to Clyo

140

Item X. 1.



141

Item X. 1.



142

Item X. 1.



HWY 119 N

ST
ILL

WE
LL

-C
LY

O 
RD

OLD DIXIE HWY
GA HWY 21N

CLYO-KILDARE RD

SISTE
RS FE

RRY RDCLYO-SHAWNEE RD

STILLWELL RD

INDIGO RD
GA HWY 21S

MO
CK

 R
D

GA HWY 21

CUBA RD

UNION SPRINGS RD

BENJAMIN-GNANN RD

HADDEN LAKE RD

REEDSVILLE RD

LONG BRIDGE RD

GA HWY 119

LA
UR

EL
 TR

EE
 R

D

BETHANY RD

BERRYVILLE RD

EARLY ST

MORGAN CIR

FA
IR

 ST

GREEN MORGAN SCHOOL RD

ARNSDORFF LP

KEIFFER RD

HIGHBLUFF RD

SPRINGFIELD-EGYPT RD

SISTE
RS FE

RRY R
D E

OLD TUSCULUM RD

FRIENDSHIP RD

CORINTH CHURCH RD

WYLLY
 RD

S LAUREL ST

SILVER HILL CH RD
TURKEY BRANCH RD

ARNSDORFF RD

MORGAN LN

EXLEY SPUR

LONG ACRE RD

GA HWY 275 / EBENEZER RD

OLLIE MORGAN RD

TEAL DR

LOWER FERRY RD

YUCHI LN

LOG LANDING RD

McCALL RD
WHITAKER RD

CLETUS GNANN RD

ASH ST EXT

S ASH ST

REISER RD

N LAUREL ST

DIXIE DR

LAUREL HILL RD

PRIESTER RD

N ASH STWALLACE DR

MARION AVE

N OAK ST

OL
D A

UG
US

TA
 RD

N MAPLE STSTANDARD LN

KIEFFER HILL RD

WYLES RD

THIRD ST EXT

HALF MOON RD

LEHIGH CIR

WILSON RD

?????

GOLD
 KI

ST
 RD

OLD GA HWY 21

LURA RD

KING BLVD

TUCKASEE-KING RD

TA
RA

 ST

GREENWOOD RD

VICKI LN

BARK DR

HAWK HAMMOCK DR

S CEDAR ST

INDIGO SPUR

CARROLL AVE

HICKORY CIR

J A EDWARDS RD

WILDER RD

CYPRESS POINT RD

WILLIAM WAY

SPRING HILL RD

DOVE LN

S RAILROAD AVE

GARDEN LN

MOSSY OAK DR

LYNWOOD LN

BU
RKE

 DR

LOG LANDING DR

WOOD DUCK WAY

JOHNSON RD

WHITE MYRTLE CT

FAY ST

Effingham Additional Fiber Routes

143

Item X. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Assemblage Permit (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to approve an Assemblage Permit for Effingham Branch NAACP to hold 
a Juneteenth Celebration Festival on Saturday, June 17, 2023 from 11:00AM to 6:00PM. Located at 434 
Wallace Drive. Map# 366 Parcel# 50 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval for an Assemblage Permit for Effingham Branch NAACP to hold a Juneteenth 
Celebration Festival from 11:00AM to 6:00PM on June 17, 2023. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The event will feature vendors, food trucks, live entertainment, games, and speakers. 

 Off-street parking is available on site. 

 Reasonable accommodation shall be allowed outside event times for set up and take down of the 

event. 

 The applicant wishes to use the outer grounds, first corridor walkway, bathrooms, and cafeteria, and 

have access to water and electricity.  

Alternatives  
1. Approve an Assemblage Permit for Effingham Branch NAACP to hold a Juneteenth Celebration Festival 
from 11:00AM to 6:00PM on June 17, 2023 
 
2. Deny an Assemblage Permit for Effingham Branch NAACP to hold a Juneteenth Celebration Festival 
from 11:00AM to 6:00PM on June 17, 2023.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Assemblage Permit Application 
  

 

144

Item XI. 1.



145

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Assemblage Permit (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to approve an Assemblage Permit for Arlene Baker to hold a “Bible 
Reading Marathon” from Friday, April 28, 2023 at 6:00PM to Thursday, May 4, 2023 at 12:00PM 
(approximately). Located at 700 North Pine Street. Map# S101 Parcel# 21 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval for an Assemblage Permit for Arlene Baker to hold a “Bible Reading Marathon” 
from Friday, April 28, 2023 at 6:00PM to Thursday, May 4, 2023 at 1:00PM. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The event will feature various speakers reading passages from the bible. 

 Off-street parking is available on site. 

 The readings will occur: 

- 4/28/2023: 6:00PM to 11:00PM 

- 4/29/2023: 6:00AM to 11:00PM 

- 4/30/2023: 2:00PM to 11:00PM 

- 5/1/2023: 6:00AM to 11:00PM 

- 5/2/2023: 6:00AM to 11:00PM 

- 5/3/2023: 6:00AM to 11:00PM 

- 5/4/2023: 8:30AM to 12:00PM (approximately, last reading at 11:30AM) 

 The applicant wishes set up a podium, portable P/A system, sign in table, and portable shelter.  

Alternatives  
1. Approve an Assemblage Permit for Arlene Baker to hold a “Bible Reading Marathon” from Friday, April 28, 
2023 at 6:00PM to Thursday, May 4, 2023 at 12:00PM (approximately). Located at 700 North Pine Street. 
 
2. Deny an Assemblage Permit for Arlene Baker to hold a “Bible Reading Marathon” from Friday, April 28, 
2023 at 6:00PM to Thursday, May 4, 2023 at 12:00PM (approximately). Located at 700 North Pine Street. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Assemblage Permit Application 
   2. Schedule of Readings & History 
  

 

146

Item XI. 2.



147

Item XI. 2.



148

Item XI. 2.



149

Item XI. 2.



150

Item XI. 2.



151

Item XI. 2.



152

Item XI. 2.



153

Item XI. 2.



154

Item XI. 2.



155

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Approval of Turnout Gear Purchase 

Author:  Clint Hodges, Fire Chief & EMA Director 

Department:  55-FIRE 

Meeting Date: 03/07/2023 

Item Description: Consideration for Purchase of Turnout Gear 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the purchase of 18 sets of turnout 

gear for the Fire Department. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

Turnout gear has a maximum lifespan of 10 years, per NFPA, however with heavy use, gear 

typically has a lifespan of closer to 6-7 years. This is the second half of the annual gear order.  

This purchase was publicly bid through a collective purchasing group, Sourcewell (Solicitation 

Number: RFP #032620). Similar collective purchasing groups have been used for several other 

Fire/Rescue purchases to streamline the bid process. 

 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended: Approval of the Purchase of Turnout Gear for Fire/Rescue 

 

Other Alternative(s): Deny  

 

Department Review: Fire, Purchasing 

 

Funding Source: Dept 55-FIRE, $60,602.00 

 

Attachments: Quote, RFP, RFP Details, Price Agreement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

156

Item XI. 3.



157

Item XI. 3.



158

Item XI. 3.



159

Item XI. 3.



160

Item XI. 3.



161

Item XI. 3.



162

Item XI. 3.



163

Item XI. 3.



164

Item XI. 3.



165

Item XI. 3.



166

Item XI. 3.



167

Item XI. 3.



168

Item XI. 3.



169

Item XI. 3.



170

Item XI. 3.



171

Item XI. 3.



172

Item XI. 3.



173

Item XI. 3.



174

Item XI. 3.



175

Item XI. 3.



176

Item XI. 3.



177

Item XI. 3.



178

Item XI. 3.



179

Item XI. 3.



180

Item XI. 3.



181

Item XI. 3.



182

Item XI. 3.



183

Item XI. 3.



184

Item XI. 3.



185

Item XI. 3.



186

Item XI. 3.



187

Item XI. 3.



188

Item XI. 3.



189

Item XI. 3.



190

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Request to approve Firefighter pay increase by $3.00 an hour.  
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date: March 7, 2023. 
Item Description: Request to approve Firefighter pay increase by $3.00 an hour. 
Summary Recommendation: 
Staff is requesting approval to increase Firefighter pay by $3.00 an hour to remain 
competitive with local municipalities and increase recruiting  
 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
The past three years have been trying times for all our first responders. Our Fire 
Department has done its best to keep staffing levels up, but we can no longer ignore the 
pay issue. The city of Rincon’s fire department starts their staff at $16.29/hour. After their 
first year, they receive a dollar increase in pay. This proposed pay increase will help keep 
us on par with Rincon, Pooler, Chatham County, Bryan County, etc. It will also help us be 
more attractive to future recruits in this extremely tough employment market. Our last two 
recruit schools have had low numbers. We are hoping this increase also helps with our 
retention of current experienced and dedicated firefighters.  
  
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1. Approve the pay increase for Firefighters. 
2. Disapprove the pay increase for Firefighters and provide guidance to staff. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1. 
 
Other Alternatives: None. 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Fire Chief, Finance, and Human Resources. 
 
Funding Source: No immediate impact on the current budget as these increases can be 
paid with the insurance tax premium, which was higher than what we originally 
budgeted—approximately $250K if Fire was fully staffed for the remaining four months of 
the budget year. There may need to be a budget amendment presented by Finance later.  
      

191

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval and publication of a new job description for Probate Court. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date: March 7, 2023. 
Item Description: Approval and publication of a new job description for Probate Court. 
Summary Recommendation: 
Staff is requesting authorization to approve and publish a new job description for Probate 
Court. 
 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
Chief Clerk/Associate Judge: the purpose of this position is to assist the Judge of Probate 
Court and to manage all court proceedings, as well as to oversee the daily operations of 
the Probate Court Office, including Vital Records, Passports, Estate filings, other duties 
include overseeing and managing the assignments of all daily, monthly, and yearly tasks. 
 
This will be a promotion in title for the current Chief Deputy Clerk, Mr. David Zittrauer, 
who has been with the County since November 1999, and Probate Court since July 2021. 
 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1.  Approve the job description; authorize publication and distribution. 
2.  Disapprove the job description and provide guidance to staff. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1. 
 
Other Alternatives: None. 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Probate Court, and Human Resources. 
 
Funding Source: No impact on the budget.  
 
Attachments: Chief Clerk/Associate Judge Job Description 
     Associate Judge Law Document from Georgia General Assembly 
      

192

Item XI. 5.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

Job Title: Chief Clerk / Associate Judge  Job Code: 000405 

Reports to: Probate Judge  FLSA Status: Exempt 

Department: Probate Court 04  

Class specifications are intended to present a descriptive list of the range of duties performed by 

employees in the class. Specifications are not intended to reflect all duties performed within the job. 

Position Overview: 
The purpose of this position is to assist the Judge of Probate Court and to manage all court proceedings, as well as 

to oversee the daily operations of the Probate Court Office to include Vital Records, Passports, Estate filings, other 

Duties include overseeing and managing the assignments of all daily, monthly, and yearly tasks. 

 

 

 Principal Duties and Responsibilities (Essential Functions**): 

The following duties are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all of the listed 

duties and/or may be required to perform additional or different duties from those set forth below to 

address business needs and changing business practices. 

Prepares or completes various forms, reports, correspondence, or other documents; keeps all minutes of Court 

entered into a suitable book, recorded, and indexed as required by law; types and issues citations; administers all 

oaths relating to the business of the court; types and issues all Orders and Letters pertaining to Petitions or 

applications; types and indexes applications for licenses and permits; types and issues subpoenas, writs of fieri 

facias, etc; types letters and mail regarding court cases or other petitions/applications received. 

Verifies birth and death certificates and a variety of other certificates; indexes and records certificates; runs 

background checks on application renewals as required. 

Makes appointments and keeps court/office calendar for Judge and all employees. 

Searches and gives information by telephone, in person or through the mail to the public. 

Receives various forms, reports, correspondence, manuals, reference materials, or other documentation; reviews, 

completes, processes, forwards or retains as appropriate. 

Receives and files all petitions presented by electors, the Board of Registrars, or the County Executive Committee 

of a political party or upon the election of superintendent's own motion for the division, redivision, alteration, 

change or consolidation of precincts; receives and verifies nomination petitions of candidates; types and runs in 

newspaper as required by law of any petition, notice, or election; preserves, stores and maintains voting machines 

and ballot boxes when not in use; selects, hires, and appoints poll officers to work in each election. 

Operates a computer to enter, retrieve, review or modify data; verifies accuracy of entered data and makes 

corrections; utilizes word processing, spreadsheet, or other software programs. 

 

193

Item XI. 5.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Chief Clerk/Associate Judge Job Code:   

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 2 of 4 

 

Communicates with supervisor, employees, other departments, the public, and other individuals as needed to 

coordinate work activities, review status of work, exchange information, or resolve problems. 

Procures and preserves all records of The Effingham Herald. 

Calculates all court cost, receives and receipts court cost; shows expenditures from court cost. 

ADDITIONAL FUNCTIONS 
Provides assistance to other employees or departments as needed. 

Performs other related duties as required. 

Responsible for GBI and Vital Records Audits 

ADDITIONAL FUNCTIONS 

Must comply with all requirements as listed under OCGA 15-9-2.1 

Hear and Preside over Probate cases at the discretion of the Probate Judge  

MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT USED 

Computers, Scanners, Copier, digital camera, typewriter, CJT Software, Excel, Microsoft word,  

LICENSES 

Must be able to complete GBI security and awareness training every 2 years 

Must be able to complete and maintain GCIC TAC certification and operator certification 

 

Valid Georgia Driver’s License 

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

High school diploma or GED; supplemented by college level course work or vocational training in business and 

office administration; supplemented by three (3) years previous experience and/or training that includes business 

management, accounting, and court; or any equivalent combination of education, training, and experience which 

provides the requisite knowledge, skills, and abilities for this job.   

Meet all requirements required to become Ga. Crime Information Center terminal agency coordinator (TAC) and 

terminal operator.   

 

194

Item XI. 5.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Chief Clerk/Associate Judge Job Code:   

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 3 of 4 

 

PERFORMANCE APTITUDES 

 

Data Utilization:   

Requires the ability to review, classify, categorize, prioritize, and/or analyze data.  Includes exercising discretion 

in determining data classification, and in referencing such analysis to established standards for the purpose of 

recognizing actual or probable interactive effects and relationships.   

Human Interaction:   

Requires the capacity to act as a first line supervisor, including overseeing work, acting on employee problems, and 

assigning the work of others and the Public. 

Equipment, Machinery, Tools, and Materials Utilization:   

Requires the ability to operate, maneuver and/or control the actions of equipment, machinery, tools, and/or 

materials used in performing essential functions. 

Verbal Aptitude:   

Requires the ability to utilize a wide variety of reference, descriptive, and/or advisory data and information. 

Mathematical Aptitude:   

Requires the ability to perform addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division; the ability to calculate decimals 

and percentages; the ability to utilize principles of fractions; and the ability to interpret graphs. 

Functional Reasoning: 

Requires the ability to apply principles of rational systems; to interpret instructions furnished in written, oral, 

diagrammatic, or schedule form; and to exercise independent judgment to adopt or modify methods and standards 

to meet variations in assigned objectives   

Situational Reasoning:   

Requires the ability to exercise judgment, decisiveness and creativity in situations involving evaluation of 

information against measurable or verifiable criteria. 

ADA COMPLIANCE 

Physical Ability: 

Tasks require the ability to exert very moderate physical effort in light work, typically involving some combination 

of stooping, kneeling, crouching and crawling, and which may involve some lifting, carrying, pushing and/or 

pulling of objects and materials of moderate weight (12-20 pounds).    

195

Item XI. 5.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Job Title: Chief Clerk/Associate Judge Job Code:   

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 4 of 4 

 

 

Sensory Requirements:  

Some tasks require the ability to perceive and discriminate colors or shades of colors, sounds, odor, depth, texture, 

and visual cues or signals.  Some tasks require the ability to communicate orally. 

 

Environmental Factors:  

Performance of essential functions may require exposure to adverse environmental conditions, such as dust, 

pollen, smoke, machinery, or electric currents. 

 

 

 
Effingham County, Georgia, is an Equal Opportunity Employer. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities 

Act, the County will provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with disabilities and encourages 

both prospective and current employees to discuss potential accommodations with the employer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

196

Item XI. 5.



197

Item XI. 5.



198

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 
 

Subject:    Extract Utility Data – Spatial Engineering – PID: 22012-OCS-01 

Author:  Pamela Melser, GIS Manager 

Department:  GIS 

Meeting Date: 03-07-2023  

Item Description: Consideration to approve proposal by Spatial Engineering to extract utility 
features from scanned as-built records   

 

Summary Recommendation:   

 
Effingham County began scanning its record archives in 2021 through a contract with Spatial 
Engineering. In 2022, The County continued efforts and completed a second phase of 
scanning resulting in 28 as-built projects from which utility data can be extracted from. Utility 
data extraction will involve creating a GIS dataset with the following utilities; water, sewer, 
reuse, stormwater, and easement.  
 
This project will increase the completeness of the County’s mapped utility infrastructure. The 
creation and maintenance of a comprehensive and accurate utility infrastructure will aid the 
County in future plans focused on stable growth, as it impacts utilities and the residents of 
Effingham County.  
 
The data extraction will be executed under Spatial Engineering’s current contract with the 
County; PID 22012, On-Call Support. Per the current contract with Spatial Engineering, On-
Call Services (OCS) provides the County the ability to request data updates, analysis, maps, 
field collection, application development, etc. on an as needed basis.  
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The following deliverables are expected 
o Updated GIS data layers for; water, sewer, reuse, stormwater, and easements 
o Updated RightSpot Projects data layer with simple boundary, attributes, and 

PDF link for as-builts.  
o Monthly updates for water, sewer, reuse, storm water, and easement GIS data 

layers 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve Extract Utility Data – Spatial Engineering – PID: 22012 OCS-01 to extract utility 
features from scanned as-built records in the amount of $38,969.41. 
 

2. Take no action. 
 

3. Do not approve of the proposal by Spatial Engineering to extract utility features from 
scanned as-built records. 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  
 

Department Review: GIS 
 199

Item XI. 6.



Funding Source: 100-7403-225-52-1202 using a budget amendment drafted by finance for 

FY23. 
 

Attachments: Spatial Engineering Proposal 

200

Item XI. 6.



 
 

 

 

 

January 24, 2023 1 Task ID: 22012-OCS-01 

 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 

Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

OCS-01: Extract Utility Data – Phase 2 01/24/2023 

 

 

1 Introduction: 

1.1 Point of Contacts: 

Spatial Engineering, Inc.  Effingham County, Georgia 

Richard Truluck, P.E. 

Project Manager 

rtruluck@spateng.com 

O: 912-826-6688 x222 

Pamela Melser 

GIS Manager 

Pmelser@effinghamcounty.org 

O: 912-754-8050 x4509 

 

1.2 Description 

Scan Drawing Archive Phase 2, Project ID: 21010-OCS-04 was completed 11/16/2022 with the 

scanning of 1634 drawing sets (11,826 drawing sheets). This data is available to authorized 

county personnel via the Projects – Scanning Projects data layer in RightSpot. The County’s 

focus toward utility extraction on the priority 1 (as-builts) was initiated with the Extract Utility 

Data, Project ID: 21010-OCS-03. The intent of this proposal is to extract the utility and easement 

data from as-built projects captured in the Phase 2 scanning effort. SPATIAL proposes to 

execute this task under SPATIAL’s current contract with the County, PID: 22012, On-Call 

Support. 

1.3 Reference: 

1. 03/30/2022 Scan Drawing Archive Assessment, PID: 20017-OCS01. 

2. 05/03/2022 Extract Utility Data, PID: 21010-OCS03. 

3. 05/03/2022 Scan Drawing Archive – Phase 2, PID: 21010-OCS04. 

2 Scope of Work: 

SPATIAL proposes to 1) add as-built projects identified in assessment report to the RightSpot™ 

Projects data layer and 2) extract water, sewer, storm, reuse water, and easements data into GIS. 

2.1 Projects Layer: 

1. Schema Definition: SPATIAL will modify the Projects layer database schema to add 

attributes to track the source of the data and whether or not data has been extracted. The 

UTIL_EXTRACT attribute will be used to track the process using the standard traffic 

light approach (Yes = Green, Partial = Amber, No = Red). Projects with no utility data 

will be gray. Reference Appendix A – Project Layer Attributes. 

 

201

Item XI. 6.



 
 

 

 

 

January 24, 2023 2 Task ID: 22012-OCS-01 

 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 

Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

2. Layer Update: SPATIAL will add the as-built projects to the Projects data layer as 

follows: 

 

a. Create a polygon feature at the project location. This will serve as the project’s 

extents and serve as the geospatial link to the project as-builts. 

b. Attribute the project data. 

c. Link the project PDF to the project feature. 

2.2 Data Extraction 

1. Available Data: Extraction is only required on those as-built projects with water, sewer, 

storm, reuse water, and easement data. A review of the as-builts identified in the 

assessment report reveals several as-builts do not have the desired data or can be 

combined to reduce the number of projects resulting in 28 unique projects to extract. The 

following table summarized the number of drawing sheets available for each utility. 

Type Water Sewer Stormwater Reuse Water Easements 

Sheets 44 16 30 3 42 

Sets 24 6 19 1 21 

 

2. Extraction: Extraction is the process of digitizing specific scanned elements to vector 

features in GIS and attributing those features with the available non-graphic data (size, 

material, invert elevation). The purpose of this effort is to incorporate the utility data 

from the project as-built PDF files into the GIS to support various planning and analysis 

initiatives (done by others). The following data will be extracted from each as-built where 

available. 

a. General Rules: 

i. Do not snap line vertices where lines cross; do not connect lines. 

ii. Elements shall snap at vertices producing no overshoots and no gaps. 

iii. Lines will break at valve centroid, manhole centroid, and junction points. 

iv. Create network topology for each utility. 

b. Feature Group: Water System:  

i. Feature Classes: wControlValve_P, wFireHydrant_P, wFitting_P, 

wHydrant_P, wLing_L, wManhole_P, wMeter_P, wSource_P 

c. Feature Group: Sewer System: 

i. Feature Classes: sCleanOut_P, sControlValve_P, sFitting_P, 

sGreaseTrap_P, sLine_L, sManhole_P, sOutfall_P, sPump_P, 

sPumpStation_A, sPumpStation_P, sSepticTank_A, sSepticTank_P, 

sStorageReservior_A, sTreatmentPlant_A, sTreatmentPlant_P 

202

Item XI. 6.



 
 

 

 

 

January 24, 2023 3 Task ID: 22012-OCS-01 

 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 

Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

d. Feature Group: Stormwater System: 

i. Feature Classes: dLines_L, dPoint_P, dStorageReservior_A, 

dStorageReservoir_P 

e. Feature Group: Reuse Water: 

i. Feature Classes: rControlValve_P, rFitting_P, rLine_L, rMeter_P, 

rSource_P 

f. Feature Group: Easement: 

i. Feature Classes: Outgrant_A 

3 Deliverables: 

1. Updated Projects data layer with simple boundary, attributes, and PDF link for as-builts. 

Data available via RightSpot Project layer. 

2. Updated water, sewer, stormwater, reuse water, and easement GIS data layers based on 

extracted data. Data available via RightSpot Project layer. Extraction progress tracked via 

RightSpot. Anticipate 28 as-built projects with utility data to extract. 

3. Monthly updates for water, sewer, stormwater, reuse water, and easement in GIS data 

layers in accordance with the current data share agreement. 

4 Cost Estimate: 

 

Item Task Cost 

   

1.0 Update Projects data layer and extract water, sewer, stormwater, reuse 

water, and easement to GIS 
$38,969.41 

   

 Total $38,969.41 

Notes: 

1. This is a Firm Fixed Price (FFP) quote based on SPATIAL’s contract rate schedule. 

2. The cost quote is valid for 60 days. 

5 Schedule: 

The total project duration is estimated to be 84 calendar days. The following schedule assumes a 

Notice to Proceed (NTP) date of March 1, 2023. Duration is shown in business days. 

 

Item Milestone Start End (1) 

0 Notice to Proceed (NTP) 3/1/2023 0 

1 Kickoff Meeting NTP+5 3/8/2023 

2 Update Projects data layer Item 1+15 3/29/2023 

203

Item XI. 6.



 
 

 

 

 

January 24, 2023 4 Task ID: 22012-OCS-01 

 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 

Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

Item Milestone Start End (1) 

3 Extract Water, Sewer, Stormwater, Reuse Water, and 

Easements 

Item 1+40 5/3/2023 

4 County review Item 3+5 5/10/2023 

5 Final delivery Item 4+10 5/24/2023 

 Total Project Duration NTP 84 

Notes: 

(1) Duration presented in calendar days. 

6 Assumptions: 

1. This task is for digitizing/extracting data from scanned as-built images listed in Appendix 

B.  

2. Extracted data will be uploaded monthly in accordance with current data agreement. 

7 Task Acceptance 

If the tasks, schedule, and cost are acceptable, please sign, date, and return a copy to Spatial 

Engineering. 

For: Spatial Engineering, Inc. For: Effingham County, GA 
 

  

 

Date:  1/23/2023  

 

 

 

  

 

Date:   

 

Rebecca F. Truluck 

President 

O: 912-826-6688 

btruluck@spateng.com 

 

Name:   
 

Title:   

 

  

204

Item XI. 6.

mailto:btruluck@spateng.com


 
 

 

 

 

January 24, 2023 5 Task ID: 22012-OCS-01 

 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 

Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

8 Appendix A – Project Layer Attributes 

Populate the following attributes to the Project Layer. 

Attribute Name Type Definition 

Type Domain Allowable values: 

• As-Built = Record drawings 

representing actual construction. 

• Construction = Drawings ready for 

construction. Includes design drawings, 

site development, and demolition as 

these may represent a stage of 

construction. 

Contract Text Allowable value: “21010-OCS04” 

Water_Avail Boolean Allowable values: {Yes, No} 

Sewer_Avail Boolean Allowable values: {Yes, No} 

Storm_Avail Boolean Allowable values: {Yes, No} 

Reuse_Avail Boolean Allowable values: {Yes, No} 

Ease_Avail Boolean Allowable values: {Yes, No} 

Util_Extract Domain Allowable values: {Yes, Partial, No} 

 

  

205

Item XI. 6.



 
 

 

 

 

January 24, 2023 6 Task ID: 22012-OCS-01 

 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 

Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

9 Appendix B – As-Built Project/File Name 

Projects with utility and easement data. 

 

As-built File Name CCID 

Archer Road Development 1759 

As Built Edwards Commercial Park 2276 

As Built Saddlehorn Subd 2136 

As Built Survey for Nellice Crosby 2130 

As Built Survey of Cypress Cove Subd 2206 

As Built Survey of Mingledorff Estates 2040 

As-Built Barrister Crossing Subd 1811C 

As-Built Const Plans-Barrister Crossing Subd 1811D 

As-Built Construction Plans for Jamestown SD 1694 

Const Plans for Honey Ridge Estates 2291 

Const Plans for White Bluff Subd Ph 2 and 3 2232A 

Eff County Multi Agency Call Center 2301 

GDOT Plan and Profile Proposed Bridge Replacement Log Landing at 

Ebenezer Creek 

1780 

Mill Creek Plantation Ph 3 1900 

Paving Grading and Drainage Plan for Midland Estates 1659 

Rabun Estates Water Plan 1793 

Recd Drawing Const Plans for Wakefield Subd 56 Acre Hwy 17 N 

Development 

2221 

Record Drawing for Covered Bridge and Holly Pointe Subdivisions 1442 

Record Drawings for Cobbleton Subdivision 1739 

Record Drawings for Mallard Pointe 2234 

Record Drawings of Mill Creek Plantation PH 2 1654 

Record Drawings of Paving Grading Drainage and Utility Plans for Stillwood 

Subd 

2105 

St Mathews Parish  2219 

Utility Record Drawing for Park West PH 2 1594 

Water Reclamation Facility 885 

Westwood Heights Subd Driveway Ditch As Builts 2082 

Westwood Heights Subd Usher Place Ext of SS and Water Lines 2083 

Zipperer Place 2233 

 

206

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report 
 

Subject:   Migrate Esri Enterprise from SQL 2008 to SQL 2016 – Spatial 

Engineering – PID: 22012-OCS-02 

Author:  Pamela Melser, GIS Manager 

Department:  GIS 

Meeting Date: 03-07-2023  

Item Description: Consideration to approve proposal by Spatial Engineering to migrate the 
existing GIS database from SQL 2008 to 2016, upgrade the SDE to 
10.8.x, and install ArcGIS Image Server 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

 
Effingham County’s GIS data is currently housed in a 2008 SQL database. The GIS 
department, with the assistance of IT and Spatial Engineering, requests funding approval for 
migration support to SQL 2016. The current Operating System and 2008 version of SQL are 
no longer supported. This creates unnecessary risk of losing GIS data and productivity. 
Additionally, with the new SQL Server 2016, the County will update their Enterprise GIS from 
Arc Server 10.0 to 10.8.1 and create an image server to host raster imagery. The County has 
made significant investments in GIS data and mapping assets. The ability to support future 
GIS innovation will be greatly aided with the data migration and server updates. The proposed 
upgrades will be executed under Spatial Engineering’s current contract with the County; PID 
22012, On-Call Support. Per the current contract with Spatial Engineering, On-Call Services 
(OCS) provides the County the ability to request support on an as needed basis.  
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Spatial Engineering’s expertise will mitigate downtime for the GIS department as well 
as all departments that it supports including; Development Services, Tax Assessors, 
E911, and Fire 

 Upgrade to SQL 2016 and Install Arc Server 10.8.1 
o The primary benefits bring the server Operating System and SQL to a version 

that is supported, and will have continued support for several years.  
o The older systems currently in place limit the support that the County receives 

from ESRI as the County will not be able to upgrade past the current software.  
o The new servers will be built on the IT department’s new Host server platform 

hardware and storage which will increase speed and reliability.  
o The current server platform is scheduled for retirement. 
o The server upgrade will allow for future upgrades to ArcGIS Portal, a hybrid web 

based data sharing platform that will allow for efficient sharing of GIS data and 
maps throughout the County departments. 

o Portal integration eliminates the need for staff to manually maintain the data 
updates for the Interactive web map. 

 Install ArcGIS Image Server 
o Image server will be created to provide efficient raster imagery access. 

 Imagery is currently accessed using a file based system that slows data 
maintenance and the editing process  

o The increased speed of access to imagery will support the daily use of the GIS 
data, parcel editing, web based mapping, and efficiencies for multiple 
department in addition to GIS. 

207

Item XI. 7.



Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the proposed contract with Spatial Engineering in the amount of $11,723.00. 
2. Do not approve the proposed contract with Spatial Engineering  
3. Provide Staff with Direction 
 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  
 

Department Review: GIS Manager and IT Director 
 

Funding Source: 100-7403-225-52-1202 using a budget amendment drafted by finance for 

FY23. 
 

Attachments: Spatial Engineering Proposal 

208

Item XI. 7.



 
 

On-Call Services Task Proposal 
Effingham County, GA 

PID: 22012 

February 08, 2023 

OCS-02: Migrate Esri Enterprise from SQL 2008 to SQL 2016 

 

 

1. Introduction: 

1.1. Point of Contacts: 

Spatial Engineering, Inc.  Effingham County, GA 

 

Paula Edwards, PMP, GISP 

Project Manager 

613 Towne Park Dr West, Suite 202 

Rincon, GA 31326 

pedwards@spateng.com 

O: 912-826-7380 

C: 404-394-5509 

 

Pamela Melser 

GIS Coordinator 

Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners 

Development Services 

804 South Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

(912)754-8050 x4509 

PMelser@effinghamcounty.org 

 

1.2. Description: 

As a part of Effingham County contract under project number 22012, they are 

requesting On Call Support from Spatial Engineering (SPATIAL) for assistance in 

migrating their existing geospatial database from SQL Server 2008 to SQL Server 

2016 and upgrading the SDE portion to 10.8.x.  The County currently uses ArcGIS 

Server 10.0 for the SDE portion to their geodatabase. 

 

The purpose is to provide a high-level approach and estimate for SPATIAL’s 

assistance to Effingham County’s GIS team to migrate their geospatial database 

from SQL 2008 to SQL 2016 and to upgrade the ArcGIS Server (SDE component) 

with the database.  Part of this process requires ensuring their ArcGIS Desktop 

software is in sync with the geodatabase upgrade and all connectivity to the new 

geodatabase has been tested.  In this proposal is also an option for an approach 

and estimate to install the County’s ArcGIS Image Server which will provide more 

efficient access to County imagery than the current file-based access. 

1.3. Reference: 

1.3.1. February 25, 2022, Meeting Minutes from MS Teams discussion on Esri 

Enterprise migration from SQL 2008 to 20016. See APPENDIX A for 

meeting minutes. 

1.3.2. February 1, 2023 Meeting Minutes from onsite visit to Effingham County 

GIS office.  See APPENDIX B for meeting minutes. 

 

209

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 2 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

2. Scope of Work Option 1:  Geospatial Data Migration to SQL 2016 

The County would like upgrade their SQL Server Instance from 2008 to 2016, and in 

doing so they need assistance in migrating their geospatial data to the new 

Database. With the new SQL Server 2016, the County wants to update their 

Enterprise GIS from ArcGIS Server 10.0 to 10.8.1.   Below are the preparational 

steps the County must complete before SPATIAL can assist with any upgrades.  

 

2.1.  Effingham County Preparations for upgrade: 

2.1.1. Install new 2016 SQL Server instance (while keeping the existing 2008 

version live and separate from migration). 

2.1.2. Upgrade ArcGIS Desktop Software on one GIS workstation (ArcGIS 

Desktop 10.8.x), while keeping at least one workstation with existing 

software (ArcGIS Desktop10.7.x) connected to existing 2008 SQL 

geodatabase.  

2.1.2.1. County to ensure the latest version of all needed Esri extensions or 

add-ins (i.e., Attribute Assistant) are installed on updated desktop 

software.  

2.1.2.2. County to ensure the latest version of patching, extensions, and all 

add-ins for the Esri desktop software have been applied. 

2.1.3. To create a baseline, the County needs to: 

2.1.3.1. First, freeze all geodatabase editing while migration is in process. 

2.1.3.2. Second, merge and reconcile all versioning in geospatial database to 

create source baseline. 

2.1.3.3. Third, after reconciling data, make a backup copy of SQL 

geodatabase, as well an export of the newly created baseline in a File 

geodatabase (FGDB) format. 

2.1.3.3.1. Approximately 27 Feature Datasets 

2.1.3.3.2. Approximately 297 Feature Classes 

2.1.3.4. Document any related or joined tables before they disconnect all 

joined or related tables. 

2.1.3.5. Document any existing topology rules for the GIS data.  

 

2.2. SPATIAL Geodatabase Upgrade Preparation Tasks: 

Confirm that the County’s following GIS data links will not be impacted with upgrade: 

2.2.1. WinGAP – The WinGAP tax database is linked in ArcGIS Desktop through 

a join to a separate database connection called “AY2023” (named after the 

year it represents).  This connection has to be updated each year as 

WinGAP data is moved to the current year.  WinGAP is linked to the parcel 

feature class via the PARCEL_NO, using a one-to-one relationship. 

210

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 3 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

2.2.2. Eagleview / Pictometry links – The County’s Eagleview imagery is not 

connected through DB links, they are not displayed in ArcGIS Desktop. 

Instead Eagleview provides a web viewer external to Effingham County.  

The GIS manager uploads county GIS data to Pictometry severs via a 

Pictometry Convert Uploader plugin available inside of ArcGIS Desktop. 

2.2.3. QPublic links – Per the County, QPublic data is not used in ArcGIS 

Desktop. 

2.2.4. Confirmed Esri Attribute Assistant is compatible with ArcGIS Desktop 

Advanced 10.6-10.8.2. 

 

2.3.  SPATIAL Geodatabase Upgrade Onsite Tasks 

2.3.1. Install ArcGIS Server 10.8.1 (must have SQL Server 2016 instance 

complete before this can be done). 

2.3.1.1. SPATIAL will identify the version of ArcGIS Server software and 

patches needed. 

2.3.1.2. Depending on the County’s preferences, SPATIAL will then bring 

software/patches with them on removeable media, or will identify and 

ask the County to download the specified ArcGIS Server software and 

patches. 

2.3.2. SPATIAL will demonstrate the migration process for the first batch of data 

from current SQL 2008 DB instance to the new SQL 2016 DB instance via 

the upgraded ArcGIS Desktop 10.8.2 software. 

2.3.3. Restart Versioning in new geodatabase SQL 2016.  No edits or 

reconciliation needed because source baseline was created prior to 

migration and all editing stopped. 

2.3.4.  Rejoin and or connect all tables as they were before migration. 

2.3.5. SPATIAL to document the steps completed for County’s geodatabase 

migration. 

 

2.4. Effingham County Post SPATIAL onsite Tasks: 

2.4.1. The County to complete data migration of the remaining batches at a later 

date, based off of their network demand. 

2.4.2. Restart Versioning in new geodatabase SQL 2016.  No edits or 

reconciliation needed because source baseline was created prior to 

migration and all editing stopped. 

2.4.3.  Rejoin and/or connect all tables as they were before migration. 

2.4.4. Reapply any related or joined tables. 

2.4.5. Verify any previous topology rules for the GIS data.  

 

211

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 4 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

3. Scope of Work: Option 2 – Install ArcGIS Image Server And Provide Training 

The County would like to implement an ArcGIS Image Server to provide faster rendering 

of large raster files of County imagery that are used by the County when working with 

parcel data. 

 

3.1. Effingham County Preparation Tasks: 

3.1.1. The County will prepare a separate VM Windows 2019 server for the 

ArcGIS Image Server. This cannot be the SQL DB server. 

3.1.2. The County will identify which imagery they want to render on the image 

server. 

3.1.3. The County will have needed ports open for software connectivity to 

desktops. 

3.1.4. If needed, the County will create certificates for web-based Image server 

access. 

3.2.  SPATIAL To Set-Up OFFSITE Prototype  

To confirm the best Image Server capability for the County, Spatial will create a 

prototype using a sample set of Effingham County imagery.  Install and configure 

ArcGIS Image Server offsite. 

3.2.1. SPATIAL will prepare a sample set of County Imagery to be published via 

ArcGIS Image Server. The following will be determined from prototype: 

3.2.1.1. How County imagery can be published with ArcGIS Image Server: 

Compressed MrSID, uncompressed Cached tiled version? 

3.2.1.2. Which format works best for speed and/or space? (WMTS, MrSID, 

Tif, etc.). 

 

3.3.  SPATIAL to Install ArcGIS Image Server Onsite at County 

3.3.1.  Install ArcGIS Image Server 10.8.1 on the County’s newly setup Windows 

2019 VM Server. County has existing licenses for Esri ArcGIS Enterprise – 

(WebAdapter, Image Server, etc.).  SPATIAL is specifically installing ArcGIS 

Image Server component of the ArcGIS Enterprise package. 

3.3.2. SPATIAL to work with County GIS Manager to demonstrate publishing an 

identified set of County’s Imagery (train the trainer approach). 

3.3.3. SPATIAL will demonstrate how it can be accessed via the desktop ArcGIS 

software. 

3.3.4. SPATIAL to document steps done for installation of ArcGIS Image Server. 

 

4. Future Considerations 

Possible options for expanded use of Esri products that already fall under the 

existing licenses the County has in their ELA. 

212

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 5 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

4.1.1. Utilize more components of ArcGIS Enterprise such as ArcGIS Portal, 

WebAdapter, or additional ArcGIS Servers/Image Servers) in their ArcGIS 

Enterprise configuration, or connecting/federating it to their SQL DB. 

4.1.2. Implement a new Parcel Fabric using ArcGIS Pro and ArcGIS Enterprise. 

 

5. Cost Estimate: 

Item Task Estimate 

1 SOW Option 1 – Geodatabase Migration – Section 2 $3,647.00 

2 SOW Option 2 – Install ArcGIS Image Server and Provide Training – Section 

3 

$8,076.00 

   

 Total for both Options $11,723.00 

Notes: 

1. This is an estimate of Firm Fixed price based on SPATIAL’s commercial rate 

schedule.  

2. The cost quote is valid for 60 days. 

 

6. Schedule: 

Task Milestone Start Duration 

(1) 

0 Notice to Proceed (NTP) NTP 0 

1 Kickoff NTP 1D 

2 Esri Data SQL Migration and ArcGIS Server Upgrade NTP + Task 1 3D 

3 ArcGIS Image Server Install and Setup Task 2 + 5 5D 

Notes: 

(1) Duration presented as work days. 

(2) NTP = Notice to proceed. 

 

7. Assumptions: 

7.1. County will create and setup new Server environment(s) (VM Windows 2019 

Server). 

7.2. County will provide all hardware (servers and desktops). 

7.3. County will provide all needed Esri software licenses, authorization and or 

provision files. 

7.4. County will have SQL Server DB instance installed on a separate server from 

any ArcGIS Image instance. 

7.5. County will have one ArcGIS Desktop Software v. 10.8.2 already upgraded 

before migration (and if needed ArcGIS Pro (Standard, or Advanced) v. 2.9.5). 

213

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 6 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

7.6.  County will have installed all updates, and/or patches to all updated software 

prior to data migration (SQL Server 2016 and ArcGIS Desktop 10.8.2, and 

ArcPro 2.9.5).  

7.7.  The 2008 SQL Enterprise Geodatabase will be accessible while new 2016 

SQL Enterprise Geodatabase is up and running during migration. 

7.8. The SPATIAL team will have full administrative access to servers and data while 

on-site 

 

8. Task Acceptance 

If the tasks, schedule, and cost are acceptable, please sign, date, and return a copy to 

Spatial Engineering. Please Mark Yes or No on the Option 1 and 2 executions. 

 

For: Spatial Engineering, Inc. For: Effingham County, GA Options 

Yes/No 

 

 

 

  

 

Date:    

 

 

 

  

 

Date:   

 

Option 

1 only 

Options 

1&2 

Paula J Edwards, PMP, GISP 

Vice President 

O: 912-826-6688 

pedwards@spateng.com 

 

Name:   

 

Title:   

 

 

 

  

214

Item XI. 7.

PEdwards
Typewriter
02/10/2023

mailto:pedwards@spateng.com


 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 7 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

APPENDIX A:  February 25, 2022 Meeting Minutes 

Communication/Meeting Record Date: 2022-02-25 

Caller/Host: 
Ricky Truluck 
Spatial Engineering, Inc. 

Calling: See Attendees below. 

Contact 
Info: 

912-826-6688 
Contact 
Info: 

See Attendees below. 

Project Name: Effingham County RightSpot PID: 21010 

Subject: 
Migrate Esri Enterprise from 
SQL 2008 to SQL 2016 

Relation: X  Prime   Sub-contractor 

 
Discussion Focus: 
x Scope  Budget  Schedule  Performance 

 Bus Dev  Follow-up x Project Kickoff  % Project Review 
 

1. Attendees: 

1. Effingham County (County): 

1.1. Chris Reed, IT Director, creed@effinghamcounty.org, 912-754-8100 

1.2. Pamela Melser, GIS Coordinator, pmelser@effinghamcounty.org, 912-754-8050 x4509 

1.3. Danny Frazier, GIS Technician, dfrazier@effinghamcounty.org, 912-854-8050 x4510 

2. Spatial Engineering (SEI): 

2.1. Paula Edwards, PM, pedwards@spateng.com, 404-394-5509 

2.2. Zsolt Boros, Sn Developer, zboros@spateng.com, 912-826-6688 

2.3. Govi Hines, GIS Analyst, ghines@spateng.com, 912-826-6688 

2.4. Ricky Truluck, PM, rtruluck@spateng.com, 912-826-6688 

 
2. Agenda/Purpose: 

1. County to share requirements and goals for migrating to SQL 2016. 

2. SEI to ask questions and gain clarification to assist the County in the migration. 

 
3. Review of Open Action Items: 

NA 

 
4. Design/Development Verification and Validation per SOW: 

NA 

 
5. Items to Validate on customer site: 

NA 

 
6. Discussion: 

1. References: 

1.1. Email from Pamela Melser to Ricky Truluck asking if SEI could help them migrate their SQL 2008 

Esri Enterprise geodatabase to SQL 2016. 20220211_1636_pmelser. 

2. Requirements: 

2.1. Esri Versioning: The county uses Esri versioning for parcel updates. Only Pamela Melser and Danny 

Frazier edit the data. 

215

Item XI. 7.

mailto:creed@effinghamcounty.org
mailto:pmelser@effinghamcounty.org
mailto:dfrazier@effinghamcounty.org
mailto:pedwards@spateng.com
mailto:zboros@spateng.com
mailto:ghines@spateng.com
mailto:rtruluck@spateng.com


 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 8 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

6. Discussion: 

2.2. Pictometry: The county uses Pictometry Digital Ortho and Oblique imagery via links to Pictometery’s 

website.  

2.3. WinGAP: The county has real time links to the WinGAP SQL database.  

2.4. They would like to use more of the capabilities in the new ArcGIS Server. 

2.5. Target SQL Server 2016 on Windows Server 2016. 

2.6. Esri recommended migrating to the ArcGIS Server (latest version) minus one version. Today that is 

ArcGIS Server 10.8. 

2.7. They would like to use ArcGIS Portal on-premise if possible. The County will verify what licenses 

(components) their ELA provides.  

2.8. Migrating the database is first priority. 

 

3. Currently Using: 

3.1. Software: 

3.1.1. ArcGIS Desktop 10.7 

3.1.2. Tried ArcPro, but have experienced problems. 

3.1.3. ArcGIS Server 10.0 

3.1.4. SQL Server 2008 

3.2. Data: 

3.2.1. The county has about 300 feature classes. 

3.2.2. The links between GIS and WinGAP allow for two-way editing between the GIS Department and 

the Tax Assessor. 

3.2.3. Have 2005, 2008, 2010, 2013, 2018, and 2021 digital ortho imagery in MrSID format. They are 

not using an imager server to publish the imagery. It is accessed directory either from a share or 

on the local drive. One of the older web servers may have been an image server, but it is no longer 

used. 

3.2.4.   
3.3. Use: 

3.3.1. The on-premise GIS Servers and Web Servers are shut down. Currently ArcGIS Desktop direct 

connects to GDB.  

3.3.2. The county uses Esri Arc Online to publish some of the data. 

3.3.3. The county is ok moving all versions of data into the base version so that only one version of data 

is migrated. Then the versioning process can restart in the new database. 

3.3.4. They try to compress the version DB weekly. 

3.3.5. They use a tool called Attribute Assistant which is an extension to ArcGIS Desktop. It helps them 

to populate the attribute data faster. They want to keep this tool if at all possible. 

3.3.5.1. https://solutions.arcgis.com/shared/help/attribute-assistant/ 

3.3.5.2. https://solutions.arcgis.com/shared/help/attribute-assistant/get-started/ 

3.3.6. QPublic pulls data from the Tax Assessor. That process will have to be evaluated. 

 

4. Approach: 

4.1. The County can set up a test environment with the target OS and SQL. 

4.2. SEI suggested they use Esri to migrate the data versus trying to migrate in the database. Esri will make 

adjustments to the GDB as needed. 

4.3. Using Esri may bring over the joins to WinGAP. If not, they will have to be recreated. 

4.4. We need to coordinate the GIS SQL version with the WinGAP SQL version. 

4.5. Evaluate QPublic connection. 

4.6. Evaluate Pictometry connection. 

4.7. The County will verify what Esri software they have access to. Specifically, what image server 

software (if any). 

4.8. SEI suggested using Web Map Tile Service (WMTS) for publishing imagery.  

4.9. SEI recommended using SQL 2019 if supported by Esri and WinGAP. The County will look into it, but 

the County is ok going to SQL 2016. 

 

216

Item XI. 7.

https://solutions.arcgis.com/shared/help/attribute-assistant/
https://solutions.arcgis.com/shared/help/attribute-assistant/get-started/


 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 9 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

6. Discussion: 

5. Conclusion: 

5.1. SEI will provide a plan and quote to support the migration going forward. 

5.2. The County will provide a list/count of feature classes to migrate. 

5.3. The County will look for any special rules or joins in the DB. This includes the WinGAP joins. 

5.4. The County will provide the WinGAP point of contact for SEI to contact if needed. 

5.5. The County will build the test environment. The test environment will be configured such that if the 

migration goes well, the test environment can become production. 

5.6. Once migration begins, all production changes must be stopped so nothing is lost in migration. 

 
7. Reallocation of Resources:   

1. Paula Edwards will be the Project Manager. 

2. Zsolt Boros will be the technical lead. 

 
8. Action Items: Assigned To: Due Date: Comments: 

1. Provide county plan and quote P Edwards 3/15/2022  

2. Provide SEI list/count of feature 

classes to migrate 

P Melser 3/8/2022  

3. Identify special DB rules and joins P Melser 3/8/2022  

4. Provide WinGAP point of contact 

to SEI 

P Melser 3/8/2022  

5. Build test environment C Reed 4/15/2022  

Notes: 
(1) Track Action Items to closure or transfer.  

(2) Format Action Item comments using “YYYYMMDD – Comment”.  

(3) Format the last comment using “YYYYMMDD – COMPLETE”. 

(4) Format Action Item comments transferred to another form using “YYYYMMDD – TRANSFER <location>”. 

 

 
 
Next Meeting Date: TBD 
 
Reported By: R Truluck 

  

217

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 10 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

APPENDIX B:  Meeting Minutes from 2/1/2023 Onsite Visit at Effingham 
County for Esri Data Migration 

Communication/Meeting Record Date: 2023-02-01 

Caller/Host: Effingham County GIS Calling: Spatial Engineering 

Contact 
Info: 

Pamela Melser 
pmelser@effinghamcounty.org  
Effingham County GIS 

Contact 
Info: 

Zsolt Boros, zboros@spateng.com 
Govi Hines, ghines@spateng.com  
Spatial Engineering 

`Project 
Name: 

Effingham Co. GIS PID: 22012 

Subject: 
ArcGIS Server and Desktop 
upgrade maintenance 

Relation: Prime   Sub-contractor 

 
Discussion Focus: 
x Scope  Budget  Schedule  Performance 

 Bus Dev  Follow-up  Project Kickoff  % Project Review 
 

9. Attendees: 

Zsolt Boros – Spatial Engineering, Systems Architect 

Govi Hines – Spatial Engineering, GIS Analyst 

Pam Melser – Effingham Co., GIS Manager 

Danny Frazier – Effingham Co., GIS Technician 

Chris Reed  – Effingham Co., IT Director 

Matthew Cruikshank – Effingham Co., Deputy Director of IT 

 
10. Agenda/Purpose: 

Information gathering for upgrading SQL Server based ArcGIS Server and ArcGIS Desktop. 

 
11. Review of Open Action Items: 

 

 
12. Design/Development Verification and Validation per SOW: 

 

 
13. Items to Validate on customer site: 

 

 
14. Discussion: 

Discussion with GIS staff: Govi and Zsolt sat with GIS Staff (Pam and Danny) at workstation to review current 

settings and workflows with ArcGIS Desktop. 

1. GIS data that is stored in SQL Server are accessed via user logins to each GIS data editor.  The County 

currently has two GIS editors and two viewers. 

2. An additional login exists for managing data but users do not use this for editing GIS data. 

218

Item XI. 7.

mailto:pmelser@effinghamcounty.org
mailto:zboros@spateng.com
mailto:ghines@spateng.com


 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 11 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

14. Discussion: 

3. Currently using ArcGIS Desktop 10.7 

4. Images are displayed as a layer in ArcGIS Desktop which are attached from file share. Image formats are 

ECW, MrSID, and GeoTiff.   There may be lidar data but not currently used. These are very slow to load 

and have to be turned off during load and zoom operations.   

5. The WinGAP tax database is linked in ArcGIS Desktop through a join to a separate database connection 

called “AY2023” (named after the year it represents).  This connection has to be updated each year as 

WinGAP data is moved to the current year.  WinGAP is linked to parcel feature class through via the 

PARCEL_NO, using a one-to-one relationship.  Primarily only Pam uses this join relationship. 

6. Qpublic data is not used in ArcGIS Desktop. 

7. Pictometry images are not displayed in ArcGIS Desktop. Instead Pictometry provides a web viewer 

external to Effingham County.  Pam uploads county GIS data to Pictometry severs via a Pictometry 

Convert Uploader plugin available inside of ArcGIS Desktop. 

8. Some of the data is versioned that have several versions in a hierarchy.  Zsolt said it is best to roll all 

versions up to root and compress before the update to provide a clean migration. 

9. All the staff agreed that going to the latest version of ArcGIS Desktop, ArcGIS Server, and possibly even 

ArcGIS Pro would be beneficial so as to avoid having to upgrade again soon. So, this will be the target for 

this update.  Zsolt will provide proper ESRI compatibility list for software for the update. 

10. The GIS staff also uses the Google Street View plugin, which is also available for ArcGIS Pro, both of 

which are freeware. 

11. Pam and Chris have admin abilities in “My Esri” portal to manage county ESRI licensing and Pam will 

check to make sure the ArcGIS Server license is available.  Zsolt: ArcGIS Enterprise included ArcGIS 

Server, Image Server, and Portal for ArcGIS.  Need to ensure license is active. 

12. Due to slower access at times to the database, Pam may complete migration of data after hours (with 

instruction help from Spatial Engineering). 

13. Zsolt will need to verify connection of SQL 2008 to ArcGIS Desktop (latest) for migration. 

14. ArcGIS online is used to share data with public (approximately 500-1000) daily users.  This requires 

credits and Pam would like to bring this capability inhouse through Portal if possible.  

15. Data updates for utilities provided by Spatial Engineering is received via FTP.  If a portal is setup 

internally with access to Spatial Engineering this may be a more seamless process. Both Pam and Chris 

agreed that this is a request for future after this update. 

 

Discussion with IT staff: (Met in conference room with GIS and IT staff together) 

1. All GIS data is in a single SQL Server 2008 database.  SDE configuration is loaded in the same database 

called “effgis”. 

2. Chris said the table structure that is in the GIS database is hard to understand as ESRI does not use 

traditional database relationships. 

3. Target SQL Server version is 2016 due to licensing complication with higher versions of SQL Server. 

4. Target Windows Server OS is 2019. 

5. New SQL Server database will be stood up leaving existing database in use during the migration. 

6. WinGAP server is on a separate Windows server where WinGAP maintains update of the database with 

latest version.  This is the data Pam connects to from ArcGIS Desktop. 

7. Network connection between SQL Server and users is a 1Gb fiber optic, however data access during peak 

time is slow.   

8. The image server should be stood up separately from SQL Server. For the setup a server will be ready 

with admin access for Spatial Engineering to install the software.  The current file server where images 

are stored is about 1.2 TB.  Not all images will be ported over to the new server as many are obsolete. 

9. Need to ensure ports if required can be opened during setup.  Also need to create certificate for web-based 

Image server access.  Zsolt will verify if ArcGIS Web Adapter is required for Image Server which will 

need the certificate in place. 

10. Chris and Pam would like to see the upgrade/migration steps documented.  Zsolt asked if it would be ok to 

document during the install so configurations would be specific to the county and Chris and Pam agreed. 

219

Item XI. 7.



 
 
 

02/08/2023  PAGE 12 OF 12 

Engineer Beyond the Map® 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY –ESRI DATA MIGRATION 

14. Discussion: 

 

 
15. Reallocation of Resources:   

 

 
16. Action Items: Assigned To: Due Date: Comments: 

6. Provide list of versioned feature 

classes 

Pam Melser   

7. Provide latest software 

compatibilities for ArcGIS Server, 

Image Server, Desktop, and Pro 

Zsolt Boros   

8. Provide active ArcGIS Server license 

available in My Portal 

Pam Melser   

9. Check if Image Server requires the 

ArcGIS Web adapter 

Zsolt Boros   

10.     

Notes: 
(5) Track Action Items to closure or transfer.  

(6) Format Action Item comments using “YYYYMMDD – Comment”.  

(7) Format the last comment using “YYYYMMDD – COMPLETE”. 

(8) Format Action Item comments transferred to another form using “YYYYMMDD – TRANSFER <location>”. 

 

 
 

 

220

Item XI. 7.



Staff Report 

 

Subject:  Final Plat Approval (Third District) 

Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner 

Department:  Development Services 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve a Final Plat, Warranty Deed, and Infrastructure 

Agreement submitted by Justin Palmer, of Coleman Company, Inc., for Lonadine (Webb Tract) 

ph 1, which consists of 54 lots. Located on Hwy 119. Map# 344 Parcel# 26A 

 

Summary Recommendation:  

Staff have reviewed the final plat, and inspected the roads and stormwater infrastructure 

identified in the warranty deed, and recommend approval. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Contractors for Mungo Homes of Georgia have built roads and stormwater infrastructure 

for phase 1. In order to sell the 54 lots of phase 1 for home construction, the final plat must 

be approved, and the roads and stormwater infrastructure accepted by the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 Water and sewer is provided by the City of Springfield. An infrastructure agreement 

confirming Springfield’s ownership of the water and sewer infrastructure that is located in 

the right of way is included in this final plat approval. The Springfield City Manager has 

verified that staff will be recommending acceptance of the water and sewer infrastructure.  

 EOM inspected the right of way and stormwater infrastructure of phase 1, and recommend 
approval.  

 Development Services staff reviewed the final plat and checklist. All documents are in 
order, and consistent with zoning, plans, and plats approved previously. 

 EOM reviewed the bond recommendation, and approved the bond for $93,611.13, which 

is 10% of the total cost of drainage, concrete work, and paving in phase 1. The applicant 

has submitted a water-sewer infrastructure bond to the City of Springfield. 

 The County Attorney reviewed and approved the warranty deed and infrastructure 

agreement. The utility easement agreement is between the developer and the city, and is 

referenced in the Warranty Deed. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1 - Approve the final plat, warranty deed, and infrastructure agreement for Lonadine (Webb 

Tract) ph. 1, and accept the roads and stormwater infrastructure identified in the warranty deed. 

2 – Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: Alternative 1  Other Alternatives: N/A 

Department Review: Development Services; EOM; County Attorney 

Funding Source: No new funding requested. 

 

Attachments: 

1. Final Plat Submittal Form & Checklist  4. Bond  
2. Final Plat for Lonadine (Webb Tract) ph 1  5. Infrastructure Agreement 
3. Warranty Deed 

221

Item XI. 8.



222

Item XI. 8.



223

Item XI. 8.



224

Item XI. 8.



225

Item XI. 8.



226

Item XI. 8.



227

Item XI. 8.



228

Item XI. 8.



229

Item XI. 8.



230

Item XI. 8.



231

Item XI. 8.



232

Item XI. 8.



233

Item XI. 8.



234

Item XI. 8.



235

Item XI. 8.



236

Item XI. 8.

lriner
Typewriter
Clayton Properties Group, Inc dba Mungo Homes

lriner
Typewriter
441 Western Lane, Irmo, SC 29063

lriner
Typewriter
cbarrett@mungo.com

lriner
Typewriter
803-227-8446



237

Item XI. 8.



238

Item XI. 8.



239

Item XI. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order 1 with E&D Contracting for Contract 22-25-006 for 

Road Improvements Construction at Freedom Trail 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order 1 with E&D Contracting for Contract 22-25-006 for 

Road Improvements Construction at Freedom Trail 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order 1 with 

E&D Contracting for Contract 22-25-006 for Road Improvements Construction at 

Freedom Trail for a contract decrease of (-$8,770.00). 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 E&D Contracting is under contract with Effingham County to perform road 

improvements in two areas, one being Freedom Trail. Over the course of this 

work, several changes have been made to the scope and E&D has submitted a 

change order to cover those changes. 

 The original contract price in total was $144,000.00, with the Freedom Trail 

portion being $84,000.00. The total of this change order will decrease the 

contract cost by (-$8,770.00), bringing the overall contract total to $135,230.00 

($75,230.00 for the Freedom Trail portion).  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order 1 with E&D Contracting for Contract 22-25-006 for 

Road Improvements Construction at Freedom Trail 

2. Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, Finance, County Manager 

Funding Source:  

Attachments: Change Order and Documentation  

 

 

 

 

240

Item XI. 9.



Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: Contract 22-25-006 – Road Improvements Construction 

Contract Date: March 9, 2022 

Change Order Effective Date: March 7, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: E&D Contracting Services, Inc. 

    2001 Mills B Lane Blvd. 

    Savannah, Ga 31405 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

1 Clearing- Change from original scope $7,500.00 

2 Grading- increase needed for additional grading $4,300.00 

3 Install 4” Ballast Stone- new addition $4,000.00 

4 Install Rip-Rap- new addition $6,000.34 

5 Install RCP Pipe- decrease from original scope -$21,000.00 

6 Install Pre-Cast Boxes- decrease from original scope -$12,570.34 

7 Asphalt Cost Increase $3,000.00 

   

   

 TOTAL  

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 144,000.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$  

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 144,000.00 

The Contract Sum will be decreased by this Change Order...........................(-$8,770.00)  

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be...........................$135,230.00 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  E&D Contracting Services, Inc. 

804 S. Laurel Street     2001 Mills B Lane Blvd. 

Springfield, GA 31329     Savannah, Ga 31405 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

241

Item XI. 9.



A WOMAN OWNED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 

 

2001 Mills B. Lane Blvd.   Savannah, GA  31405 

Phone (912) 234-5904  Fax (912) 233-0888 

                                    

 

 

 

 

 

February 23, 2023 
 
Angela Staley 
Effingham County 
804 South Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

 
RE: Road Improvement Construction (Proposal for Changes Made to Freedom Lane) 
       Contract 22-25-006 
        
Angela, 
 
We are sending this letter as our formal proposal for the recent revisions made to the 
Freedom Lane portion of the subject referenced contract. These revisions removed the 
RCP Piping and Pre-Cast Boxes originally specified in our bid and contract documents. 
The removal of the RCP Piping and Pre-Cast boxes were made roughly 7 months after 
E&D had submitted, received approval, purchased, and had concrete piping/precast 
boxes delivered to the site. Eric Larson, previously with Effingham County, was aware of 
this and stated that Effingham County would purchase these items from E&D and store 
them at a County Location for future use. We were able sell the RCP Pipe to another 
contractor but I the cost for the pre-cast boxed is included in our proposal. Also, due to 
inflation, asphalt prices have increased over the past 6 months while we waited on 
these revisions. I have included a small increase to cover these costs as well. I have 
credited areas of the project that we are not performing. 
 
Freedom Lane Original Line Items    
Mobilization     $3,500.00  
Traffic Control    $3,500.00 
Grading Complete $11,200.00 
Install RCP Pipe            $21,000.00 
Install Pre-Cast Boxes $15.500.00 
18”  R/Curb                    $7,000.00 
4” Sidewalk   $4,100.00 
Paving    $18,200.00 
TOTAL:      $84,000.00 
 
 

E&D CONTRACTING SERVICES, INC. 

 
General Contractors  

Specializing in Civil Construction, including Bridge Rehabilitation, 

Water/Waste Water Rehabilitations, and Roadway Improvements. 

 

 

 

242

Item XI. 9.



A WOMAN OWNED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 

2001 Mills B. Lane Blvd.   Savannah, GA  31405 

Phone (912) 234-5904  Fax (912) 233-0888 

Freedom Lane Revised Line Items 
Mobilization   $3,500.00 
Traffic Control   $3,500.00 
Clearing   $7,500.00       Change from Original Scope 
Grading Complete  $15,500.00      $4,300.00 Added for additional grading/ grassing 
Install 4” Ballast Stone   $4,000.00  Change from Original Scope 
Install Rip-Rap    $6,000.34  Change from Original Scope 
Install RCP Pipe  $0.00  -$21,000.00 
Install Pre-Cast Boxes    $2,929.66 -12,570.34   (Cost for purchase of boxes) 
18”  R/Curb  $7,000.00 
4” Sidewalk  $4,100.00 
Paving $18,200.00 
Asphalt Cost Increase   $3,000.00      Added to cover increased asphalt prices 

REVISED TOTAL: $75,230.00 

CREDIT/DEDUCT  -($8,770.00) 
DEDUCTION CREDIT FROM ORIGINAL CONTRACT 

• If needed the deductive credit can be used for remove/replace unsuitable soils in
area of new paving. The condition of this area is unknown at this time. If the soil
is suitable no change would be needed.

Mike Shepard 
Project Manager 

243

Item XI. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-006 with Pond & Company 

for the Stormwater Master Plan 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-006 with Pond & Company for 

the Stormwater Master Plan 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #3 for 

Task Order 22-006 with Pond & Company for the Stormwater Master Plan in the 

amount of $40,000 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In 2021, the County received a Coastal Incentive Grant for the Stormwater Master Plan.   

 The scope of the grant and the contract awarded to Pond and Company to prepare the 

Masterplan in May 2022. This original agreement was based on modeling the 8 southern 

HUC 12 watersheds and a previous change order was approved to add the northern 7 

HUC 12 watersheds that were not included in the original scope.  

 Through the model development, Pond has identified 126 additional structures that were 

not associated with road crossing that intersected the public hydroline data. Collecting 

this data will make the County’s stormwater inventory more complete and allow for a 

better assessment of infrastructure that may require improvements.  

 Staff recommends approval of the Change order request in the amount of $40,000 which 

will bring the overall contract price to $315,554.48 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approval of Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-006 with Pond & Company for 

the Stormwater Master Plan in the amount of $40,000 

2. Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Finance 

Funding Source: Fund #560-4910-560-54-3000 

Attachments: Change Order 4 Request from Pond & Company  

 

 

 

 

244

Item XI. 10.



 

All Pond marketing materials are printed on papers containing post-consumer recycled fibers and are FSC Certified. 

 

February 23, 2022 
 
Mr. Tim Callanan 
County Manager 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
601 N. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
RE:  Stormwater Master Plan | Task Order No. 22-005 – Change Order No. 4: Additional Field Data Collection and Conditions 
Assessment 
 
Dear Mr. Callanan:  
 
Pond respectfully requests your approval of Change Order No. 4 as it relates to the Stormwater Master Plan | Task Order 
No. 22-005.  Through the model development in Task 2 Pond has identified an additional 126 structures that were not 
associated with road crossing that intersected the public hydroline data. Collecting this data will make the County’s 
stormwater inventory more complete and allow for better assessment of infrastructure that may require improvements. 
Pond is requesting an additional $40,000 to complete the additional data collection and the associated conditions 
assessment of the newly collected data.  The breakdown is as follows: 
 

Project:    Stormwater Master Plan | Task Order No. 22-005  

Contract Date:    May 19, 2022       

Change Order Effective Date:  _______________      

Change Order Issued to:  Pond & Company      
    49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203    
    Savannah, Georgia 31405     
     

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNITS BID QTY UNIT PRICE TOTAL 

1 Additional Data Collection and Conditions 
Assessment 

Hours 267 $150 $40,000.00 

 TOTAL    $40,000.00 

 
The original Contract Sum was ............................................................................................................... $220,600.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders .............................................................................. $54,954.48 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was................................................................................. $275,554.48 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order ...................................................................... $40,000.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be .................................................................. $315,554.48 

The Contract Time will be increased by _0_ days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore __N/A  _  

245

Item XI. 10.



 
 
 

Page 2 

 

We thank you for your consideration of this Change Order and look forward to the opportunity to continue to partner with 
Effingham County on this and future projects. 
 
Pond & Company 
 
 
 
Chris Fagerstrom, PE     Melissa Phillips 
Associate Principal | Director of Water Resources  Business Development Manager 
Project Manager       Client Liaison 
 
 
Please indicate your ACCEPTANCE below to approve the authorized changes to this Contract. 
 
Owner 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners   
601 N. Laurel Street  
Springfield, Georgia 31329      
 
Name:  Wesley Corbitt, Chairman    
 
Signature:        
 
Date:         
 
Attested by: 
 
Name: Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk   
 
Signature:        
 
Date:         
 
 
Consultant 
Pond & Company 
49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, Georgia 31405 
 
Name:         
 
Signature:        
 
Date:         
 

246

Item XI. 10.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Residual funds at the Office of the Public Defender for the 

Ogeechee Judicial Circuit 

Author:   Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 3/7/23  

Item Description: Consideration to allow the Office of the Public Defender for the 
Ogeechee Judicial Circuit to keep $3,206.76 worth of funding from 
Effingham for FY 2021 and FY 2022. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is recommending the Office of the Public Defender keeps the funding but use it to 

offset Effingham’s portion of their FY 2024 budget request. 

 

Executive Summary: 

Each fiscal year, the Office of the Public Defender for the Ogeechee Judicial Circuit 
drafts their operating budget.  Each county in the circuit is apportioned a piece of that 
annual budget that they are responsible for funding.  After all discussions and any 
proposed changes, the budget is approved by each county in the circuit via an 
agreement.   

For FY 2021 and FY 2022, the Office of the Public Defender had $311.26 and 
$2,895.50 in funding from Effingham that remained unspent.  They have requested to 
keep the funding. 

Background: 

1. The County’s share of the Public Defender budget in FY 2021 was $219,132. 
2. The County’s share of the Public Defender budget in FY 2022 was $260,288. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to allow the Office of the Public Defender to keep the funds but use them 
to offset Effingham’s portion of their FY 2024 budget request.  

2. Approve to request the Office of the Public Defender to send a refund check for 
the funds back to Effingham County. 

3. Approve to allow the Office of the Public Defender to keep the funds and use at 
their discretion. 

4. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

1. Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to allow the Office of the Public 
Defender to keep the funds and use them to offset Effingham’s portion of their FY 
2024 budget request.  

247

Item XI. 11.



 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: 

Funds originally came from general fund 

 

Attachments: 

1. Excerpt of email chain from the Office of the Public Defender 
 

 

 

 

248

Item XI. 11.



1

Mark Barnes

From: Mark Barnes
Sent: Sunday, February 26, 2023 2:25 PM
To: Mark Barnes
Subject: RE: EXTERNAL:Re: FY21and FY22 REFUNDS

The below is an excerpt from an email chain: 

 
On Thursday, February 9, 2023 at 11:46:27 AM EST, Renata Newbill-Jallow <rjallow@gapublicdefender.org> wrote:  
 
 
Good morning: 
 
On behalf of the Office of Public Defender, we are very grateful for the support you continue to provide to 
representing indigent clients.  This is a request to allow us to keep the FY21 and FY22 refunds; $974.06 and 
$9,033.23 respectively.   Below is the amount and breakdown according to the counties.  Thank you for 
considering our request.  
 
FY21: Total refund $974.06 
Bulloch ‐   $468.92 
Effingham $311.26 
Jenkins ‐    $  68.09            
Screven      $125.79 
FY22‐ Total refund   $9,033.23 
Bulloch           $4,239.25  
Effingham      $2,895.50 
Jenkins            $  747.29 
Screven           $1,151.12  
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
Renata M. Newbill‐Jallow 
Circuit Public Defender 
Office of the Public Defender 
Ogeechee Judicial Circuit 
30 N Main Street 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
912‐764‐6292 (phone) 
912‐489‐3223 (fax) 
912‐259‐0102 (cell) 
 
 
 
**** This is an EXTERNAL email. Please do not click on a link or open ANY attachments unless you are confident it is from a 
trusted source and you are expecting this email. *****  

249

Item XI. 11.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Approve to accept the grant award for the Judicial Council of 

Georgia AOC’s American Rescue Plan Act grant funding in order to 

support Georgia’s Judicial Branches backlog of court cases 

Author:  Jody A. Jones, Grants Coordinator, presented by Mark W. Barnes 

Department:  Finance Department  

Meeting Date: 3/7/23  

Item Description: Consideration of approval to accept grant award of the Judicial 
Council of Georgia AOC’s office to support the backlog of court 
cases, in the amount of $54,995.14 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval to accept the grant award from the Judicial Council of 
Georgia AOC’s American Rescue Plan Act to support the backlog of court cases grant 
program. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Governor Brian P. Kemp has allocated up to $110 million in federal American Rescue 
Plan Act (ARPA) funds to address backlogs of court cases, particularly cases involving 
serious violent felonies. This ARPA funding will provide an opportunity for courts, 
prosecutors, public defenders, and related agencies to hire additional staff and acquire 
temporary workspace and facilities to address the backlog of cases. Priority will be 
given to eliminating the backlog of serious violent felony cases in superior courts 
because of the impact such cases have on public safety and the significant burdens that 
they place on the judicial system.  Allowable costs include jury expenditures for the trial 
of cases that are part of the case backlog caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The Judicial Council of Georgia Ad Hoc Committee on American Rescue Plan Act 
Funding (“ARPA Committee”) will oversee the application process for $96 million in 
ARPA grants to authorized trial courts (excluding municipal courts), appellate courts, 
prosecutors, and related agencies. The remaining $14 million in ARPA funds is 
allocated to public defenders and will be administered by the Georgia Public Defender 
Council. The Judicial Council’s Administrative Office of the Courts will staff the ARPA 
Committee and facilitate the Judicial Council’s grant application, awarding, compliance, 
reporting, and reimbursement processes.  

 Background: 
1. The Ogeechee Judicial Circuit and Bulloch County Board of Commissioners are the 

primary fiscal agents of this award, and are coordinating with counties within the 
circuit for these jury-related cost reimbursements. 

2. The funds represent a reimbursement of jury duty fees as well as a reimbursement 
for certain personnel costs related to these jury trials. 

3. The award amount is $54,995.15. 

250

Item XI. 12.

http://www.gapubdef.org/
http://www.gapubdef.org/
https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/


 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to accept the grant award for the Judicial Council of Georgia AOC’s 
American Rescue Plan Act grant funding in order to support Georgia’s Judicial 
Branches backlog of court cases. 

2. Do not approve to accept the grant award. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to accept the grant award for the 
Judicial Council of Georgia AOC’s American Rescue Plan Act grant funding in order to 
support Georgia’s Judicial Branches backlog of court cases. 
 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Jury expenditures originally paid out of general fund. 

 

Attachments: 

Grant award check 
Judicial Council of Georgia ARPA Overview 
 

 

251

Item XI. 12.



252

Item XI. 12.



Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 1 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

JUDICIAL COUNCIL OF GEORGIA 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT GRANT FUNDING 
 

OVERVIEW AND INSTRUCTIONS 
 

Process Overview 
 

1. Background 

The U.S. Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”) has established a process for the dissemination 

of Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (“ARPA funds”), as provided by the federal 

American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (Public Law No: 117-2; hereinafter “ARPA”).  ARPA 

appropriated $350 billion in emergency funding for eligible state, local, territorial, and Tribal 

governments to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic.  Treasury has created a website, a Final Rule 

(31 CFR Part 35), and supporting guidance detailing how ARPA funds may be used under federal 

laws and regulations. 
 

The State of Georgia has been allocated $4.8 billion in ARPA funds.  Governor Brian P. Kemp 

(“Executive Branch”) has allocated up to $110 million in ARPA funds to address backlogs of court 

cases (prioritizing cases involving serious violent felonies), which will be administered as follows: 

(a) The Judicial Council of Georgia (“Judicial Council”) and its Administrative Office of the 

Courts (“AOC”) will administer up to $96 million in grants to authorized classes of court, 

prosecutors, and related agencies. 

(b) The remaining $14 million in ARPA funds is allocated to the Georgia Public Defender 

Council (GPDC) for grants to public defenders and will be administered by the Governor’s 

Office of Planning and Budget (OPB).  (Accordingly, the term “related agencies” used below 

does not include public defenders). 

It is possible that additional ARPA funds may be allocated by the Executive Branch to the Judicial 

Council in the future for purposes other than addressing backlogs of court cases (prioritizing cases 

involving serious violent felonies).  See section 6. Federally Eligible Uses Not Currently 

Authorized by the Executive Branch or the ARPA Committee below for a list of ARPA 

expenditure categories permitted by federal law but not currently authorized by the Executive 

Branch or the ARPA Committee. 
 

2. Authorized Courts and Judicial System Stakeholders 

The Executive Branch has placed certain limitations on what entities are currently eligible for 

ARPA grant funds and what such funds may be used for.  In accordance with these limitations, 

ARPA grant funds are currently available to all classes of trial court (except municipal courts), 

appellate courts, prosecutors, and related agencies for the limited purpose of addressing backlogs 

of court cases (prioritizing cases involving serious violent felonies).  Municipal courts with 

substantial case backlogs are encouraged to pursue ARPA funds from the city that a municipal 

court serves.  However, please e-mail ARPA@georgiacourts.gov if such pursuit is unsuccessful. 
 

The ARPA funds received by the Judicial Council will be disseminated through the process 

described herein.  Each judicial circuit must apply to the ARPA Committee for ARPA funds on 

behalf of all authorized classes of trial court (excluding municipal courts), prosecutors, and related 

agencies within the circuit.  Appellate courts are also eligible for ARPA grant funds and may apply 

directly to the ARPA Committee.  All proposed expenditures must demonstrate a nexus to 

responding to backlogs of court cases (prioritizing cases involving serious violent felonies, as 

253

Item XI. 12.

https://www.congress.gov/117/bills/hr1319/BILLS-117hr1319enr.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/state-and-local-fiscal-recovery-funds/
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2022-01-27/pdf/2022-00292.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Compliance-and-Reporting-Guidance.pdf
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 2 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

defined in OCGA § 17-10-6.1 (a)).  Administrative expenses to support the response effort and 

manage ARPA grant funds are also permitted.  31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (ii) (E) (3)-(4); see (E) (6) 

ARPA-Eligible Administrative Expenses below for limitations on administrative costs.  On 

December 8, 2022, the ARPA Committee also approved audio-visual equipment modernization in 

existing permanent courtrooms as an ARPA-eligible expenditure, subject to certain conditions and 

restrictions.  See section 15. Audio-Visual Equipment Modernization below for details. 
 

Note: Prosecutors responding to case backlogs may pursue ARPA funds via a judicial circuit’s 

application.  However, please e-mail ARPA@georgiacourts.gov if such pursuit is unsuccessful 

after asking to be included in an application in good faith with supporting data demonstrating an 

eligible need for ARPA funds. 
 

3. Application Review and Approval 

Chief Justice David E. Nahmias established the Judicial Council of Georgia Ad Hoc Committee 

on American Rescue Plan Act Funding (“ARPA Committee”) on October 28, 2021, to review and 

approve applications for ARPA grant funds from all authorized classes of trial court (excluding 

municipal courts), appellate courts, prosecutors, and related agencies for the limited purpose of 

addressing backlogs of court cases, prioritizing cases involving serious violent felonies (the order 

creating the ARPA Committee is available under Quick Links at jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa).  

The Chief Justice may change the composition of the ARPA Committee throughout the 

performance period based on the needs of the Judicial Branch and any changes in funding priorities 

established by the Governor and OPB.  The ARPA Committee is staffed by the Judicial 

Council/Administrative Office of the Courts (AOC).  To reach AOC’s ARPA Grants Team 

(“ARPA Grants Team”), please e-mail ARPA@georgiacourts.gov. 
 

4. Eligible Uses Under the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 

Under federal law, ARPA funds may be used for expenditures in one of the following four statutory 

categories: 

(a) To respond to the COVID-19 public health emergency or its negative economic impacts; 

(b) To respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID-19 public health 

emergency by providing premium pay to such eligible workers of the recipient; 

(c) For the provision of government services, to the extent of the reduction in revenue of such 

recipient due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, relative to revenues collected in the 

most recent full fiscal year of the recipient prior to the emergency; or 

(d) To make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure. 

ARPA § 9901 (a) (codified at 42 USC § 802 (c) (1)).  Insight into Treasury’s interpretation of these 

four statutory categories may be found in 31 CFR Part 35 (“Final Rule”) and Treasury’s 

Compliance and Reporting Guidance.  ARPA funds allocated to the Judicial Council fall under 

statutory category (a) “negative economic impacts” above because Treasury has identified 

“backlogs in court systems” as a negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  87 Fed. 

Reg. 4,341; 4,388 (Jan. 27, 2022) (Eligible use “must ‘respond to’ the identified negative economic 

impact,” “e.g., backlogs in court systems”); Treasury’s Interim Final Rule FAQ 2.19. 
 

5. Eligible Expenditures and Limitations on Federally Eligible Uses 

The Executive Branch and the ARPA Committee have placed certain limitations on: (1) which 

Judicial Branch entities are eligible for ARPA grant funds; and (2) what expenditures ARPA grant 

funds may be used for.  Treasury has deemed steps to reduce court case backlogs, such as 

implementing COVID-19 safety measures to facilitate court operations, hiring additional judges, 

254

Item XI. 12.

mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov
https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa
https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/
https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2022-01-27/pdf/2022-00292.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Compliance-and-Reporting-Guidance.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRPFAQ.pdf


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 3 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

court staff, security staff, or attorneys to increase the speed of case resolution, as well as other 

expenses to expedite case resolution, as eligible uses of ARPA funds.  31 CFR § (b) (3) (ii) (E) 

(4); 87 Fed. Reg. 4,388 (Jan. 27, 2022) (“e.g., backlogs in court systems”); Treasury’s Interim 

Final Rule FAQ 2.19.  However, per Executive Branch limitations and ARPA Committee policies, 

only the following expenditures are eligible for Judicial Branch ARPA Funds: 

(a) Personnel.  Payroll costs for personnel responding to court case backlogs with a primary 

focus on serious violent felonies; backfilling positions requiring less experience to reassign 

more experienced staff to expedite the disposition of serious violent felony cases; or personnel 

administering the ARPA grant.  As used in this expenditure category only, “primary focus 

on serious violent felonies” means more than 50 percent of total personnel costs awarded 

in each calendar year is dedicated to responding to serious violent felonies, as defined in 

OCGA § 17-10-6.1 (a). 

(b) Court-based Eviction, Mental Health, or Substance Use Diversion.  Payroll costs for 

personnel performing court-based eviction, mental health, or substance use diversion services 

only if: (i) such services respond to case backlogs; and (ii) a subrecipient provides a numerical 

estimate to the AOC demonstrating that such services will conserve staff time and resources 

to respond to backlogs of serious violent felony cases, as defined in OCGA § 17-10-6.1 (a). 

(c) Other Program Costs.  Reasonable and necessary costs to support a response to court case 

backlogs with a primary focus on cases involving serious violent felonies or to perform ARPA 

grant administration, as follows: 

(i) The purchase of necessary supplies and materials used by personnel funded by the 

ARPA grant; 

(ii) The purchase or rental of equipment used by personnel funded by the ARPA grant, 

including any reasonable and required license, basic operating software, or service needed 

to use such equipment; 

(iii) Travel costs of personnel and contractors funded by the ARPA grant traveling between 

counties in multi-county judicial circuits that are necessary to address the backlog in court 

cases with a primary focus on cases involving serious violent felonies; 

(iv) Rental of temporary space for personnel funded by the ARPA grant; 

(v) Printing, publication, media, or postage costs; 

(vi) Jury expenditures for the trial of cases that are part of the case backlog caused by the 

COVID-19 pandemic; 

(vii) Jury sequestration costs if necessary for jurors in serious violent felony cases; 

(viii) Continuing legal education and professional dues for prosecutors funded by the 

ARPA grant, as required by the State Bar of Georgia to maintain a law license; 

(ix) Mandatory continuing judicial education for judges funded by the ARPA grant, as 

required by the Institute of Continuing Judicial Education and uniform court rules; 

(x) Contracts for professional services or per diem to respond to court case backlogs, 

including services provided by interpreters, senior judges, state paid county reimbursed 

(SPCR) prosecutors, and court reporters; or to perform grant administration; 

(xi) Mandatory training for victim assistance coordinators and victims’ advocates funded 

by the ARPA grant, as required by law and the Prosecuting Attorneys’ Council; 

(xii) Mandatory training for district attorney investigators funded by the ARPA grant, as 

required by law and the Peace Officer Standards and Training Council; 

(xiii) Audio-visual equipment modernization in existing courtrooms, as provided in the 

Audio-Visual Equipment Modernization Policy; and 

255

Item XI. 12.

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRPFAQ.pdf
https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2022/12/12.8.22-ARPA-AV-Equipment-Modernization-Policy-Final-Approved-Dec-2022.pdf


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 4 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

(xiv) Other program costs necessary to address a court backlog caused or exacerbated by 

the COVID-19 pandemic with a primary focus on cases involving serious violent felonies 

may be approved by OPB at its sole discretion following a written request for approval by 

AOC prior to AOC’s approval of said costs. 
 

 

NOTES ON EXECUTIVE BRANCH LIMITATIONS 
 

New or existing staff may be used to respond to case backlogs, with priority given to serious 

violent felony cases (as defined in OCGA § 17-10-6.1 (a)).  However, only payroll for time spent 

actually responding to case backlogs may be reimbursed with ARPA grant funds.  This includes 

payroll of new personnel hired to backfill existing personnel responding to case backlogs 

(prioritizing cases involving serious violent felonies).  Therefore, time spent responding to case 

backlogs must be tracked and documented for reimbursement and auditing purposes. 
 

The following clarifications have been provided by OPB regarding reimbursement for ARPA 

grant administration payroll expenditures only: 

• Current hourly employees performing ARPA grant administration duties may be paid 

from ARPA funds for time spent (including overtime) if the time is documented with 

timesheets. 

• Current salaried employees performing ARPA grant administration duties may not be 

paid extra from ARPA funds for added duties, but an employer may be reimbursed from 

ARPA funds for time spent by those employees performing ARPA grant administration 

duties if the time is documented with timesheets.  To be clear, current employees 

performing ARPA grant administration duties may not be given a supplement or a raise 

to be paid from ARPA funds. 

• New part-time employees (hourly or salaried) may be paid from ARPA funds for time 

spent working on grant administration duties if the time is documented with timesheets. 

• New full-time employees (hourly or salaried) may be paid from ARPA funds for time 

spent working on grant administration duties if the time is documented on a timesheet, 

labor report, and a Personnel Action or Periodic Certification Form upon hire and a 

chart of accounts for ARPA funding is provided.  See ARPA Fiscal Team for details. 
 

Per 87 Fed. Reg. 4,387 (Jan. 27, 2022), ARPA grant “recipients may use funds for direct and 

indirect administrative costs for administering the [ARPA grant] program and projects funded 

by the [ARPA grant] program.”  ARPA funds may also be used for “[c]osts associated with 

addressing administrative needs of recipient governments that were caused or exacerbated by 

the pandemic.”  31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (ii) (E) (4); 87 Fed. Reg. 4,388 (Jan. 27, 2022) (“e.g., 

backlogs in court systems”). 
 

Judicial Branch ARPA funds are authorized for supplies, furniture (valued at under $5,000), 
and equipment (valued at under $5,000; e.g., monitors, computers, software licenses, phones, 

and printers) that are necessary for personnel to respond to the case backlogs or to perform 

ARPA grant administration.  If valued at under $5,000, such expenses are generally classified 

as eligible non-capital expenditures and must be listed in (E) (6) ARPA-Eligible Administrative 

Expenses and in the Administrative/Indirect Costs section of the ARPA Budget Form.  Grant 

recipients should rent equipment (if possible, practical, and cost-effective) to avoid violating the 

prohibition on purchasing permanent infrastructure.  Special rules apply to audio-visual 

equipment, as explained in section 15. Audio-Visual Equipment Modernization. 
 

256

Item XI. 12.



Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 5 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

6. Federally Eligible Uses Not Currently Authorized by the Executive Branch or the ARPA 

Committee 

Consistent with Executive Branch limitations on the ARPA funds allocated to the Judicial Council 

and ARPA Committee policies, the following are eligible uses of ARPA funds under federal law 

and regulations but not currently authorized uses for Judicial Branch grant awards (but may 

become authorized uses in future grant cycles): 

• Professional dues, continuing education, and training for staff (unless expressly authorized 

above in section 5. Eligible Expenditures and Limitations on Federally Eligible Uses) (ECs 

3.5, 7.1; 31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (ii) (E) (4); 87 Fed. Reg. 4,438 (Jan. 27, 2022) (Uniform 

Guidance (2 CFR 200 Subpart E) applies to ARPA funds); 2 CFR § 200.473 (“The cost of 

training and education provided for employee development is allowable”)). 

• Case management systems and software (EC 7.1; 31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (ii) (E) (4); 87 Fed. 

Reg. 4,389 (Jan. 27, 2022) (“improvements to case management systems . . . are eligible”). 

• ARPA grants to municipal courts (pursue ARPA funds from cities before contacting the ARPA 

Committee), public defenders, or conflict attorneys (see funds allocated to GPDC). 

• COVID-19 testing (EC 1.2; 31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (i) (A)).  Contact the Georgia Emergency 

Management and Homeland Security Agency (GEMA) for COVID-19 testing assistance. 

• The purchase of personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves, masks, and hand sanitizer) (EC 

1.5; 31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (i) (A)).  Contact GEMA for personal protective equipment. 

• Expenditures to prevent COVID-19 in congregate settings (e.g., plexiglass, cleaning supplies 

or services) (EC 1.4; 31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (i) (A)).  Contact GEMA for assistance with 

supplies to prevent COVID-19 in congregate settings. 

• Payroll supplements, stipends, bonuses, “premium pay,” or any other payroll payments to staff 

that do not correspond to actual documented payroll time spent responding to case backlogs or 

performing ARPA grant administration are not authorized.  “Premium pay” is defined in 31 

CFR §§ 35.3, 35.6 (c); (EC 4.1). 

• Long-term infrastructure (i.e., capital) investments in public facilities, such as physical plant 

improvements, permanent adaptations to existing public buildings, or constructing new 

facilities to respond to the pandemic or its negative economic impacts (ECs 3.5, 7.1; 31 CFR 

§ 35.6 (b) (3) (i) (A), (b) (3) (ii), (b) (4); 87 Fed. Reg. 4,389 (Jan. 27, 2022).  Grant recipients 

should rent equipment (if possible, practical, and cost-effective) to avoid violating the 

prohibition on purchasing permanent infrastructure.  See section 15. Audio-Visual 

Equipment Modernization below for an exception for audio-visual equipment modernization 

in existing permanent courtrooms. 

• Adding or upgrading a court’s broadband connection, including modernization of 

cybersecurity for existing or new broadband infrastructure (EC 5.19; 31 CFR § 35.6 (e) (2) (i)-

(ii)). 

• Offsets to a reduction in government revenue due to the pandemic, which may be used to 

maintain existing infrastructure, build new infrastructure, or provide any government service, 

excluding contributions to a rainy-day fund (EC 6.1; 31 CFR § 35.6 (d); 87 Fed. Reg. 4,422-

4,430 (Jan. 27, 2022)). 

• General modernization of cybersecurity not related to broadband upgrades, including 

hardware, software, and protection of critical infrastructure (falls under the category of 

government revenue offsets) (EC 6.1; 31 CFR § 35.6 (d)).  See 31 CFR § 35.6 (e) (2) (ii). 
 

 
 

257

Item XI. 12.

http://www.gapubdef.org/
https://gema.georgia.gov/
https://gema.georgia.gov/
https://gema.georgia.gov/
https://gema.georgia.gov/


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 6 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

7. Application Period 

Applications for ARPA grant funds will be accepted from April 1, 2023, to April 15, 2023.  The 

ARPA Committee will schedule additional application periods throughout the performance period, 

which will be posted at jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa.  E-mail the ARPA Grants Team at 

ARPA@georgiacourts.gov if you want to subscribe to updates from the ARPA Committee and be 

notified of future application periods. 
 

8. Performance Period 

The overall performance period for the ARPA funds provided to the Judicial Council by the 

Executive Branch is January 1, 2022, to December 31, 2024.  This means that the ARPA 

Committee may award and disseminate ARPA funds allocated to the Judicial Council until 

December 31, 2024.  Expenses for activities that occurred prior to a grant award date are not 

eligible for reimbursement.  Any funds allocated to the Judicial Council that are not expended for 

eligible uses by December 31, 2024, will be forfeited to the Executive Branch.  31 CFR § 35.5. 
 

9. Application Procedures 

ARPA grant applications will be accepted from judicial circuits on behalf of all authorized classes 

of trial court (excluding municipal courts), prosecutors, and related agencies during the application 

period stated in section 7. Application Period above.  Appellate courts are also eligible for ARPA 

grant funds and may apply directly during the same application period.  Applications will first be 

reviewed by the ARPA Grants Team for completeness and compliance.  The ARPA Grants Team 

will then forward completed applications to the ARPA Committee for review.  Incomplete 

applications or applications with compliance or other issues will be returned to the applicant by 

the ARPA Grants Team with a list of items that should be addressed prior to it being reviewed by 

the ARPA Committee.  The ARPA Grants Team will automatically reject any application from 

a court or entity that is not a judicial circuit or appellate court.  See section 2. Authorized Courts 

and Judicial System Stakeholders above for details. 
 

Promptly notify the ARPA Grants Team at ARPA@georgiacourts.gov if you need to revise or 

withdraw a submitted (but not approved) application.  If an award recipient needs to amend an 

award mid-calendar year, an amended ARPA Grant Application (available under Quick Links at 

jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa) may be submitted to the ARPA Committee during an authorized 

application period using the regular application process.  Note: Such applicants must check the box 

“Amend CY 2023 Award as described below” under “Type of Application” on the first page of 

the ARPA Grant Application to indicate that the applicant seeks to amend a current award.  See 

section 14. Award Amendments and Administrative Budget Revisions below for important details 

and rules regarding modifications to current awards. 
 

10. Waiting to Apply Not a Negative Factor 

Potential applicants should note that the ARPA Committee recognizes that some judicial system 

entities and stakeholders may choose to wait to apply for ARPA funds until a future application 

period.  The ARPA Committee will distribute ARPA funds over the full course of the performance 

period with the goal of expending all ARPA funds awarded to the Judicial Council by December 

31, 2024 (assuming a sufficient number of awards are approved and reimbursed to exhaust such 

funds).  The ARPA Committee will accept applications for grant funds during multiple application 

periods throughout the performance period and the choice not to apply in a given grant cycle will 

not be counted against any applicant in a subsequent grant cycle. 
 
 

258

Item XI. 12.

https://georgiacourts-my.sharepoint.com/personal/darron_enns_georgiacourts_gov/Documents/Enns%20Files/ARPA/Application%20Docs/Aug%202022%20Docs/jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov
https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 7 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

11. Grant Awards  

ARPA funds allocated to the Judicial Council will be awarded by the ARPA Committee to grant 

recipients after review and approval of an ARPA Grant Application, which is available under 

Quick Links at jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa and explained below.  Notification of awards will be 

communicated to grant recipients by the ARPA Grants Team on behalf of the ARPA Committee 

from the e-mail address: ARPA@georgiacourts.gov.  The ARPA Committee will generally award 

funds for the duration of one calendar year.  Awardees will need to re-apply each calendar year to 

continue ARPA funding. 
 

12. Reporting and Reimbursement 

ARPA grant recipients will be reimbursed upon submission of monthly requests as eligible costs 

are incurred, reported, and approved for payment by the AOC and OPB.  No advances or 

retroactive payments are currently authorized by the Executive Branch.  The AOC (on behalf of 

the ARPA Committee) and ARPA funding recipients are required to report to OPB on the use of 

ARPA funds allocated to the Judicial Council.  Accordingly, recipients must submit expenditure 

reports and supporting documentation to the ARPA Grants Team to initiate reimbursement for 

eligible expenditures.  The AOC will submit the required reports and documentation to OPB on 

behalf of grant recipients.  The ARPA Grants Team will provide ARPA grant recipients with 

instructions, deadlines, and templates to facilitate the reporting of eligible expenditures and initiate 

the reimbursement process. 
 

13. Process for reimbursing senior judges with ARPA funds for time worked responding to 

case backlogs (prioritizing cases involving serious violent felonies) if paid by the Council of 

Superior Court Judges 

The process for reimbursing senior judges with ARPA funds for time worked responding to case 

backlogs, with priority given to cases involving serious violent felonies, if paid by the Council of 

Superior Court Judges is as follows: 

• A chief judge will request one or more senior judges to respond to case backlogs (with priority 

given to cases involving serious violent felonies) via their district court administrator (DCA) 

per the usual process for requesting senior judge assistance.  However, such requests must 

clearly identify proposed ARPA eligible hours (only time spent responding to case backlogs, 

with priority given to cases involving serious violent felonies, is eligible for ARPA funds). 

• Senior judges will submit timesheets to the applicable DCA monthly for approval after 

performing work responding to case backlogs.  Each timesheet must clearly identify ARPA 

eligible hours (only time spent responding to case backlogs, with priority given to cases 

involving serious violent felonies, is eligible for ARPA funds). 

• Each DCA will submit the approved senior judge timesheets to the Department of Audits and 

Accounts (DOAA) and the Council of Superior Court Judges per the usual process, but each 

timesheet must clearly distinguish ARPA eligible hours from State-funded hours. 

• The Council of Superior Court Judges will process each senior judge’s pay (using State and/or 

ARPA funds, as available) based on the hours submitted. 

• Each DCA will submit a monthly request for reimbursement (invoice) to the AOC, which must 

include: (1) timesheets and case assignment forms (with senior judge’s name) indicating 

ARPA eligible hours; and (2) a spreadsheet with the following fields: 
 

259

Item XI. 12.

https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 8 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

Circuit Name 

Grant Award 

Amount for 

Senior Judges 

Year-To-Date 

Expenses 

Current Month 

Reimbursement 

Request 

Remaining 

Balance 

     

     

     

     

 

• The AOC will match each DCA’s invoice to the approved ARPA budget for each circuit. 

• The AOC will request reimbursement from OPB by circuit for senior judge payroll to respond 

to the case backlogs (with priority given to cases involving serious violent felonies). 

• When the AOC receives the reimbursement from OPB, the AOC will reimburse the Council 

of Superior Court Judges, in one lump sum, with ARPA funds for the senior judge payroll 

responding to case backlogs (with priority given to cases involving serious violent felonies). 
 

Please e-mail the ARPA Grants Team at ARPA@georgiacourts.gov if you have questions about 

the reimbursement process. 
 

14. Award Amendments and Administrative Budget Revisions 

On November 2, 2022, the ARPA Committee approved the following revised policy regarding 

award amendments and administrative budget revisions: 
 

Requests to Amend a Current Award 
 

(a) An awardee must submit an ARPA Grant Application (via ARPA@georgiacourts.gov and 

subject to review by the ARPA Committee) to request an amendment to a current award for 

all the following requests: 

(1) Except as provided in (b) (2), moving funds from the “Personnel Services” category to 

the “Administrative/Indirect Cost” category on an approved Budget Form; 

(2) Except as provided in (b) (2), moving funds from the “Administrative/Indirect Cost” 

category to the “Personnel Services” category on an approved Budget Form; 

(3) Any request to add a new budget line item not currently listed on an approved Budget 

Form; 

(4) Any request that would result in a net increase of the Total Overall Budget on an 

approved Budget Form; or 

(5) The second or more Budget Revision Request in a calendar year from the same awardee. 
 

Budget Revision Requests 
 

(b) An awardee may submit a Budget Revision Request in writing to the ARPA Team (via 

ARPA@georgiacourts.gov) for administrative approval by the ARPA Team as follows: 

(1) A Budget Revision Request may be used to request moving up to ten percent of the 

total approved funds within a Budget Category (i.e., within “Personnel Services” or within 

“Administrative/Indirect Cost”) from one or more approved budget line items (e.g., 

260

Item XI. 12.

mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov
mailto:ARPA@georgiacourts.gov


Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 9 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

bailiffs) to one or more other approved budget line items (e.g., district attorneys) within 

the same Budget Category. 

(2) If an approved position maintains the same function, a Budget Revision Request may 

be used to request that a public sector employee position be transitioned into a contractor 

position; or to request that a contractor position be transitioned into a public sector 

employee position. 

(3) A maximum of one Budget Revision Request is permitted each calendar year per 

awardee. 

(4) Budget Revision Requests may be submitted only during the months of July-October. 

(5) Any Budget Revision Request that includes significant changes to an approved Budget 

Form, in the judgment of the ARPA Team, may be referred to the ARPA Committee for 

review. 

(6) The ARPA Team is not required to approve any Budget Revision Request and reserves 

the option to refer any Budget Revision Request to the ARPA Committee for review. 
 

15. Audio-Visual Equipment Modernization 

Treasury has authorized capital expenditures in technology infrastructure to reduce government 

backlogs caused or exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, including backlogs in court systems, 

as an ARPA-eligible expenditure.  31 CFR § 35.6 (b) (3) (ii) (E) (4), (b) (4); 87 Fed. Reg. 4,389 

(Jan. 27, 2022); Treasury Compliance and Reporting Guidance, p. 28 (September 20, 2022). 
 

On December 8, 2022, the ARPA Committee approved audio-visual equipment modernization in 

existing courtrooms as an eligible expenditure, subject to the following rules and procedures: 

(a) Definitions: 

(1) “Audio-visual equipment modernization” means the purchase and installation of fixed 

and movable equipment necessary to address audio-visual controls, video presentation, 

audio, video streaming, and video conferencing, including any of the following: 

(i) Control panels to control an audio-visual system, commonly installed at a judge’s 

bench and/or clerk’s desk; 

(ii) Displays for evidence presentation, control monitoring, and public access in a 

designated viewing area; 

(iii) Speakers mounted on desks, ceilings, walls, or other locations; 

(iv) Fixed and wireless microphones;  

(v) Fixed video cameras; 

(vi) An evidence presentation cart or station with document cameras and technology 

inputs; 

(vii) A court reporter interface to connect to courtroom audio and/or video; 

(viii) Assistive listening and assistive display devices; 

(ix) Related peripheral items, such as hardware mounts, power supplies, and 

networking hardware; 

(x) Design, engineering, and installation; 

(xi) Troubleshooting services for a fixed period after installation; and 

(xii) Other audio-visual equipment modernization costs approved by OPB and the 

Committee. 

(2) “Existing courtroom” means a room that is: 

(i) Fully constructed and in use prior to the date of the award; 

261

Item XI. 12.



Final v.11 

Revised: 1/3/2023 

Page 10 of 18 

JC/ARPA-2 (1/2023) 

(ii) Permanently dedicated to the primary purpose of conducting court proceedings; and 

(iii) Not a room or facility only temporarily used to conduct court proceedings. 

(b) Audio-visual equipment modernization in an existing courtroom is an ARPA-eligible 

expenditure, on the condition that all the following documentation is submitted to the 

Committee for approval: 

(1) An ARPA Grant Application, as provided at https://jcaoc.georgiacourts.gov/arpa/; 

(2) A detailed justification letter stating that audio-visual equipment modernization 

expenditures are a necessary component of a response to court case backlogs caused by the 

pandemic, with a primary focus on cases involving serious violent felonies; 

(3) A detailed summary of the project, including a complete project timeline; 

(4) A detailed proposal from a vendor, including an estimate of the cost of the project and 

all equipment to be installed; and 

(5) A revised Budget Form adding “Audio-visual equipment modernization” and the 

amount requested for such expenditures under the “ARPA-Eligible Administrative 

Expenses” category. 

(c) Requests for proposals from vendors for audio-visual equipment modernization shall be 

subject to local competitive bidding requirements and procedures regarding the purchase of 

equipment, supplies, services, or other items with public funds. 

(d) Per federal regulations and OPB requirements, audio-visual equipment modernization costs 

must be necessary, reasonable, and proportional to the objectively demonstrated need to 

respond to case backlogs caused by the pandemic, with a primary focus on cases involving 

serious violent felonies.  To determine the reasonableness of audio-visual modernization costs, 

consideration must be given to market prices for comparable goods or services for the 

geographic area where the courtroom is located, as provided in 2 CFR § 200.404 (c). 

(e) The following expenditures remain prohibited: 

(1) Permanent adaptations to existing facilities unrelated to audio-visual equipment 

modernization; and 

(2) Construction of a new courtroom or new court facility, including the cost of audio-

visual equipment for a new courtroom or new facility. 

(f) ARPA grant recipients will be reimbursed for audio-visual equipment modernization costs 

as eligible expenditures are incurred and reported with adequate documentation to AOC.  No 

advances or retroactive payments are authorized. 

(g) Applicants may be reimbursed for costs incurred on an audio-visual equipment 

modernization project that is currently in progress if the entire audio-visual equipment 

modernization project is approved by the Committee, as provided in (b), subject to the 

following: 

(1) Reimbursement for an in-progress audio-visual equipment modernization project shall 

be limited to costs incurred on or after the date of award; and 

(2) Audio-visual equipment modernization costs incurred prior to the date of award shall 

not be reimbursed. 

(h) ARPA funds are subject to recoupment if used for impermissible purposes, as provided 

in 31 CFR § 35.10. 

 

(Application Instructions start on the next page) 

  

262

Item XI. 12.

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fjcaoc.georgiacourts.gov%2farpa%2f&c=E,1,kb2YOvqWBnqBKczQ2-8ZhQeCXC4JIIXJYm5sLn2BHa5St17iwKGVJ6SWZZWjIeP-lPc4LVbkGqHZcbnUuj_nPXnMduDftIZHyR17V2ndXvz8FjkB0m6KL_8m&typo=1


Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Resolution to rescind previous ‘rainy day fund’ resolutions 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 3/7/23  

Item Description: Consideration to resolve to rescind previous ‘rainy day fund’ 
resolutions and instead designate such funds via Board-approved 
financial policies 

 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approving the resolution to rescind previous ‘rainy day fund’ 

resolutions and instead designate such funds via Board-approved financial policies. 

 

Executive Summary 

In the 5/3/22 public meeting, staff discussed how the current ‘rainy day fund’ resolutions 

cause $6,000,000 worth of general fund balance to appear on the balance sheet as 

‘committed’ funds, since these reserves were created by a formal Board resolution.  

Even though these funds are at the Board’s disposal, the ‘committed’ designation may 

make other parties believe that these funds are restricted in ways that they actually are 

not.  In order to have these funds be reflected in the ‘unassigned’ section of fund 

balance, which is a more appropriate classification, operating reserves must be 

designated via financial policy rather than formal resolution.   

 

Therefore, staff is requesting this resolution be adopted and if it is adopted, staff will 

also request an amendment to the financial policies that creates a reserve in the 

general fund equal to 25% of its annual expenses per the Board-adopted budget. 

 

 Background: 
1. The rainy day fund resolution was increased to $4,200,000 in 2007. 
2. The rainy day fund resolution was increased to $6,000,000 in 2019. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the proposed resolution. 
2. Do not approve the proposed resolution. 
3. Provide staff with direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

1. Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the proposed resolution. 
 

263

Item XI. 13.



Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: 

No funding required 

 

Attachments: 

Resolution to rescind previous ‘rainy day fund’ resolutions 

 

 

 

264

Item XI. 13.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

 

 

RESOLUTION TO RESCIND PREVIOUS ‘RAINY DAY FUND’ RESOLUTIONS AND 

TO INSTEAD DETERMINE OPERATING RESERVES VIA BOARD-APPROVED 

FINANCIAL POLICIES 

 

 

WHEREAS, On April 3, 2007 the Board approved a resolution increasing the 

‘rainy day fund’ (also called the ‘designated operations fund’, also called 

the ‘economic stabilization fund’, also called ‘operating reserves’) from 

$750,000 to $4,200,000 and 

 

WHEREAS, on February 5, 2019 the Board approved increasing the ‘rainy 

day fund’ from $4,200,000 to $6,000,000 and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 3, 2022 there was public discussion on the possibility of 

building these operating reserves into Board-approved financial policies, 

 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, 

Georgia, that all previous ‘rainy day fund’ resolutions are henceforth 

rescinded, and the financial level of ‘rainy day funds’ or ‘operating 

reserves’ for the general fund will be determined by Board-approved 

financial policies. 

   

Adopted by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners this _____ day 

of March, 2023 

 

                                                                                                                            

____________________________ 

     Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

Attest: 

 

_____________________________ 

Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

265

Item XI. 13.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Addendum No. 15 to the Effingham County Financial Policies, 

‘rainy day fund’ 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 3/7/23  

Item Description: Consideration to approve Addendum No. 15 to the Effingham 
County Financial Policies, regarding ‘rainy day funds’ 

 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approving Addendum No. 15 to the Effingham County Financial 

Policies, creating a ‘rainy day fund’ in the general fund worth 25% of annual budgeted 

operating expenses. 

 

Executive Summary 

In the 5/3/22 public meeting, staff discussed how the current ‘rainy day fund’ resolutions 

cause $6,000,000 worth of general fund balance to appear on the balance sheet as 

‘committed’ funds, since these reserves were created by a formal Board resolution.  

Even though these funds are at the Board’s disposal, the ‘committed’ designation may 

make other parties believe that these funds are restricted in ways that they actually are 

not.  In order to have these funds be reflected in the ‘unassigned’ section of fund 

balance, which is a more appropriate classification, operating reserves must be 

designated via financial policy rather than formal resolution.   

 

Therefore, staff requested a resolution to rescind the ‘rainy day fund’ resolutions, and 

this addendum to the financial policies will create a ‘rainy day fund’ via the financial 

policies.  The ‘rainy day fund’, or operating reserves, must be 25% of the annual 

budgeted operating expenses.  

 

 

 Background: 
1. The rainy day fund resolution was increased to $4,200,000 in 2007. 
2. The rainy day fund resolution was increased to $6,000,000 in 2019. 
3. Based on the FY 2023 adopted budget, with this addendum in place the ‘rainy day 

fund’ must be at least $11,360,576. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the proposed addendum to the financial policies. 
2. Do not approve the proposed addendum to the financial policies. 

266

Item XI. 14.



3. Provide staff with direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

4. Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the proposed addendum to the 
financial policies. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: 

No funding required 

 

Attachments: 

Addendum No. 15 to the Effingham County Financial Policies 

 

 

 

267

Item XI. 14.



Financial Policy Addendum No. 15 

 
f. Fund Balance Reserve Levels:  

1. Fund Balance Reserves: It is the County's policy to maintain a fund balance reserve of 25% of 
annual budgeted expenditures and other uses for the purpose of budgetary stabilization. Fund 
balance that is reserved for stabilization can be used under the following circumstances after 
approval by the Board of County Commissioners:  

a. An unanticipated decline in consolidated and property tax revenues that is sustained 
for at least 6 month or has declined from budget by 5.0 % or greater.  

b. To cover unanticipated expenditures caused by declared emergency or natural 
disaster.  
c. Other purposes as determined and approved by the Board. 

 
2. In the event fund balance reserves are required to be used under the above circumstances, 
the Finance Director shall make a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners that includes 
the following: The reasons for the use of fund balance, the amount required for stabilization, the 
long-term financial plan to stabilize the economic condition that has occurred, and a plan 
explaining the steps that will be taken to replenish fund balance to the minimum target level (in 
no event should the time frame for replenishment exceed three fiscal years). 

 
 

268

Item XI. 14.



 

 

Staff Report 
Subject:    City of Springfield Annexation Agreement - Map# 388 Parcel# 3 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve a request for annexation as submitted by the City 

of Springfield for a property located at 1297 GA Highway 119 North Map# 388 Parcel# 3 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

According to an aerial photography provided by Effingham County GIS data, there are properties 

across the street from the parcel in question, but is not contiguous. 
 

Executive Summary: 

As required under state law O.C.G.A §36-36-6 upon accepting an application for annexation or a 

petition for annexation, the governing authority of the annexing municipality shall provide written 

notice to the governing authority of the county where the proposed annexation is located.  

 

A public hearing of the City of Springfield’s Planning & Zoning Board and the Mayor and City 

Council will take place March 28, 2023 at 6:00 pm to consider this petition.  
 

Background: 

Annexation documentation was received via certified mail from the City of Springfield. This parcel 

identified as Map# 388 Parcel# 3 consisting of 4.90 acres (owned by Stephanie A. Weitman) is 

located at 1297 GA Highway 119 North.  This property lies within the Springfield’s water and sewer 

service area. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Petition Requesting Annexation as presented by the City of Springfield.  
2. Do not approve the Petition Requesting Annexation. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff leaves the decision to the Board’s discretion.   
 

Other Alternatives: N/A Department Review: Administration  
 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Petition for Annexation 
2. Aerial Map (related parcels and depicting city boundary) 

 

269

Item XI. 15.



270

Item XI. 15.



271

Item XI. 15.



272

Item XI. 15.



273

Item XI. 15.



274

Item XI. 15.



275

Item XI. 15.



276

Item XI. 15.



CEDARDR

BRECKENRIDGE DR

HARVEST DR

GARDEN LN

HWY 119
 N

388-3

388A-1A

388A-1A

388A-1

366-20

388A-15

S114-1A

S114-1A

S114-5
S114-4

S114-29S114-30
S114-28

S114-31
S114-35

S114-36 S114-41S114-40 S114-42
S114-56

S114-55 S114-54

388A-3 388A-14
S114-3 S114-34 S114-57

388B-28

S113-11B

S114-32 S114-33 S114-59
S114-58

388B-26
388A-9

S114-2 S114-60

388A-13

388A-8

S114-61S114-1 S114-62

388B-24

S114-65 S114-63

388A-12 S114-64

388B-20388A-10

388B-1

388A-11
388B-21

388A-7

365-30D

388B-19
388B-3

388B-18

388-3A

388B-16
388B-17

388-2

388B-5

388B-14

365-30 388-1

388B-13387-21

0 250 500 750 1,000125
Feet

1 inch = 125 feet

Legend
Road Centerlines

Interstate
Arterial
Collector
Local
Proposed Parcel Annexation
County Parcels
Municipal Boundary

Proposed Parcel Annexation 
388-3

OL
D

DI
XI

E
HW

Y S

OLDTUSCULUM RD HW
Y 1

19
N

Vicinity Map

³

277

Item XI. 15.



   

 

Staff Report 

 
Subject:       Industrial Development Authority Board Appointment 

Author:       Stephanie D. Johnson 

Department:     Administration (Clerk’s office) 

Meeting Date:   March 7, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to appoint /reappoint members to the 

Industrial Development Authority (IDA) Board  

 

Summary Recommendation: It is the policy of the Board of Commissioners to appoint 

qualified individuals to various boards and committees.   

 

Executive Summary/Background: The Effingham County Industrial Development 

Authority Board consists of an eight (8) member board. A member appointed from each 

GMD districts (1559, 9th, 10th, 11th and 12th) and the three (3) municipalities.  Each 

member serves a four (4) year term.  

 

Jake Patrick was appointed by the Board at the February 21, 2023 meeting as requested 

by Commissioner Floyd. The new term of office will expire December 31, 2027. The 

citizens recommended for said seats are as follows: 

 

Jake Patrick (appointed by BOC 02/07/23)  1559 GMD- District 1 

Eric Johnson (reappointment) 10th GMD- District 2 

Matt Saxon (reappointment) 12th GMD - District 3 

Swaid Rahn (reappointment) 11th GMD - District 4 

Slade Helmly (reappointment) 9th GMD - District 5 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider:  

1. To approve the members as presented to the Effingham County Industrial 

Development Authority Board. 

2. To not approve at this time and consider other alternatives. 

Recommended Alternative: Alternative 1 

 

Other Alternatives: N/A 
 

Department Review: County Administration and IDA Director Brad Herndon 
 

Funding Source: N/A 

 

Attachments: None 

 

278

Item XI. 16.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2022 
Item Description: Jake Patrick requests to rezone 7.2 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot 
subdivision. Located on Riverside Drive. Map# 254 Parcel# 6 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 7.2 acres from AR-1 
to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 
Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 
requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The proposed 3-parcel subdivision will separate an existing home site and create 2 sites for the 
development of single family home sites. 

• Because none of the proposed lots will meet the 5-acre minimum required for the AR-1 zoning district, 
the entire 7.2 acres must be rezoned. 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval, with 
conditions: 
1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 7.2 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 1 of 7.2 acres from AR-1 to AR-2.   
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

   

279

Item XV. 1.



280

Item XV. 1.



281

Item XV. 1.



282

Item XV. 1.



283

Item XV. 1.



284

Item XV. 1.



285

Item XV. 1.



286

Item XV. 1.



287

Item XV. 1.



288

Item XV. 1.



289

Item XV. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2022 
Item Description: Jake Patrick requests to rezone 7.2 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot 
subdivision. Located on Riverside Drive. Map# 254 Parcel# 6 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 7.2 acres from AR-1 
to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 
Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 
requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The proposed 3-parcel subdivision will separate an existing home site and create 2 sites for the 
development of single family home sites. 

• Because none of the proposed lots will meet the 5-acre minimum required for the AR-1 zoning district, 
the entire 7.2 acres must be rezoned. 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval, with 
conditions: 
1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 7.2 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 1 of 7.2 acres from AR-1 to AR-2.   
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
   

290

Item XV. 2.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

254-6 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

254-6 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JAKE PATRICK has filed an application to rezone seven and twenty hundredths (7.2) +/- acres; from AR-1 to 

AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision; map and parcel number 254-6, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 8, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on February 1, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT seven and twenty hundredths (7.2) +/- acres; map and parcel number 254-6, located in 

the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

291

Item XV. 2.



Staff Report          
 
Subject:  Conditional Use (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: Justyne Albright requests a conditional use to allow for a GDOT approved borrow 
source or pit. Located at 353 Forest Haven Drive, zoned AR-1. Map# 452A Parcel# 56 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to allow 
for a GDOT approved borrow source or pit, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Section 3.17.3(3) (Excavation, mining, ponds), permits surface mines (including a GDOT approved 

borrow source or pit) as a conditional use in AR-1.  
• Pursuant to section 5.1.2.12, a surface mines (including a GDOT-approved borrow source or pit) up to 

ten (10) acres in size may be permitted in AR-1, on a conditional basis: 
o Shall not adversely affect economic values or physical appearance of the surrounding areas; 

The proposed 6.6 acre borrow source or pit is on a 25.21-acre parcel, set back ~75’from Forest 
Haven Drive.  

o Physical and environmental effects; 
The borrow source or pit is GDOT approved. The site has been reviewed for environmental 
factors, and the final approval will include specific guidelines for development of the borrow 
source or pit. 

o Buffer zones; and Additional space for parking, landscaping, building, loading zones, and setbacks, 
to protect adjacent structures or lots from adverse impact. 

The borrow source site meets all county and state requirements. A proposed 40’ wide haul road 
will allow the dirt to be hauled directly to the Effingham Parkway site, without the need to use 
county-maintained roads. 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval, 
with conditions: 
1. The bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. 
2. Excavation shall cease within three (3) years of GDOT approval. 
3. Business operator (Balfour Beatty) shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate. 
4. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site, and schedule a final inspection 

with Development Services. 
5. Borrow source site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17.4 Construction Requirements 

• The motion was seconded by Mr. Peter Higgins, and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a conditional use for a GDOT approved borrow source or pit, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. 
2. Excavation shall cease within three (3) years of GDOT approval. 
3. Business operator (Balfour Beatty) shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate. 
4. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site, and schedule a final inspection with 

Development Services. 
5. Borrow source site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17.4 Construction Requirements 

 
292

Item XV. 3.



2. Deny the request for a conditional use for a GDOT approved borrow source or pit. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Conditional Use application             3. Aerial photograph 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 
 
 
 
  

293

Item XV. 3.



294

Item XV. 3.



295

Item XV. 3.



296

Item XV. 3.



297

Item XV. 3.



298

Item XV. 3.



299

Item XV. 3.



Staff Report          
 
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: Justyne Albright requests a conditional use to allow for a GDOT approved borrow 
source or pit. Located at 353 Forest Haven Drive, zoned AR-1. Map# 452A Parcel# 56 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to allow 
for a GDOT approved borrow source or pit, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Section 3.17.3(3) (Excavation, mining, ponds), permits surface mines (including a GDOT approved 

borrow source or pit) as a conditional use in AR-1.  
• Pursuant to section 5.1.2.12, a surface mines (including a GDOT-approved borrow source or pit) up to 

ten (10) acres in size may be permitted in AR-1, on a conditional basis: 
o Shall not adversely affect economic values or physical appearance of the surrounding areas; 

The proposed 6.6 acre borrow source or pit is on a 25.21-acre parcel, set back ~75’from Forest 
Haven Drive.  

o Physical and environmental effects; 
The borrow source or pit is GDOT approved. The site has been reviewed for environmental 
factors, and the final approval will include specific guidelines for development of the borrow 
source or pit. 

o Buffer zones; and Additional space for parking, landscaping, building, loading zones, and setbacks, 
to protect adjacent structures or lots from adverse impact. 

The borrow source site meets all county and state requirements. A proposed 40’ wide haul road 
will allow the dirt to be hauled directly to the Effingham Parkway site, without the need to use 
county-maintained roads. 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval, 
with conditions: 
1. The bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. 
2. Excavation shall cease within three (3) years of GDOT approval. 
3. Business operator (Balfour Beatty) shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate. 
4. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site, and schedule a final inspection 

with Development Services. 
5. Borrow source site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17.4 Construction Requirements 

• The motion was seconded by Mr. Peter Higgins, and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a conditional use for a GDOT approved borrow source or pit, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. 
2. Excavation shall cease within three (3) years of GDOT approval. 
3. Business operator (Balfour Beatty) shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate. 
4. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site, and schedule a final inspection with 

Development Services. 
5. Borrow source site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17.4 Construction Requirements 

 
300

Item XV. 4.



2. Deny the request for a conditional use for a GDOT approved borrow source or pit. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 
 
 
  

301

Item XV. 4.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

452A-56 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

452A-56 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JUSTYNE ALBRIGHT has filed an application for a conditional use to allow for a GDOT approved borrow 

source pit; map and parcel number 452A-56, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 8, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on February 1, 2023; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for a GDOT approved borrow source pit; map and parcel 

number 452A-56, located in the 2nd commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. The bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. 

2. Excavation shall cease within three (3) years of GDOT approval. 

3. Business operator (Balfour Beatty) shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate. 

4. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site, and schedule a final inspection with Development Services. 

5. Borrow source site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17.4 Construction Requirements 

 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

302

Item XV. 4.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Conditional Use (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: The Ratchford Firm as Agent for Stefanos Land Holding, LLC requests a 
conditional use to permit a Shipping Container Facility on Old River Road, zoned I-1. Map# 305 Parcels# 
3,4,4A,4B Map# 305A Parcel# 46,47 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to permit 
a Shipping Container Facility on Old River Road, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Pursuant to Section 5.12.1B Heavy Industrial Conditional Uses, a Shipping Container Facility (as 

provided for in Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility) may be permitted in I-1, on a conditional 
basis, with consideration of the following: 

o The effect the proposed activity will have on traffic flow along adjoining streets; Ingress and egress 
to the property;  

-A Traffic Study is required. Driveway access will be on Old River Road. 
o The number, size and types of signs proposed for the site; The amount and location of open space;  

Protective screening, either natural vegetation and/or berms, and fencing, to screen the use from 
public view; Hours and manner of operation; Outdoor lighting;  

-Guidance on signage, buffers, and hours of operation is provided in Section 3.16A. Lighting 
is regulated by section 5.12.4.4. Open space is not required in industrial development. 

o Compatibility with surrounding land use; 
-Parcels nearby/across Old River Road are zoned for commercial and industrial use. 

o The effect of noise, dust, debris or other external impacts of the use on the surrounding uses.  
-Noise impacts are regulated by section 5.12.2.2(n). 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval, with 
conditions: 
1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 
2. Land disturbance and site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water 

Resources Protection Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 
34 - Flood Damage Prevention. 

3. All wetlands impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE and the Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted udring the site development plan review process. 

4. Site development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts and 
Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham 
County Traffic Study Requirements. 

• The motion was seconded by Mr. Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request of a conditional use to permit a Shipping Container Facility, with the following 

conditions: 
1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 
2. Land disturbance and site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water 

Resources Protection Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and 
Chapter 34 - Flood Damage Prevention. 

303

Item XV. 5.



3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

4. Site development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts 
and Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham 
County Traffic Study Requirements.  

 
1. Deny the request of a conditional use for a Shipping Container Facility. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph 3. Deed 

304

Item XV. 5.



305

Item XV. 5.



306

Item XV. 5.



307

Item XV. 5.



308

Item XV. 5.



309

Item XV. 5.



310

Item XV. 5.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: The Ratchford Firm as Agent for Stefanos Land Holding, LLC requests a 
conditional use to permit a Shipping Container Facility on Old River Road, zoned I-1. Map# 305 Parcels# 
3,4,4A,4B Map# 305A Parcel# 46,47 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to permit 
a Shipping Container Facility on Old River Road, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Pursuant to Section 5.12.1B Heavy Industrial Conditional Uses, a Shipping Container Facility (as 

provided for in Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility) may be permitted in I-1, on a conditional 
basis, with consideration of the following: 

o The effect the proposed activity will have on traffic flow along adjoining streets; Ingress and egress 
to the property;  

-A Traffic Study is required. Driveway access will be on Old River Road. 
o The number, size and types of signs proposed for the site; The amount and location of open space;  

Protective screening, either natural vegetation and/or berms, and fencing, to screen the use from 
public view; Hours and manner of operation; Outdoor lighting;  

-Guidance on signage, buffers, and hours of operation is provided in Section 3.16A. Lighting 
is regulated by section 5.12.4.4. Open space is not required in industrial development. 

o Compatibility with surrounding land use; 
-Parcels nearby/across Old River Road are zoned for commercial and industrial use. 

o The effect of noise, dust, debris or other external impacts of the use on the surrounding uses.  
-Noise impacts are regulated by section 5.12.2.2(n). 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval, with 
conditions: 
1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 
2. Land disturbance and site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water 

Resources Protection Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 
34 - Flood Damage Prevention. 

3. All wetlands impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE and the Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

4. Site development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts and 
Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham 
County Traffic Study Requirements. 

• The motion was seconded by Mr. Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request of a conditional use to permit a Shipping Container Facility, with the following 

conditions: 
1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 
2. Land disturbance and site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water 

Resources Protection Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and 
Chapter 34 - Flood Damage Prevention. 

311

Item XV. 6.



3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

4. Site development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts 
and Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham 
County Traffic Study Requirements.  

 
1. Deny the request of a conditional use for a Shipping Container Facility. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment

312

Item XV. 6.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

305-3&4B 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

305-3&4B 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, THE RATCHFORD FIRM AS AGENT FOR STEFANOS LAND HOLDING, LLC has filed an application for 

a conditional use to allow for a container storage facility; map and parcel number 305-3&4B, located in the 1st commissioner district, 

and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 8, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on February 1, 2023; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for a container storage facility; map and parcel number 305-

3&4B, located in the 1st commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 

2. Land disturbance and site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 - Flood Damage Prevention. 

3. All wetlands impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE and the Jurisdictional Determination must be submitted 

during the site development plan review process. 

4. Site development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts and Section 3.16A Shipping 

Container Facility. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County Traffic Study 

Requirements. 

 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

313

Item XV. 6.



___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

314

Item XV. 6.



Staff Report            
Subject:  Sketch Plan (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: The Ratchford Firm as Agent for Stefanos Land Holding, LLC requests approval of 
a sketch plan for a Shipping Container Storage Facility on Old River Road, zoned I-1. Map# 305 Parcels# 
3,4,4A,4B Map# 305A Parcel# 46,47 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for a Shipping Container 
Storage Facility on Old River Road. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan.  

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 
the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 
sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 
features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 
sketch plan.  

• Pursuant to Sec. 3.16A, a shipping container facility is a heavy industrial use. A 300’ undisturbed 
vegetative buffer (or combination of berm and buffer) is required. 

• Old River Road is not a designated truck route. However, the proposed development is close to the I-16 
interchange. A Traffic Study is required for the conditional use, as part of the development review.  

• The site will be served by private well and septic system. A single entrance to Old River Road is planned.  
• These parcels are in flood zone AE. A CLOMR or CLOMA application to FEMA will be required, to 

authorize fill to build the site above the base flood elevation. 
• The parcels must be recombined, in order for the requirement for internal buffers to be eliminated. 
• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval, with 

conditions: 
1. The proposed shipping container facility has met requirements for a conditional use, and has been 

approved by the Board of Commissioners 
2. A recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before site 

development plans are submitted. 
3. A CLOMR or CLOMA application to FEMA will be required, if applicable, to authorize fill to build the 

site above the base flood elevation. 
4. The proposed driveway shall meet the requirements of the Access Management and 

Encroachment Regulations for Effingham County Roads (rev. 2022). 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for a Shipping Container Storage Facility on Old River Road, with the following 
conditions:  
1. The proposed shipping container facility has met requirements for a conditional use, and has been 

approved by the Board of Commissioners. 
2. A recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before site 

development plans are submitted. 
3. A CLOMR or CLOMA application to FEMA will be required, if applicable, to authorize fill to build the site 

above the base flood elevation.  

315

Item XV. 7.



4. The proposed driveway shall meet the requirements of the Access Management and Encroachment 
Regulations for Effingham County Roads (rev. 2022). 

2. Deny the sketch plan for a Shipping Container Storage Facility on Old River Road. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Aerial Photograph 3. Sketch Plan  

 
 

316

Item XV. 7.



317

Item XV. 7.



318

Item XV. 7.



319

Item XV. 7.



320

Item XV. 7.



321

Item XV. 7.



322

Item XV. 7.



323

Item XV. 7.



324

Item XV. 7.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezone (Second District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: Bryant Ligon, BRD Land and Investment, GP as Agent for T and T 9G, LLC requests 
to rezone 288.36 acres from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5, to allow for a 549 unit single family and multi-family 
residential development. Located on Midland Road. Map# 396 Parcels# 62, 62A 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 288.36 acres from 
AR-1 and I-1 to R-3 (multifamily (townhome) residential) and R-5 (single family residential) to allow for 
the development of a single and multi-family residential subdivision, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 
• Applicant has submitted a request to recombine two parcels and subdivide pursuant to R-3 Multifamily 

Residential Districts and Sec. 5.17. R-5 Single Family Traditional Neighborhood Residential districts. 
• 396-62A was rezoned for a surface mine on May 19, 2020. Mining has not commenced. 
• The 549-unit development (140 multifamily units and 409 single family units) may be served by county 

water, sewer, and reuse. Extensions of water sewer, and reuse lines to the development site are the 
responsibility of the applicant. 

• Gross density is 549 units on 288.36ac = ~1.9 units per acre. 
• R-5 gross density is ~2.3 units per acre; net density is ~2.7 units per acre;  
• R-3 gross density is ~6.2 units per acre; net density is ~8.25 units per acre.  
• Open space (R-5: 23.25ac + R-3: 5.26ac) is above the required 15% of net buildable area. 
• Amenities will include activity fields, pool area, and pocket parks throughout the development. There will 

be a minimum 15’ vegetative buffer around the perimeter of the development. 
• Proposed paving width: 28’. The development includes road stub-outs to adjacent parcels on the north 

and east property boundaries. A single entrance to Midland Rd is proposed. 
• At the November 28 pre-application meeting, and in follow up emails, staff provided input on requirements 

for open space, access management, and utilities. We met again on February 6 to discuss utilities and 
access management. 

• Portions of these parcels are in flood zone A. A CLOMR application to FEMA will be required, to authorize 
fill to build the site above the base flood elevation. 

• The scale of the proposed development exceeded the threshold to be considered a Development of 
Regional Impact (DRI).  Project information was submitted for review on the DRI submissions website.  
The Coastal Regional Commission determined that the project warranted regional review (DRI # 3904); 
requested comments from neighboring jurisdictions and relevant organizations and state agencies; and 
is completing a report of findings. 

• The project is not consistent with the regional future land use map, which designates the area as rural. 
According to the regional plan, rural areas are not expected to urbanize or require urban services in the 
next 20 years. 

• The project is not consistent with the county Future Land Use map. The area is designated for Agriculture, 
which includes uses such as farming, livestock, timber harvesting, or recreation. 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for denial. 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Peter Higgins, and carried unanimously. 

 

325

Item XV. 8.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 288.36 acres from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5, with the following conditions:  
1. A subdivision and recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 
2. Future use of the above-referenced property being rezoned shall meet the requirements of the R-3 and 

R-5 zoning districts. 
3. A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 
4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 
5. A CLOMR application to FEMA will be required, to authorize fill to build the site above the base flood 

elevation.  
6. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE 
7. A Traffic Impact Assessment must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant 

to Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements, and the entrance shall meet the requirements of the 
Access Management and Encroachment Regulations for Effingham County Roads (rev. 2022). 

2. Deny the request to rezone 288.36 acres from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 4. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 
3. Plat  

 

  

326

Item XV. 8.



327

Item XV. 8.



328

Item XV. 8.



329

Item XV. 8.



330

Item XV. 8.



331

Item XV. 8.



332

Item XV. 8.



333

Item XV. 8.



334

Item XV. 8.



335

Item XV. 8.



336

Item XV. 8.



337

Item XV. 8.



338

Item XV. 8.



339

Item XV. 8.



340

Item XV. 8.



341

Item XV. 8.



342

Item XV. 8.



Staff Report            
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: Bryant Ligon, BRD Land and Investment, GP as Agent for T and T 9G, LLC requests 
to rezone 288.36 acres from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5, to allow for a 549 unit single family and multi-family 
residential development. Located on Midland Road. Map# 396 Parcels# 62, 62A 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 288.36 acres from 
AR-1 and I-1 to R-3 (multifamily (townhome) residential) and R-5 (single family residential) to allow for 
the development of a single and multi-family residential subdivision, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 
• Applicant has submitted a request to recombine two parcels and subdivide pursuant to R-3 Multifamily 

Residential Districts and Sec. 5.17. R-5 Single Family Traditional Neighborhood Residential districts. 
• 396-62A was rezoned for a surface mine on May 19, 2020. Mining has not commenced. 
• The 549-unit development (140 multifamily units and 409 single family units) may be served by county 

water, sewer, and reuse. Extensions of water sewer, and reuse lines to the development site are the 
responsibility of the applicant. 

• Gross density is 549 units on 288.36ac = ~1.9 units per acre. 
• R-5 gross density is ~2.3 units per acre; net density is ~2.7 units per acre;  
• R-3 gross density is ~6.2 units per acre; net density is ~8.25 units per acre.  
• Open space (R-5: 23.25ac + R-3: 5.26ac) is above the required 15% of net buildable area. 
• Amenities will include activity fields, pool area, and pocket parks throughout the development. There will 

be a minimum 15’ vegetative buffer around the perimeter of the development. 
• Proposed paving width: 28’. The development includes road stub-outs to adjacent parcels on the north 

and east property boundaries. A single entrance to Midland Rd is proposed. 
• At the November 28 pre-application meeting, and in follow up emails, staff provided input on requirements 

for open space, access management, and utilities. We met again on February 6 to discuss utilities and 
access management. 

• Portions of these parcels are in flood zone A. A CLOMR application to FEMA will be required, to authorize 
fill to build the site above the base flood elevation. 

• The scale of the proposed development exceeded the threshold to be considered a Development of 
Regional Impact (DRI).  Project information was submitted for review on the DRI submissions website.  
The Coastal Regional Commission determined that the project warranted regional review (DRI # 3904); 
requested comments from neighboring jurisdictions and relevant organizations and state agencies; and 
is completing a report of findings. 

• The project is not consistent with the regional future land use map, which designates the area as rural. 
According to the regional plan, rural areas are not expected to urbanize or require urban services in the 
next 20 years. 

• The project is not consistent with the county Future Land Use map. The area is designated for Agriculture, 
which includes uses such as farming, livestock, timber harvesting, or recreation. 

• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for denial. 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Peter Higgins, and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
343

Item XV. 9.



1. Approve the request to rezone 288.36 acres from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5, with the following conditions:  
1. A subdivision and recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 
2. Future use of the above-referenced property being rezoned shall meet the requirements of the R-3 and 

R-5 zoning districts. 
3. A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 
4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 
5. A CLOMR application to FEMA will be required, to authorize fill to build the site above the base flood 

elevation.  
6. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE 
7. A Traffic Impact Assessment must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant 

to Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements, and the entrance shall meet the requirements of the 
Access Management and Encroachment Regulations for Effingham County Roads (rev. 2022). 

2. Deny the request to rezone 288.36 acres from AR-1 & I-1 to R-3 & R-5. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

  
 

  

344

Item XV. 9.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

396-62&62A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

396-62&62A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, BRYANT LIGON, BRD LAND AND INVESTMENT, GP has filed an application to rezone two hundred 

eighty-eight and thirty-six hundredths (288.36) +/- acres; from AR-1 & I-1 to R-5 & R-3 to allow for a residential subdivision; map 

and parcel number 396-62&62A, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 8, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on February 1, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT two hundred eighty-eight and thirty-six hundredths (288.36) +/- acres; map and parcel 

number 396-62&62A, located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 & I-1 to R-5 & R-3, with the following 

conditions: 

1. A subdivision and recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the rezoning can take 

effect. 

2. Future use of the above-referenced property being rezoned shall meet the requirements of the R-3 and R-5 zoning districts. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 

4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance and the Stormwater 

Management Local Design Manual. 

5. A CLOMR application to FEMA will be required, to authorize fill to build the site above the base flood elevation.  

6. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE 

7. A Traffic Impact Assessment must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham County 

Traffic Study Requirements, and the entrance shall meet the requirements of the Access Management and Encroachment 

Regulations for Effingham County Roads (rev. 2022). 

 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

345

Item XV. 9.



               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

346

Item XV. 9.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fifth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: David D. Smith as Agent for Claude M. & Elizabeth E. Kicklighter request to rezone 
.343 acres from R-3 to B-3 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel. Map#478 Parcel# 2C01 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a request to rezone .343 acres from R-3 to 
B-3, with conditions.   
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• 59.26 acres of the Old Augusta Road frontage of the parent parcel was rezoned to B-3 on 11/07/2006.  
• 32 acres of the parent parcel was rezoned to R-3 on 02/20/2018. 
• A sketch plan for the development of a Parker’s fueling station and convenience store in a B-3 parcel was 

approved on 12/6/2022.  
• The approved sketch plan shows access to Old Augusta Rd via Moultrie Drive on the .343-acre portion of 

LEO at the Sanctuary property, which is zoned R-3. 
• The applicant intended to access Old Augusta Rd via Moultrie Drive, pursuant to an access easement 

agreement (recorded on 07/17/2019) between Kicklighter and Jasper Village.  
• Rezoning and subsequent combination of the .343 acres with the existing B-3 acreage (Parker’s site) will 

allow unified platting and zoning for the totality of the B-3 development. 
• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval, with 

conditions: 
1.  Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the rezoning 

can take effect. 
2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-3 zoning district. 

 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone .343 acres from R-3 to B-3, with the following conditions:  

1. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 
rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-3 zoning district. 

2. Deny the request to rezone .343 acres from R-3 to B-3. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 4. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 
3. Plat 

347

Item XV. 10.



348

Item XV. 10.



349

Item XV. 10.



350

Item XV. 10.



351

Item XV. 10.



352

Item XV. 10.



353

Item XV. 10.



354

Item XV. 10.



355

Item XV. 10.



356

Item XV. 10.



357

Item XV. 10.



358

Item XV. 10.



359

Item XV. 10.



360

Item XV. 10.



361

Item XV. 10.



362

Item XV. 10.



363

Item XV. 10.



364

Item XV. 10.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: March 07, 2023 
Item Description: David D. Smith as Agent for Claude M. & Elizabeth E. Kicklighter request to rezone 
.343 acres from R-3 to B-3 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel. Map#478 Parcel# 2C01 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a request to rezone .343 acres from R-3 to 
B-3, with conditions.   
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• 59.26 acres of the Old Augusta Road frontage of the parent parcel was rezoned to B-3 on 11/07/2006.  
• 32 acres of the parent parcel was rezoned to R-3 on 02/20/2018. 
• A sketch plan for the development of a Parker’s fueling station and convenience store in a B-3 parcel was 

approved on 12/6/2022.  
• The approved sketch plan shows access to Old Augusta Rd via Moultrie Drive on the .343-acre portion of 

LEO at the Sanctuary property, which is zoned R-3. 
• The applicant intended to access Old Augusta Rd via Moultrie Drive, pursuant to an access easement 

agreement (recorded on 07/17/2019) between Kicklighter and Jasper Village.  
• Rezoning and subsequent combination of the .343 acres with the existing B-3 acreage (Parker’s site) will 

allow unified platting and zoning for the totality of the B-3 development. 
• At the February 22, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval, with 

conditions: 
1.  Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the rezoning 

can take effect. 
2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-3 zoning district. 
• The motion was seconded by Mr. Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone .343 acres from R-3 to B-3, with the following conditions:  

1. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 
rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-3 zoning district. 

2. Deny the request to rezone .343 acres from R-3 to B-3. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

 

365

Item XV. 11.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

478-C01 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

478-C01 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, DAVID D. SMITH AS AGENT FOR KICKLIGHTER, CLAUDE M & ELIZABETH E AS CO TRUSTEES 

has  filed an application to rezone three hundred and forty-three thousandths (.343) +/- acres; from R-3 to B-3 to allow for a 

combination with an adjacent parcel; map and parcel number 478-C01, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 8, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on February 1, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT three hundred and forty-three thousandths (.343) +/- acres; map and parcel number 478-

2C01, located in the 5th commissioner district is rezoned from R-3 to B-3, with the following conditions: 

1. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-3 zoning district. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

366

Item XV. 11.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	ASPCA
	1. Staff Report NEW - 2021 - ASPCA
	2.  ASPCA Mutual Aid 4-4-2017

	Item IX. 2.	IDC Renewals
	1. Staff Report IDC eng Arch fy 22 rev 03292021
	2. IDC Breakdown by Category
	3. Amendment Alliance
	3. Amendment Atlas
	3. Amendment CHA Consulting
	3. Amendment Cogdell Mendrala
	3. Amendment Greenline
	3. Amendment Hussey Gay Bell
	3. Amendment Kimley Horn
	3. Amendment Pittman
	3. Amendment POND
	3. Amendment Roberts Civil
	3. Amendment T&H

	Item IX. 3.	grant acceptance - homeland security/ GEMA - courthouse security grant
	staff report - AWARD Acceptance - HSGP-SHSP Grant
	Exhibit-C_Certifications-Lobbying--Debarment--Suspension-60093-35069
	Exhibit-B_NIMS-Compliance-60092-15333
	HSGP award letter
	1 Exhibit-A-Construction-SF-424d-60091-22427
	Exhibit-A-Non-Construction-SF-424b-60090-28756
	unsigned award agreement HSGP grant 27k jan 2023

	Item IX. 4.	EMPG grant application - same grant and dollar match as every year
	EMPG Staff Report 2023
	drone quote
	GA HCC Plum Case_

	Item IX. 5.	EMS ambulance remount
	1. Staff Report Ambulance Remount
	2. 20230224134322261

	Item IX. 6.	FC Fiscal Agent Agreement
	family connection_sr
	FY24_Fiscal_Agent_Designation_and_Acceptance_Agreement_Sample

	Item X. 1.	Network Connectivity to Clyo Fire Station and Community Center
	2023 staff report - Network Connectivity to Clyo
	Planters Contract (SITE 28)
	Effingham Fiber Route to Clyo (Map)
	Effingham Fiber Route to Clyo (Totals)
	Additional Effingham Fiber Routes (Totals)
	Additional Effingham Fiber Routes (Map)

	Item XI. 1.	Effingham Branch NAACP - Assemblage
	Assemblage Presentment 03072023
	Assemblage

	Item XI. 2.	Bible Marathon Assemblage Permit
	Bible Marathon Assemblage Presentment 03072023
	BM Permit
	BM schedule

	Item XI. 3.	Approval of Turnout Gear Purchase
	Turnout Gear Staff Report (03.07.2023) CH
	Turnout Gear Quote 03.2023

	Item XI. 4.	Increase to Firefighter Pay
	Firefigher Pay Increase 2022-2023

	Item XI. 5.	Approval of New Job Description: Associate Judge- Probate Court
	New Job Description_Probate Court 2022-2023
	Chief Clerk - Assoc Judge Job description
	Assoc Judge Law

	Item XI. 6.	Spatial Engineering Proposal Utility Extraction - Phase 2  PID  22012-OCS-01
	Staff Report  - Spatial Engineering Proposal Utility Extraction - Phase 2  PID  22012-OCS-01
	20230124_22012_OCS01_ExtractPhase2

	Item XI. 7.	Spatial Engineering Proposal Migrate Esri Enterprise from SQL 2008 to SQL 2016 PID  22012-OCS-02
	Staff Report  - Spatial Engineering Proposal Migrate Esri Enterprise from SQL 2008 to SQL 2016 PID  22012-OCS-02
	20230210_22012_OCS02_Effingham_Data_Migration_signed

	Item XI. 8.	Final Plat Approval for Lonadine (Webb Tract) ph 1.
	Staff Report Lonadine (Webb Tract) ph 1 final plat approval
	1. Lonadine ph 1 Final Plat Submittal Form and checklist
	2. 20-642 Londine Phase 1A SD PLAT_signed_2.6.23
	3. 20-642 Lonadine Phase 1A Warranty Deed_2.14.23
	5. 20-642 Lonadine Phase 1A Infrastructure Agreement_signed 2.22.23
	4. Lonadine ph 1A_Maint Bond_47SUR3002140533

	Item XI. 9.	E&D Contracting
	1. Staff Report Template
	4. Change Order Template
	Change Order Request Revision

	Item XI. 10.	POND CO
	1. Staff Report Stormwater MP CO3
	Effingham Co SW MP Change Order No. 4 Additional Infrastructure Data Collection amd Conditions Assessment

	Item XI. 11.	Vote on how to treat refund from Public Defender Office
	staff report - public defender funds
	email on FY 2021 and FY 2022 public defender funds

	Item XI. 12.	Accept ARPA grant funds from Ogeechee Judicial Circuit, related to jury costs from covid case backlog
	staff report ogeechee arpa grant acceptance
	grant award check
	ogeechee ARPA court overview

	Item XI. 13.	resolution to rescind previous rainy day fund resolutions
	staff report - rescind rainy day fund resolution
	resolution to remove rainy day fund

	Item XI. 14.	assumning previous resolution approved - financial policies addendum no. 15 - putting the rainy day fund 25% reserve into policies
	staff report - amend financial policies rainy day fund
	financial policies addendum no. 15

	Item XI. 15.	City of Springfield Annexation Request
	COS Annexation sr_
	20230222123357480
	Parcel 388-3 Vicinity Map

	Item XI. 16.	IDA Board Members
	IDA Board_ sr

	Item XV. 1.	1a. Patrick RZ
	1a
	254-6_Patrick_RZ

	Item XV. 2.	1b. 2nd Reading Patrick
	1b
	254-6_Patrick_RZ

	Item XV. 3.	2a. Albright CU
	2a
	452A-56_Albright_CU

	Item XV. 4.	2b. 2nd Reading Albright
	2b
	452A-56_Albright_CU

	Item XV. 5.	3a. Ratchford CU
	3a
	452A-56_Albright_CU

	Item XV. 6.	3b. 2nd Reading Ratchford CU
	3b
	305-3&4B_Ratchford Firm_CU

	Item XV. 7.	4a. Ratchford SP
	4a
	305-3,4,4A,4B 305A-46,47_Ratchford_SP

	Item XV. 8.	5a. Ligon RZ
	5a
	396-62&62A_Ligon_RZ

	Item XV. 9.	5b. 2nd Reading Ligon
	5b
	Ligon_396-62&62A_RZ

	Item XV. 10.	6a. Smith RZ
	6a.
	478-2C01_Smith_RZ

	Item XV. 11.	6b. 2nd Reading Smith
	6b
	478-2C01_Smith_RZ

	Bottom

